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Financial Highlights and Five Years Financial Summary
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Results
(expressed in RMB’000)

Revenue

Gross profit

Profit/(Loss) attributable to owners
of the Company

Basic earnings/(loss) per
share (in RMB)

Earnings before interest, taxation,
depreciation and amortisation
("EBITDA")

Financial Positions
(expressed in RMB’000)

Total assets

Total liabilities

Net assets per share (in RMB)

Financial Ratios

Current ratio

Quick ratio

Gearing ratio

Average capital employed

RAEHEE ANEIEEF (B8)
~FRNAQAE B BTG NKE
FHY - (BREAREF, (&
18) THIR AR R hniEFH AR5
HEFE MREBEE=_ZF—H
F_F—RF - T—+F.
—E-NEFEERZE-—NF+=
B=+t—HBHLERBEFEZAR
ANRMNEFEEIRNDEE 55 A
846,878,000%  847,574,7214% *
850,499,995 fi% + 851,954,000 A%
% 851,954,000 % © )

FERBEE+RBEE
FERBEE+REBE

1EkES ~ FIRAQR BTN
gH - (W=_Z—HF _T—R~
F T+ F T N\ER
T NEFE+=ZA=+—H"
FRFEEDDRIBREARRRL
%17 1% 15 21 B 846,878,000 %
848,698,0004% * 851,954,0004%
851,954,000/% } 851,954,000 %
FTHE ©

MBEE - RBBE
(RBEE-17E) - n@afE
FAE (RRTHESER R
B IRIRITIF SR8 2 B AR 5E)
MR
RETAIE ~ FRIE -« T8 KA
BF (BED - FERDESRH
&)

(BR9IE RO 3R K + Hi R & A Bl 7R
%),/2

a RECTERERDE “E2-NEFER

fi ~F-5F
Notes 2015
1,123,408
316,889
172,371
1 0.204
318,752
2 1,382,766
3 204,766
4 1.391
5 3.7
6 3.2
7 TEANA
8 26.8%
Notes:
1 Basic earnings/
(loss) per share
2 Total assets

3 Total liabilities

4 Net assets
per share
5 Current ratio

6 Quick ratio

7 Gearing ratio

8 Return on capital
employed
("ROCE")

Average capital
employed

—T—xF T—tF ZT-)\& ZE-NF
2016 2017 2018 2019
1,265,389 1,407,329 1,179,300 1,381,138
396,301 282,645 65,154 185,387
219,603 101,562 (61,058) 21,507
0.259 0.120 (0.072) 0.025
407,695 250,895 34,125 146,233
1,620,560 1,925,006 1,691,333 1,909,369
302,933 556,481 398,933 605,533
1.553 1.606 1.517 1.530

3.0 1.5 1.6 1.1

25 1.2 12 0.9
TEANA  TERANA 3.2% 5.1%
29.0% 24.6% 10.5% 6.9%

Profit/(Loss) attributable to owners of the Company +
Weighted average of issued shares of the Company
for the year. (The calculation of basic earnings/
(loss) per share is based on the weighted average
number of 846,878,000, 847,574,721, 850,499,995,
851,954,000 and 851,954,000 shares of the Company
for the five years ended 31 December 2015, 2016,
2017, 2018 and 2019 respectively.)

Non-current assets + Current assets
Non-current liabilities + Current liabilities

Total equity = Number of issued shares of the Company
at the year end. (As at 31 December 2015, 2016,
2017, 2018 and 2019, the calculation of net assets per
share is based on the number of issued shares of the
Company of 846,878,000, 848,698,000, 851,954,000,
851,954,000 and 851,954,000 respectively.)

Current assets + Current liabilities
(Current assets - Inventories) = Current liabilities

Net debts (Total borrowings net of bank and cash
balances and pledged bank deposits) + Total equity

EBITDA / (Total equity — non-current debt financing)

(Opening ROCE + Closing ROCE) / 2
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REVENUE (RMB000)

BN AEEFT)
GROSS PROFIT (RMB'000)

299,495 1,081,643

307,552 871,748

348,355 1,058,974
226,705 1,038,684

2016

195,215 928,193
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Overseas The PRC
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RESULTS FOR THE YEAR

2019 was a challenging year for the Group. The Group needed to tackle
PRC’s increasingly stringent environmental protection regulations. Apart
from it, the Group was also facing intensified market competition and the
escalating tension in the Sino-US trade dispute causing a serious ripple
effect to slow down the economy of PRC. These combined negative
factors brought obstacles to the operations and business development
of the Group. To cope with turbulent business environment, the Group
rapidly adjusted its external and internal business strategies. Externally,
the Group implemented proactive sales and marketing strategies in
conjunction with effective procurement strategies, resulting in regaining
market share, increased revenue and improved gross profit. Internally,
in order to reinforce its business competitiveness, the Group introduced
various effective improvement measures resulting in operation efficiencies
being enhanced and better costs management. As the Group’s hard
work exerted throughout the year finally paid off, and the business
development of the Group was back to the right track as evidenced by
achieving success in turnaround to net profit for the year.
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Dear shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”)
of directors (the “Directors”) of
Tiande Chemical Holdings Limited
(the “Company” and together with
its subsidiaries, collectively the
“Group”), | am pleased to present the
annual report for the year ended 31
December 2019.

BBttt =%
Mr. Liu Yang Chairman

ROEEE  EFerFHETIH#5EEZ/{C TR During the year under review, the Board decided to dispose of the entire
RARAT ([IEEE]) (RATAREZELEMN  equity interest in Jiangsu Chunxiao Pharmaceutical & Chemical Co.,
BT 2EE ([HEFE]) PEFENE  Ltd (IHFEFERE( TR AR QA ("Jiangsu Chunxiao”), a former
EMBELECAEBNEEMLAMEEDSE - I indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (the “Disposal”). The
AEAREBHE EPNEFHEERELRSH  Disposal could not only facilitate the rationalisation and optimisation of
¥ L BENL - HEZHEFAKRAGTIREMKE  the asset portfolio and asset quality of the Group but also enable the
(M3 ]) VBB FIE - Group to conserve, concentrate and reallocate its resources to promising
businesses. In view of the foregoing reasons, the Disposal is in the
interests of the Company and our shareholders (the “Shareholders”) as a
whole.

Annual Report 2019 ( )—@
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RESULTS FOR THE YEAR (Continued)

Apart from the improvement on financial results, the Group also laid
a solid foundation for its future business development by reoriented
business development strategies and adoption of effective improvement
measures. The Group refined its business development path to integrate
product layout and focus on research and development of new products
with good market potential by leveraging on its business advantages.
These moves help to solidify the platform for sustainable business
development. In addition, the relocation of the production facilities of
Weifang Parasia Chem Co., Ltd. (“Weifang Parasia”), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, to the production plant of Weifang Binhai
Petro-Chem Co., Ltd. (“Weifang Binhai”), another wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, (the “Relocation”), is still in the progress. It
is anticipated that after the completion of the Relocation, the Group's
circular economy production system will be more deepened, efficiency
of production resource allocation will be further enhanced as well as
operating costs will be lower in the long run. Coupled with various
improvement measures methodically implemented by the Group,
operational efficiencies will then be improved continuously. All of these
business improvements are in favor to strengthen the overall competitive
advantages of the Group, and would provide fresh impetus to its future
growth.

PROSPECTS

At the beginning of 2020, the outbreak of Coronavirus Disease 2019 (the
"Epidemic”) is raging globally. The Group is being inevitably affected to
certain extent as a result of the Epidemic. The extent of impact depends
on the duration of the Epidemic. Presently, the Group has made effort
to actively strengthen the measures on prevention of Epidemic while
enforcing its sales and marketing resilience. When the Epidemic becomes
controllable and market conditions are reverted to normal, the Group
would resume business activities comprehensively and expeditiously,
thereby minimising the impact of the Epidemic as much as possible.

During the year, the accomplishment of various business improvement
measures has laid a solid foundation for sustainable and stable business
development for the future. The Board and | have great confidence in
the long-term business prospect of the Group. As always, the Group will
endeavor to create greater Shareholders’ value and sustain steady growth
by leveraging its business competitive advantages and proactively yet
prudently developing new markets with lucrative potential.
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Chairman’s Statement

APPRECIATION

| would like to take this opportunity to express my gratitude to our
entire staff for their industrious and relentless hard work and my fellow
directors and management team for their commitment and dedication
during the past year. | also sincerely thank our shareholders and partners
for their continuous support. The management and | will spare no effort
in steering the Group in the right direction to achieve future long term
growth.

On behalf of the Board
Liu Yang
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 March 2020
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

LIU Yang, aged 36, is the chairman of the Board (the “Chairman”). He
is a son of Mr. Liu Hongliang (a non-executive Director, a co-founder
of the Group and a deemed ultimate beneficial owner of a controlling
Shareholder). Mr. Liu is responsible for the overall strategic development,
business planning and policy setting of the Group. He graduated from
China University of Petroleum with a degree of Bachelor of Electronic
and Information Engineering and Simon Fraser University with a degree
of Bachelor of Finance in 2006 and 2010 respectively. Prior to joining the
Group, Mr. Liu worked as a channel manager of SFFiF5 & EEIE AR
/x A) (Xingzheng Securities Asset Management Co., Ltd.) for the period
from November 2011 to March 2014. He joined the Group in April 2014.

WANG Zijiang, aged 55, is an executive Director and one of the
co-founders of the Group. He graduated from Nanjing Chemical College
(now known as Nanjing University of Technology) in 1988, majoring in
chemical engineering. He worked for three years since 1991 in Weifang
New Technology Research Centre. After that, Mr. Wang co-founded
Weifang Tianhong Equity Investment Company Limited (“Weifang
Tianhong”) in 1996. Mr. Wang has over 20 years of experience in the
chemical industry.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

LIU Hongliang, aged 64, is one of the co-founders of the Group. He is
the father of Mr. Liu Yang. Mr. Liu graduated from East China Petroleum
Institute (223 38 2Pt ) (now known as China University of Petroleum)
in 1982, majoring in basic organic chemistry. He spent more than ten
years from 1982 to 1993 in Weifang New Technology Research Centre.
After that, Mr. Liu established Weifang Tianhong with others in 1996.
Mr. Liu was the Chairman from 2006 to 2015 and an executive Director
from 2006 to 2016. Mr. Liu has been appointed as non-executive Director
since 1 August 2018. He has over 30 years of experience in the chemical
industry.

GUO Yucheng, aged 63, graduated from East China Petroleum Institute
(FERAAERT) (now known as China University of Petroleum) in 1982,
majoring in basic organic chemistry. Prior to joining the Group in 2000,
Mr. Guo had been working for Weifang Organic Chemicals Factory (4
3 A # 1 T %) since 1982. He was accredited as a senior engineer by
The Jury of Senior Title of Chemical Technical Post, Shandong Province
in 1994. Mr. Guo joined the Group in December 2000. Mr. Guo was an
executive Director from 2006 to 2015. Mr. Guo has been appointed as
non-executive Director since 1 August 2018. He has over 30 years of
experience in the chemical industry.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

GAO Baoyu, aged 58, has been appointed as an independent non-
executive Director since 4 October 2006. He is the professor of
environmental engineering and the tutor of the postgraduate students
studying for doctorate degrees of Shandong University since September
1999 and November 2001 respectively. He was also the dean of the
school of environmental science and engineering of Shandong University
from January 2001 to November 2012. Mr. Gao was awarded by
Shandong Provincial People’s Government as one of the Middle-aged and
Young Expert with Outstanding Contributions in Shandong Province in
2007. He graduated from Tsinghua University in 1999 with a doctorate
degree in engineering majoring in environment engineering.

LEUNG Kam Wan, aged 54, has been appointed as an independent
non-executive Director since 1 March 2007. Mr. Leung graduated from
Hong Kong Baptist University and Hong Kong Polytechnic University
with a degree of Bachelor of Business Administration in Finance and a
master degree in corporate governance in 1992 and 2007 respectively.
Mr. Leung is an associate member of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants, a fellow of The Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants, an associate of The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators and an associate of The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered
Secretaries. Mr. Leung has been a practicing certified public accountant
for over 10 years. He has extensive experience in financing, accounting
and auditing. Mr. Leung currently is the managing director of Leung Kam
Wan CPA Limited and a director of CCTH CPA Limited.

LIU Chenguang, aged 58, has been appointed as an independent non-
executive Director since 4 October 2006. Mr. Liu obtained from East
China Petroleum Institute (now known as China University of Petroleum)
a bachelor’s degree in science majoring in petroleum refining in 1982
and a master’s degree in applied chemistry in 1985. He also obtained his
doctorate degree in applied chemistry from China University of Petroleum
(Beijing) in 1991. Mr. Liu has been appointed as an associate professor of
China University of Petroleum in 1992, was then promoted as a professor
in 1994 and subsequently took on the post as the tutor of postgraduate
students studying for doctorate degrees in 1998 and has ever since
become the professor and tutor at China University of Petroleum. Mr. Liu
was the dean of the college of chemical engineering of China University
of Petroleum from May 2004 to April 2013. Currently, he is a professor
of the college of chemical engineering of China University of Petroleum.
Mr. Liu is a member of China Petroleum Society, China Chemistry Society,
China Chemical Society, American Chemistry Society and director of
Shandong Chemistry and Chemical Society.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

CHEN Xiaohua, aged 42, is a general manager of the Company since 1
August 2018 and a director of Weifang Dekel Innovative Materials Co.,
Ltd., a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, from January 2018 to
January 2020. Mr.Chen graduated from Weifang Changwei Teachers
College (#37 & #ERN B FERHE24L ) majoring in chemical in July 1999. He
joined the Group in March 2000. He has over 15 years of experience in

the chemical industry.
Annual Report 2019 Tiande Chemical Holdings Limited a
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BUSINESS REVIEW

During the year under review, the adverse external business conditions
from previous year remained unabated. As a result of the PRC
government persistently imposing more stringent standards of safety
and environmental protection policies, higher operating and compliance
costs of the overall chemical enterprises continuously and ended up
in accelerating pace of industry consolidation and intensified market
competitive landscape. Thus, the weighted average selling price of the
products of the Group continued to fall during the year. In addition,
escalating tension in the Sino-US trade dispute exerted downward
pressure to the entire PRC manufacturing sector while the overseas
turnover of the Group had been affected adversely and inevitably.

To deal with such challenging business environment, the Group acted
swiftly to adjust its business strategies and adopted various effective
improvement measures, which mainly included: (i) implementing proactive
sales and marketing strategies to employ market-oriented approach to
map out product development direction of the Group and make extra
effort to explore new markets to expand customer base so as to regain
market share. This measure paid off in the end and the revenue of the
Group bucked the trend by increased sales volume as compared with
last year; (ii) introducing effective procurement strategies to source raw
materials cost-effectively while the market prices of raw materials have
also retreated generally. These two factors combined together causing the
cost of raw materials decreased remarkably as compared with last year;
and (i) adopting various effective cost control measures on production
overhead and repositioning of jobs to streamline workflow at production
plant, resulting in enhanced production efficiencies. All these measures
contributed to significant improvement in the gross profit and gross
profit margin of the Group as compared with last year. Besides, the
Group executed various effective cost control measures on operations
comprehensively that contained operating expenses and boosted
operational efficiencies. The aforementioned combine efforts finally paid-
off, the Group was capable to turnaround its business performance and
achieved net profit for the year.

The Board decided to cease the production activities of Jiangsu Chunxiao
in April 2019 due to the environmental pollution issues in the area where
its production plant was located. For further details, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 18 April 2019. Consequently, a
related one-off impairment loss on the property, plant and equipment
was incurred during the year under review. With an aim to conserve,
concentrate and reallocate resources on the core businesses of the Group
and promote promising businesses, the Board subsequently decided
to dispose of the entire equity interest in Jiangsu Chunxiao on 28 June
2019, which was considered to be in the interests of the Company and
Shareholders as a whole.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

The two new product production lines developed by the Group in 2017
finally obtained manufacturing and sales approvals from the relevant
local authorities during the year under review, which have launched
to the market successfully. The Group believes that these products will
progressively penetrate the target markets and eventually drive up revenue,
enhance economies of scale and broaden business scales of the Group in
future. In addition, the Group refined its business development plans and
integrated products portfolio in line with its existing business competitive
edges. Accordingly, the Group has actively deployed its efforts and
resources in research and development during the year aiming to expand
production capacities on products with good market potential and launch
new products swiftly so as to add new revenue stream as well as solidify
business development platform to secure the sustainable growth of the
Group in the future.

During the year under review, the Relocation has been commenced
orderly by phases, the management of the Group will closely monitor the
progress of the Relocation to make sure no undue delay. The Relocation
will continue to be carried out orderly without materially and negatively
impact on the productions and operations of the Group as a whole. After
the completion of the Relocation, the production facilities of Weifang
Parasia will be situated and operated in the production plant of Weifang
Binhai. The Board believes the production efficiency will be enhanced,
the production resource allocation will be more effective, the circular
economy production system will be further intensified as well as the
overall operating costs of the Group will be decreased thereafter.

During the year, the Disposal, the Relocation and refined business
development plans of the Group triggered a change of business structure
and internal resource allocation. After the reassessment of the business
activities of the Group, the Board decided that the Group operates as a
single operating segment because the economic characteristics of all the
Group’s products are similar and the assessment by product segments is
no longer appropriate and sensible. Thereafter, there will be no further
disclosure of segment information.

The PRC and the United States of America finally executed the phase
one trade deal agreement in the beginning of 2020, which alleviated the
downward pressure on the manufacturing industry of the PRC. Moreover,
after implementing the refined business development plans, (i) the past
uncertainties on the operations are being eliminated; (ii) the market share
of products with good development potential expanded gradually; (iii) the
streamlined operations and well-controlled operating expenses caused
operation efficiencies enhancement; and (iv) research and development
activities are in line with adjusted product portfolio and good potential
markets. All these improvements could enhance intrinsic value of the
Group as well as solidify the foundation for business development. The
Board is therefore highly confident of the Group’s long term growth and
achievement of sustainable business development.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)
Outlook (Continued)

However, the Epidemic has impacted the global economy as a whole
negatively. The Group is also inevitably being affected adversely and the
extent of impact depends on the duration of the Epidemic. In view of the
uncertainties surrounding the duration of Epidemic and its impact on the
business environment, the Group is strengthening its business resilience
and the prevention measures on the Epidemic to ensure a stable business
operation. The Group is well-prepared to resume its business activities
in full scale expeditiously once the Epidemic is being contained, thereby
minimising the impact of the Epidemic on the Group as much as possible.

Moving forward, the Group will sustain its solid business foundation and
endeavor to create Shareholders’ value by following its effective business
development strategies, proactively yet prudently exploring new potential
markets and incubating new business opportunities.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

The revenue of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019
increased by 17.1% to approximately RMB1,381.1 million, as compared
with approximately RMB1,179.3 million in 2018. The Group adopted
proactive sales and marketing strategies to recapture market shares
and realise impressive sales volume growth which driven the growth
of revenue despite the overall selling price was eased down by the
intensified market competition and adverse market conditions during the
year under review.

Gross profit

The gross profit of the Group increased almost double to approximately
RMB185.4 million, representing an increase of approximately RMB120.2
million or 184.4% as compared with approximately RMB65.2 million
in 2018. The increase of gross profit was mainly due to (i) the Group
adopted effective procurement strategies to source raw materials more
cost effectively; (ii) the costs of raw materials dropped as compared with
last year; and (iii) the production overheads were well-controlled by
making efforts in fulfilling expenditure rationalisation policies. The gross
profit margin also increased to 13.4% when compared with 5.5% in
2018.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)
Operating income and expenses

The other income was mainly comprised of (i) exchange gains; (ii) various
grants from the relevant local authorities as incentives to encourage the
Group’s business development; (iii) release of deferred income; and (iv)
bank interest income etc. during the year under review.

The selling expenses slightly decreased by approximately RMB1.8 million
to approximately RMB50.8 million (2018: RMB52.6 million) during
the year under review. Such decrease was mainly attributable to the
decrease of sales commission after adopting effective sales and marketing
strategies. Besides, the transportation cost also recorded slightly decrease
which mainly owed to the implementation of effective cost control
measures on logistic and supply chain arrangement despite of the
rebound of turnover. The selling expenses to the Group’s revenue was
3.7% (2018: 4.5%).

During the year under review, the administrative and other operating
expenses increased by approximately RMB36.2 million from approximately
RMB88.7 million in 2018 to approximately RMB124.9 million in 2019.
The increase was mainly attributable to (i) an increase in research and
development expenses to foster the future business development; (ii) the
written-off of property, plant and equipment of Jiangsu Chunxiao of an
amount of approximately RMB34.9 million (2018: RMB18.3 million); and
(iii) the removal and relocation expenses of Weifang Parasia’s production
facilities of approximately RMB9.3 million. Administrative and other
operating expenses to the Group’s revenue was 9.0% (2018: 7.5%).

Finance costs

Finance costs mainly represented bank borrowings interest and interest
for advances from the ultimate holding company, which slightly decreased
by approximately RMBO0.4 million from approximately RMB4.6 million in
2018 to approximately RMB4.2 million in 2019. The decrease was mainly
due to the interest rate for advances from the ultimate holding company
is lower than that of bank borrowings interest rate during the year under
review while a new bank borrowing of RMB100.0 million was just raised
in the fourth quarter of this year.

Gain on disposal of a subsidiary and impairment loss
on amounts due from a former subsidiary

On 28 June 2019, the Group completed the Disposal at a total
consideration of RMB990,000. The net proceeds of the Disposal have
been used as general working capital of the Group. For details, please
refer to the announcement of the Company dated 27 June 2019. After
the Disposal, the Group has carried out an impairment test assessment
for the long overdue debt owing by Jiangsu Chunxaio. The total amount
due from Jiangsu Chunxiao to the Group as at 31 December 2019 was
approximately RMB48.9 million, out of which an amount approximately
of RMB24.7 million is unsecured and highly unlikely recoverable in the
foreseeable future. Hence, impairment loss on amounts due from this
former subsidiary was recognised during the year under review.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Profit for the year attributable to owners of the
Company

As a result of the foregoing, the Group has put unremitting efforts to
turnaround its business performance and achieved profit for the year
attributable to owners of the Company to approximately RMB21.5 million
(2018: loss attributable to owners of the Company was RMB61.1 million).

Trade and bills receivable

As at 31 December 2019, trade receivables decreased to approximately
RMB183.5 million, representing a decrease of approximately RMB15.2
million or 7.6% as compared with approximately RMB198.7 million
recorded as at 31 December 2018. About 75.4% of trade receivables
were incurred in the last quarter of 2019 and most of them are not yet
due and 9.9% of trade receivables were incurred in the third quarter
of 2019. Only 14.7% of trade receivables are overdue for 180 days. Up
to the date of this report, over 70.8% of trade receivables have been
settled. Thus, the Directors considered that no further bad debt allowance
is required on the balance of trade receivables as at 31 December 2019.

As at 31 December 2019, bills receivable amount of approximately
RMB106.5 million, decreased by approximately RMB1.3 million or 1.2%
as compared with the balance of approximately RMB107.8 million as at
31 December 2018. Since all bills receivable are bank acceptance bills,
which are non-interest bearing and most of them have a maximum
maturity period of six months, the payments of which were guaranteed
by the licensed banks in the PRC. As a result, the default risk is considered
minimal. Accordingly, the Directors considered that no allowance for
doubtful debt is required.

Short-term bank borrowings and advances from the
ultimate holding company

All bank borrowings were at floating interest rates and are denominated
in Renminbi. As at 31 December 2019, bank borrowings increased to
RMB170.0 million, representing a net increase of RMB150.0 million or
750.0% as compared with the balance of RMB20.0 million as at 31
December 2018. The increase mainly used to finance (i) the general
working capital of the Group; (ii) the removal and relocation of Weifang
Parasia’s production facilities; and (iii) capital expenditure incurred
to upgrade and replace outdated production facilities. The advances
from the ultimate holding company were at a fixed interest rate and
denominated in Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi. A net decreased to
approximately RMB62.8 million (2018: RMB67.5 million) of the advances
from the ultimate holding company as at 31 December 2019.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

The Group’s primary source of funding included the net cash inflow
generated from operating activities of approximately RMB245.1 million
(2018: RMB16.8 million); newly raised bank borrowings of RMB170.0
million (2018: RMB20.0 million); an increase of advances from the
ultimate holdings company of RMB15.0 million (2018: RMB67.5 million);
proceeds on disposals of property, plant and equipment of approximately
RMBO.1 million (2018: RMBO0.2 million); net proceeds from disposal of a
subsidiary of approximately RMB1.0 million (2018: Nil) and bank interest
received of approximately RMB1.0 million (2018: RMB1.7 million). With
the financial resources obtained from the Group’s operations, the Group
had spent approximately RMB240.0 million (2018: RMB77.6 million) in
the acquisition of property, plant and equipment; payments for right-of-
use-assets of approximately RMB29.6 million (2018: Nil); repayments of
bank borrowings of RMB20.0 million (2018: RMB196.4 miillion); interest
paid of approximately RMB2.7 million (2018: RMB4.3 million), repayments
of advances from the ultimate holdings company of RMB20.0 million
(2018: Nil) and no dividend paid (2018: RMB7.2 million) during the year
under review. As at 31 December 2019, the Group had bank and cash
balances and pledged bank deposits of approximately RMB171.4 million
(2018: RMB51.8 million), of which 87.6% was held in Renminbi, 10.5%
was held in United States dollars and the remaining balances were held in
Hong Kong dollars and euros.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had recorded net current assets of
approximately RMB52.2 million (2018: RMB211.6 million), the current
ratio of the Group was approximately 1.1 times (2018: 1.6 times). The
total amount of outstanding borrowings of the Group was approximately
RMB238.3 million (2018: RMB92.9 million). The gearing ratio (which is
represented by the ratio of net debts (total borrowings net of bank and
cash balances and pledged bank deposits) to total shareholders’ equity)
was 5.1% (2018: 3.2%).

The Group has continuously upgraded or replaced outdated
production facilities to secure its sustainable business development
in future successfully and devotes to uphold a solid financial position
simultaneously. By way of a positive cash inflow from operating activities
continuously, coupled with the available cash resources on hand and
undrawn banking facilities from its banks, the Group has sufficient
financial resources to meet its present commitments and working capital
requirements. The Group will monitor its cash outflow closely and
cautiously and be dedicated to maintain a sound financial position and
improve the equity return to the Shareholders.

Annual Report 2019 Tiande Chemical Holdings Limited a
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

As at 31 December 2019, bank deposits amounts of RMB6.0 million
(2018: Nil) and bills receivable amounts of RMB6.0 million (2018: Nil)
were pledged for bank acceptance bills facilities. Besides, a aggregated
bank balances of approximately RMBO0.9 million were frozen to secure
a litigation case under the PRC court order (2018: a restricted bank
deposit of approximately RMB2.0 million was under a security deposit
requested by the relevant local authority to assure compliance with local
environmental and safety production practices; and bank balances of
approximately RMBO.7 million were frozen to secure litigation cases under
the PRC court orders).

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had no material contingent liabilities
(2018: Nil).

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had commitments which has been
contracted but not yet been provided for in the aggregate amount of
approximately RMB125.2 million (2018: RMB76.2 million), for acquisition
of property, plant and equipment as well as construction in progress,
while the capital commitment for authorised but not contracted for
in aggregate amount of approximately RMB142.1 million (2018: Nil)
related to the acquisition of property, plant and equipment as well as
construction in progress.

The Group adopts a prudent approach on its funding and treasury
policies, which aims to maintain an optimal financial position and
minimise the Group’s financial risks. The Group regularly reviews its
funding requirements to ensure adequate financial resources to support
its business operations and future investments as and when needed.

Cash flow forecast is well-prepared and reviewed regularly by the senior
management of the Group (“Senior Management”), which facilitates the
Group to maintain an adequate level of cash and cash equivalents, and
sufficient available banking facilities to finance the daily operations and
capital expenditure requirements in foreseeable future according to the
funding and treasury policies of the Group.

During the year under review, the Group did not use any financial
instruments for any hedging purposes as the Group’s businesses are
principally conducted in RMB and most of the Group’s monetary assets
and liabilities are denominated in RMB. Accordingly, the Group is not
subject to significant currency risk and foreign exchange rate risk.

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from bank borrowings. In
order to minimise the borrowing cost and interest rate risk, any raising of
loans to meet the expected funding demand must be assessed carefully
and approved by the executive Directors. The Group will consider new
financing while maintaining an appropriate level of gearing.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)
Exposure to fluctuations in exchange rates

The Group’s operations are mainly in the PRC and its assets, liabilities,
revenues and transactions are mainly denominated in RMB, Hong Kong
dollars and United States dollars.

The Group's foremost exposure to the foreign exchange fluctuations was
caused by the impact of Renminbi exchange rate movements during
the year under review. Most of the Group’s income and expenses are
denominated in RMB except for export sales which were, in majority,
denominated in United States dollars. However, the Group has not
experienced any material difficulties or effects on its operations or liquidity
as a result of the fluctuations in currency exchange rates during the year
under review. Besides, the Group will consider adoption of cost efficient
hedging methods in future foreign currency transactions as and when
appropriate.

Employees and remuneration policy

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had 1,454 (2018: 1,428) full-time
employees.

For the year under review, the total staff costs including directors’
remuneration increased to approximately RMB149.6 million (2018:
RMB134.2 million).

The Group has established its human resource policies and scheme with a
view to deploying the incentives and rewards of the remuneration system
which includes a wide range of training and personal development
programs to the employees. The remuneration package offered to the
employees was in line with the duties and the prevailing market terms.
Staff benefits, including medical coverage and provident funds, have also
been provided to the employees of the Group.

The employees would receive discretionary bonuses and monetary
rewards based on their ratings in annual performance appraisals of
the Group. The Group also offers rewards or other incentives to the
employees in order to motivate their personal growth and career
development, such as ongoing opportunities for training to enhance their
technical and products knowledge as well as their knowledge of industry
quality standards. All new employees of the Group are required to attend
an induction course and there are also various types of training courses
available to all the Group’s employees.

The Company has also adopted a share option scheme for the purpose of
providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who contribute
to the success of the Group’s operations. During the year under review,
no share options of the Company had been granted (2018: Nil).
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The Directors have pleasure in presenting the annual report together
with the audited financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2019.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal business
of the Group includes research and development, manufacture and sale
of fine chemical products.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019 are set
out in the consolidated income statement on page 55 of this annual
report.

During the year under review, the Directors did not declare an interim
dividend (2018: Nil).

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend (2018:
Nil) in respect of the year ended 31 December 2019.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The objective of the Company’s dividend policy is to allow the
Shareholders to participate in the Company’s profits whilst retaining
adequate reserves for the Group’s future growth. The Company may
declare and pay dividends by way of cash or scrip or by other means
that the Board considers appropriate. The declaration and distribution of
dividends is subject to the discretion of the Board and taking into account
the following factors:

- the Group’s actual and expected financial performance;

- the balances of retained profit and distributable reserves of the
Company;

- the level of debts ratio, return on equity and the relevant financial
covenants of the Group;

- any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed to
the Group;

- the expected working capital requirements and future business
plans of the Group;

- general economic conditions and other internal or external factors
that may have an impact on the business or financial performance
and position of the Group; and

- any other factors that the Board may deem appropriate.
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019
is set out in the sections of Financial Highlights and Five Years Financial
Summary, Chairman’s Statement and Management Discussion and
Analysis on pages 4 to 5, pages 6 to 9 and pages 12 to 19 respectively of
this annual report.

The Group recognises that its employees, customers and business partners
are the keys to sustainable development. The Group is committed to
establishing a close and caring relationship with its employees, providing
quality products and services to its customers and enhancing co-operation
with its business partners.

The Group is committed to maintaining a clean, energy saving
and harmonious environmental conservation policy. Through the
establishment of 1ISO14000 compliance environmental management
system, the Group improves its environmental management ability so as
to achieve environmental optimisation, minimise pollution, energy saving
and reduction of pollutant emissions.

The Group has established an environmental management team to
oversee all environmental issues Group-wide. The Group has also
implemented well-defined job specifications and a sound environmental
performance evaluation program so as to improve the environmental
performance of the Group from time to time. The Group has complied
with the environmental requirements laid down by the states and local
authorities as well as obtaining ISO14001 environmental management
system certification since 2004. The Group constantly works to improve
environmental management through the plan-do-check-act quality
management principle. The Group uses its best endeavour to promote
environmental friendly practices to both suppliers and customers. The
Group pursues clean production processes, promotes circular economy,
maintains sound environmental rules and regulations and actively
promotes the 4Rs (Reduce, Recycle, Reuse and Replace) throughout all
the Group’s business activities to realise emission reduction targets.

The Group maintains its products to the highest standards, advanced
technology and production processes. All construction projects of the
Group have strictly adopted the “Three Simultaneous System”, to ensure
the prevention of pollution facilities incorporated into the project design,
construction and production at the same time. Environmental protection is
in place throughout the process from product design to finished product.
Clean production audit is in place and it is performed regularly. The Group
actively implements the waste treatment and recycling, controls pollutant
emission, and provides a safety and health workplace to employees with
an aim to improve their quality of working life and environment.

Annual Report 2019 Tiande Chemical Holdings Limited a
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE (Continued)
Environmental policies and performance (Continued)

The Group proactively promotes all employees to participate in
environmental conservation. The Group strives to raise environmental
awareness and competence of all its employees through environmental
protection rules and regulations and environmental work skills. The
Group based on the evaluation of current laws and regulations as well
as the significant environmental factors to formulate an ”Objectives,
Targets, Management Scheme”, and improves the “corrective and
preventive measures” of environmental aspects from time to time. The
Group developed a comprehensive “Significant Environmental Factors
Contingency Plan”. The implementation of Management Scheme,
corrective and preventive measures can effectively control the significant
environmental factors. In accordance with “Significant Environmental
Factors Contingency Plan”, the Group performs drilling regularly to
improve environmental emergency response capacity of all employees,
so as to achieve the objective of reducing pollution, energy conservation,
and environmental protection as well as conscientiously fulfilling
environmental protection, corporate and social responsibility.

Principal risks and uncertainties

In addition to the matters reported in the Chairman’s Statement and
Management Discussion and Analysis, the following are the principal risks
and uncertainties that the Group is facing in pursuant to the disclosure
requirement of Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the laws of Hong
Kong).

Strategic risks

1. Unfavourable conditions in the global economy, economic
fluctuations in customers’ industries and volatility and cyclicality of
the global fine chemicals markets (in particular the PRC market)
may adversely affect the results of the Group.

The Group maintains a balanced portfolio of products serving
a wide spectrum of customers. The Board is closely monitoring
market conditions and corrective actions are taken imminently as
and when necessary.

2. The ability of the Group to compete is highly dependent on its
ability to develop technological innovations and to introduce new
products. Failure to do so could have an adverse effect on the
Group.

The Group continues to invest in improving existing products,
developing new products and new production technologies through
research and development.
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE (Continued)
Principal risks and uncertainties (Continued)

Strategic risks (Continued)

3.

The failure of the Group to procure/produce key raw materials may
lead to production interruptions and sharp volatility in the prices
of such raw materials and energy prices may adversely affect the
profitability of the Group and its working capital position.

Sourcing strategies of the Group are in place to access multiple
supply channels for key raw materials and the Group works closely
with key suppliers to maintain a reliable and high-quality supply
of goods/services. The Group strives to identify suitable alternative
raw materials where possible. The Group actively monitors its profit
margins and uses best endeavor to recover input cost increases
from customers.

Operational risks

1.

Compliance with extensive environmental, health and safety laws
and regulations could lead to material expenditure or changes
in the operations of the Group. The manufacture, storage and
transportation of chemicals is inherently dangerous and any
incidents relating to the hazards which the Group faces may
adversely affect its financial condition, results of operations and
reputation.

Detailed safety, health and environmental processes are documented
in operating manual which is updated and communicated to staff
on a regular basis. Sound maintenance programs are in place in
order to ensure that the facilities meet local statutory requirements.
The Group established a safety, health and environmental
department dedicated to safety, health and environmental issues
and ensure the programs for continuous improvement across all
major safety, health and environmental areas are in place Group-
wide.

The ongoing success of the Group is dependent on attracting
and retaining high quality senior management and staff who can
effectively manage the Group’s operations.

The Group offers competitive compensation packages with annual
performance bonuses and long-term incentive arrangements (e.g.
share options) for key employees. Appropriate notice periods and
non-compete clauses are used to mitigate short-term risk arising
from the departure of key employees. The Group is also developing
a succession plan for key positions.
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE (Continued)
Principal risks and uncertainties (Continued)

Financial risks

1. The Group’s statement of financial position and cash flow or credit
market conditions and credit ratings may restrict the ability of the
Group to obtain credit facilities. In addition, upward interest rate
fluctuations and increases in bank lending margins may increase the
Group's costs of borrowing.

The management of the Group closely monitors cash flow and
working capital performance on a timely basis to ensure it has
a sound liquidity position and sufficient level of cash and cash
equivalents to finance the Group’s operations. The management
of the Group regularly reviews the relevant loan covenants (if
applicable) for bank borrowings as well as the interest rate exposure
and will consider hedging significant interest rate exposure should
the need arise. Details of the liquidity risk and interest rate risk are
set out in note 41 to the financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2019.

2. Customers’ credit risk will cause a financial loss if the counterparties
fail to discharge their obligation.

In order to minimise the credit risk, management of the Group has
delegated a team responsible for determination of credit limits,
credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. The Group only
extends credit to customers based on careful evaluation of the
customers’ financial conditions and credit history. In addition, the
management of the Group reviews the assessment of expected
credit losses at the end of the reporting period to ensure that
adequate losses allowance are made for expected irrecoverable
amounts. Details of the customers’ credit risk are set out in note 41
to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company (the “2020
AGM") will be held on Friday, 12 June 2020. Shareholders should refer
to the details regarding the 2020 AGM in the circular of the Company
of 24 April 2020, the notice of the 2020 AGM and the form of proxy
accompanying thereto.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For the purpose of ascertaining the Shareholders who are entitled to
attend and vote at the 2020 AGM, the register of members of the
Company will be closed from Tuesday, 9 June 2020 to Friday, 12 June
2020, both days inclusive. In order to qualify for the right to attend
and vote at the 2020 AGM, all transfers accompanied by the relevant
share certificates should be lodged with the Company’s share registrar
and transfer office in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor
Services Limited at Shops 1712-1716 on the 17th Floor of Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong, for registration not
later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 8 June 2020.
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SHARE CAPITAL

There were no movements in the share capital of the Company during
the year under review.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years is set out on pages 4 to 5 of this annual report.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and of the Company
are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity of the
Group on pages 61 and 62 of this annual report and note 32 to the
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019 respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the share premium
account of the Company can be used for paying distributions or dividends
to Shareholders subject to the provisions of its memorandum or articles
of association and provided that immediately following the distribution
of dividend, the Company is able to pay its debts as they fall due in the
ordinary course of business. As at 31 December 2019, the Company’s
reserves available for distribution to Shareholders amounted in total to
approximately RMB334.4 million (2018: RMB335.4 million).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

During the year under review, the Group spent approximately RMB240.0
million (2018: RMB77.6 million) on property, plant and equipment to
expand its production capabilities. Details of the movements in the
property, plant and equipment of the Group are set out in note 13 to the
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The Group’s investment properties were revalued at the year-end date.
The fair value increase in investment properties arising from revaluation
amounting to approximately RMB1.4 million (2018: RMB2.1 million)
has been credited to the consolidated income statement. Details of
movements in the investment properties of the Group are set out in note
15 to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019.

DONATIONS

During the year under review, the Group made charitable and other
donations totaling approximately RMB0.09 million (2018: RMB0.04
million).
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the five largest customers
accounted for 13.8% (2018: 12.1%) of the Group’s total revenue, whilst
the revenue attributable to the Group’s largest customer accounted for
4.0% (2018: 3.2%) of the Group’s total revenue.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the five largest suppliers
accounted for 37.2% (2018: 46.5%) of the Group’s total purchases,
whilst the purchases attributable to the Group’s largest supplier accounted
for 17.1% (2018: 16.0%) of the Group's total purchases.

At no time during the year under review did any Director, any associate of
a Director or any Shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors
owns more than 5% of the issued shares of Company (the “Shares”)) has
an interest in any of the Group’s five largest customers and suppliers.

DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

The Directors during the financial year under review and up to the date of
this report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Liu Yang
Mr. Wang Zijiang

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Liu Hongliang
Mr. Guo Yucheng

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Gao Baoyu
Mr. Leung Kam Wan
Mr. Liu Chenguang

In accordance with article 87 of the Company’s articles of association
(the "Articles and Association”), Mr. Liu Yang, Mr. Gao Baoyu and Mr. Liu
Chenguang shall retire from office by rotation at the 2020 AGM, each of
them, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election as Directors at
the 2020 AGM.

All non-executive Directors were appointed for an initial term of not
more than three years and the terms will be renewed automatically for
successive term of three years until terminated by not less than one
month’s notice in writing served by either party on the other.

The executive Directors have entered into service contracts with the
Company for a term of three years and thereafter shall continue from
year to year until terminated by giving three months’ notice in writing
thereof by either party to the other.
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DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS
(Continued)

No person proposed for re-election at the 2020 AGM has an unexpired
service contract which is not determinable by the Company or any its
subsidiaries within one year without payment of compensation, other
than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Connected Transactions”
set out in this report and note 39 to the financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2019 on “Related Party Transactions”, no contracts
of significance in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company
or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
year or any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS IN
SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2019, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company and their associates in
the shares and/or underlying shares of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (the “SFO")), as recorded in the register maintained by the
Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
contained in Appendix 10 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”), were as follows:
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS IN
SECURITIES (Continued)

RBRBZ2EHR Long position in the Shares
RERAT
RZBEXRE+HAEA
iz R ETE
BEZBREHR
FrERPEE,/ Number of share
B options held HERTRNAE
Number of according to share BABDL (%)
AR/ EEBR Shares held/  option scheme adopted Approximate % in
B Name of company/ interest in by the Company 53 the total issued
Name of Director associated corporation the Shares on 4 October 2006 Capacity Share
Elpry ot FEEBERAA 612,000,000 - RErEER 71.84%
Mr. Liu Hongliang ([F&])(FsE1) (FEE2) Interest of controlled
Cheerhill Group Limited (Note 2) corporation
("Cheerhill”) (Note 1)
TFIEE EUE (FE1) 159,120,000 - XEEE R 18.68%
Mr. Wang Zijiang Cheerhill (Note 1) (BIE2) Interest of controlled
(Note 2) corporation
140,000 140,000 BB 2 0.03%
(F3E3) (FiFE3)  Interest of spouse
(Note 3) (Note 3)
BERFTE HE () 39,780,000 - XEiEER 4.67%
Mr. Guo Yucheng Cheerhill (Note 1) (BFzE2) Interest of controlled
(Note 2) corporation
BREELA (HiE4) - 72,000 460,000 - 0.06%
Mr. Chen Xiaohua
(Note 4)
5T Notes:

1. 612,000,000 &y HEREERE  H2MPEEHT 1.
BARBBET A TFLAE  BREELL - B
W4+ BEKTCERBLBILED RIFRE RS

11.5% * 11.5% -

RZZE—AF+=—A=+—8 ETFIEEDH

TES MELERAERDEXEERIERNITE

B38% + 26% *

=Eo

2. HAREASAANEEEE380% R HWE 2.
B E B EE 1 Bt 2 612,000,000 MRS 1 18 A #E

v,
2%
m ©

3. MESKEIRAUHINESRS  LARTEERE 3
FIIEREZERR  ElATFTEEZBEA -

4. MREFEEN-_ZT-NFNA-BEZERER 4

AR -

B E PRI EE SN

RZF-NFTZA=+—
A S8F FARFAEZBTHABRREZHEA
BERIE S A A RS HATAAERE A B 2 (E AR - 48

RN ES ZEAERIRE °
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6.5% £26.5% °

The 612,000,000 Shares were held by Cheerhill, the entire issued share
capital of which is ultimately beneficially owned as to 38% by Mr. Liu
Hongliang, 26% by Mr. Wang Zijiang, 11.5% by Ms. Sun Jianhua, 11.5% by
Ms. Zheng Hong, 6.5% by Mr. Guo Yucheng and 6.5% by Mr. Fu Anxu. As
at 31 December 2019, Mr. Wang Zijiang is an executive Director; while Mr.
Liu Hongliang and Mr. Guo Yucheng are non-executive Directors.

Mr. Liu Hongliang is deemed to be interested in 612,000,000 Shares referred
to in Note 1 above by virtue of his 38.0% interests in Cheerhill.

Ms. Shi Huifang is an employee of Weifang Parasia and the spouse of Mr.

Wang Zijiang who is an executive Director, and therefore an associate of Mr.
Wang Zijiang.

1 August 2018.

Mr. Chen Xiaohua was appointed as a general manager of the Company on

Other than as disclosed above, none of the Directors, chief executive of
the Company nor their associates had any interests or short positions in
any Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or any of its

associated corporations as at 31 December 2019.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDER

As at 31 December 2019, the register of substantial Shareholder
maintained by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO shows
that the following Shareholder had notified the Company of its relevant
interests in the issued Shares:

Long position of substantial Shareholder in the Shares
and/or underlying Shares

FERAEE,
RS RS A HEBITRAEE
Number of Shares held/ BABE DL (%)

BEREE interest in the Shares 54 Approximate % in the
Name of Shareholder and aggregated interest Capacity total issued Share
Hi (BsE) 612,000,000 EmEBA 71.84%

Cheerhill (Note)

izt $ 612,000,000 A0 T A E 35 H - H2HE#T
PRABmBMTEE  EFIIAE  FRELL
gyt  BEREERBRBEEDFIRKE

% % 538.0% + 26.0% * 11.5% * 11.5% * 6.5%
5.6.5% o
Br EXFTRBEN RZE—NEF+ZA=+—

B ARREETAA TSR SAERIA D
RREAEARIEE S RPERPIBNE A RR] 2 HE
@IORR - IEBEARAREESFKBPEEF
336 IRTFE 2 B ik 2 kR ©

BEROBESF 2R 5

ARE] -~ BERAT - sEERKE AR KRR
JB A B RS E AT R ER S E AL
B ERAREBEARARNIAREMEABRE K
R EBHES (BIEES) M -

HERXS

BHE_Z-NF+_A=+—BLLFEZHMBR
RMFEIOMBENE THM T X5 BBKEER
ZemTHEAL (EERLETRA) BEEAEH
RIS S EET TR S MARREER L
MRABEREERRTEZNERN MEL RS -

Beneficiary owner

Note: The 612,000,000 Shares were held by Cheerhill, the entire issued share
capital of which is ultimately beneficially owned as to 38.0% by Mr. Liu
Hongliang, 26.0% by Mr. Wang Zijiang, 11.5% by Ms. Sun Jianhua, 11.5%
by Ms. Zheng Hong, 6.5% by Mr. Guo Yucheng and 6.5% by Mr. Fu Anxu.

Save as disclosed above, the Company has not been notified by any
person who had any interest or short position in the Shares or underlying
Shares as at 31 December 2019, which are required to be notified to the
Company under the SFO or which are recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year under review was the Company, its holding
company, or any of its subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries, a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debt securities (including debentures) of, the
Company or any other body corporate.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Certain related party transactions as disclosed in note 39 to the financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2019 also constituted
connected transactions. The following transactions between certain
connected persons (as defined in the Listing Rules) and the Group
have been entered into and/or are continuing for which relevant
announcements, if necessary, had been made by the Company in
accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules.

Annual Report 2019 Tiande Chemical Holdings Limited a



EEHRE

Directors’ Report

REXS (&)

RIBHED A BT RoART L 2 # ([% A
W) RSB T \F-A-HEEE%
BRLFEBZMAEYE  HH=F  SFHSE
BRARE540,0007  HLHIREBFEERK X
- BRMITESEFIAERFRITEREM S
FEAEMEL R RS R BT RIAK B IR -
TRILRBRRRZBBEANL » BT BHBRAR
AZAHRHEERS -

RIBEER —T—N\FNA—BDHIEART N
BRI LNEFR S ([ZEER])  TERE
AAKEREREEN  NENAKENZEES
TR ZFERLERR  FHER2% - WK —
FRIMEE - R-_FT-NFNLA—H FTE- K
RARHEIEBRAT TS - KR EERNER
AEFEE—T-_TFNA—H -

ExE 2 ZAAB R ET AR RIS 14A.76(1) 1EFT
EZRIERERS  MZSERRE MBS
14A90 & FTE M BAIB A TIRIEM B B B) - M5
ERGET ETARRANEREER A5 REURE
HAEZIRE »

B AR S - B RIS B M 3 30 2 K A A
7732 B ETHRAIE A SRR RER
SHHERERS -

BELXPEBEE T NF+_A=1T—HILF
B2 AR MEE 9B E S - BUE A A
RELTRAZAEBRBERBERIHZIRS - M
ARRE] ~ AR E A B AR LR R EA
Al Z I EERT LA 45 A Sk MR E T
AEEDABMAETNETERIREEREAN
o SIRBLTRAZAEETREZEZA
#) e

BEEK

EOBFEEA  SET I SFEEAIEENEE 2
MATAIEZMORH ZEERITHZAK

BYFHTES BRI

ARRBEWRBIZBIIFATESRIE LHRRIE
3B FMAG BT 2 FEERE - ARFAR
B MARMIFITESHRBIYAL -

@ RECTERRARAF “E2-NEFER

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Pursuant to a lease (the “Lease”) entered into between Weifang Parasia
and Weifang Tianhong, Weifang Parasia leased the office premises
owned by Weifang Tianhong for a term of three years commencing from
1 January 2018 at a gross annual rental payment of RMB540,000,
payable on a pro-rata basis at the end of each quarter. Weifang Tianhong
is a connected person to the Company as Mr. Wang Zijiang is an executive
Director and Mr. Liu Hongliang and Mr. Guo Yucheng are non-executive
Directors who have majority voting control of Weifang Tianhong, the
entering into the Lease constituted an exempted connected transaction
of the Company.

Pursuant to loan agreements entered by Cheerhill with the Company and
Weifang Binhai separately (the “Loans”) on 1 September 2018, Cheerhill
agreed to finance the Group to meet the Group’s working capital
requirements. Such Loans are unsecured and bear interest rate at 2% per
annum, and due for repayment within one year. On 1 September 2019,
Cheerhill, the Company and Weifang Binhai entered into supplementary
agreements to extend the repayment date of the Loans to 1 September
2020.

The above Lease is de minimis transaction under Rule 14A.76(1) of the
Listing Rules and Loans are financial assistance from connected person
under Rule 14A.90 of the Listing Rules thus they were exempted from
the reporting, announcement and independent shareholders’ approval
requirements under the Listing Rules.

Apart from the above transactions, other related-party transactions set
out in note 39 to the financial statements did not constitute connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed above and in note 39 to the financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2019, there were no other transactions
which need to be disclosed as connected transactions in accordance with
the requirements of the Listing Rules and no contract of significance,
between the Company, controlling Shareholders, or any of its subsidiaries
and fellow subsidiaries or in which a Director had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, or which are required to be disclosed under
the Listing Rules subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the
year under review.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group was entered
into or existed during the year under review.

CONFIRMATION FROM INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers that all independent
non-executive Directors are independent.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

During this financial year and up to the date of this report, the Company
has in force indemnity provisions as permitted under the relevant
statutes for the benefit of the directors (including former directors) of the
Company or its associated companies. The permitted indemnity provisions
are provided for in the Articles of Association and in the directors and
officers liability insurance maintained for the Group in respect of potential
liability and costs associated with legal proceedings that may be brought
against such directors.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the Group is set up by the Board on the basis of
the merit, qualifications and competence of the employees.

The emoluments of the Directors and Senior Management will be
reviewed by the Remuneration Committee, having regard to factors
including the Group’s operating results, responsibilities required of the
Directors and Senior Management and the comparable market statistics.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

Under the share option schemes adopted by the Company on 4 October
2006 (the “2006 Share Option Scheme”) and 20 May 2016 (the “2016
Share Option Scheme”) respectively, share options would be granted
to certain Directors, employees and other eligible participants of the
Company entitling them to subscribe for shares of HK$0.01 each in the
capital of the Company. The 2006 Share Option Scheme was expired and
terminated on 20 May 2016.

Under the 2016 Share Option Scheme, the maximum number of Shares
available for issue upon exercise of all options granted and yet to be
exercised under the 2016 Share Option Scheme and other share option
schemes in aggregate shall not exceed 30% of the number of issued
Shares from time to time. The total number of Shares issued and which
may be issued upon exercise of all options (whether exercised, cancelled
or outstanding) granted in any 12-month period to each participant
must not exceed 1% of the number of Shares in issue unless approved
by the Shareholders in a general meeting. An option may be exercised in
accordance with the terms of the 2016 Share Option Scheme at any time
during a period to be notified by the Board, which must not be more than
ten years from the date of grant. Any Share allotted and issued on the
exercise of options will rank pari passu with other Shares in issue on the
date of allotment. The 2016 Share Option Scheme will remain effective
for a period of ten (10) years commencing from 20 May 2016.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 28 days
from the date of offer, upon payment of nominal consideration of
HK$1 in total by the eligible participants that become grantees. Each
share option will be vested immediately at the date when the option
is accepted. The share options will lapse immediately after the grantee
ceases to be eligible participant of the Group. The options will lapse due
to the expiry of the option’s exercise period.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The subscription price for the Shares to be issued upon exercise of the
options shall be no less than the higher of (i) the closing price of the
Shares as stated in the daily quotation sheet issued by the Stock Exchange
on the date of grant; (ii) the average closing price of the Shares as stated
in the daily quotation sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the
nominal value of a Share on the date of grant. The subscription price
will be established by the Board at the time the option is offered to the
participants.

Details of the movement in outstanding share options, which have been
granted under the 2006 Share Option Scheme for the year ended 31
December 2019 are as follows:

RE R RITHRE
REDERITHE FREBTHE FREX Outstanding
AL Outstanding at Exercised Lapsed during at the end
Category of grantee beginning of year during the year the year of the year
B L (MEED 140,000 - - 140,000
Ms. Shi Huifang (Note i)
MRS (Pt 460,000 - - 460,000
Mr. Chen Xiaohua (Note ii)
BT 10,164,000 - 900,000 9,264,000
Employees
10,764,000 - 900,000 9,864,000
F 5 Notes:

i) WEFXEI/AETHINEERRTESIFIT
FEZRE  Fib AT FITREZBEA

(i) MEFEENR-_Z-NFNA-REZETRER

RlABALHR o

HERFEREMAAARAZRS] - SHEASZAR

ARABEREZ AR EWALIELTEERE - B
BEEERRE TIERR I TAEHMEE -
RNES 2 TMEB TR s HBREZ AT AR
BEREATE - AMABHNMHHRKRMEIS -

BT NEBRET SRR - WEREZET
B ERE - R NF+=-A=+—8"
BIE=ZZF— /\H%fof%éfriu M’*ﬁzw\%%ﬁz
#584,687,800/% * DRIMHERARFNR_E—
FRA-FH (zl&@ﬁﬁ%,%m:@fﬁﬂﬁi%%%
2 B) REBEAFTHRABAIEZEBETIRGE 10%
$9.94% -

—E-NEER
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(i) Ms. Shi Huifang is an employee of Weifang Parasia and the spouse of Mr.
Wang Zijiang who is an executive Director and therefore an associate of Mr.
Wang Zijiang.

(ii) Mr. Chen Xiaohua was appointed as a general manager of the Company on
1 August 2018.

The fair value of the existing share options of the Company calculated is
inherently subjective and uncertain due to the assumptions made and the
limitations of the model used. The value of an option varies with different
variables of certain subjective assumptions. Any change in variables
so adopted may materially affect the estimation of the fair value of an
option. Further details are set out in note 33 to the financial statements.

No share option has been granted under the 2016 Share Option Scheme
since its adoption. As at 31 December 2019, the total number of Shares
available for issue under the 2016 Share Option Scheme is 84,687,800
which represents 10% and 9.94% of the issued Share as at 20 May 2016
(the date of which the 2016 Share Option Scheme has been adopted by
the Company) and as at the date of this annual report, respectively.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige the
Company to offer new Shares on a pro rata basis to existing Shareholders.

TAX RELIFE AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to
the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s securities.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY'S
LISTED SECURITIES

During the year under review, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the latest practicable date prior to the issue of this report, based on
the information that is publicly available to the Company and to the best
knowledge of the Directors, the Directors confirmed that the Company
has maintained sufficient public float as required under the Listing Rules.

COMPLIANCE WITH CODE OF BEST PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining the high standard of corporate
governance practices. Information on the corporate governance practices
adopted by the Company is set out in the Corporate Governance Report
on pages 34 to 48 of this annual report.

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its code for dealing in
securities of the Company by the Directors. After specific enquiry by the
Company, all the Directors confirmed that they had complied with the
required standards set out in the Model Code for the financial year ended
31 December 2019.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR
The financial statements have been audited by BDO Limited (“BDO").

A resolution will be proposed at 2020 AGM to re-appoint BDO as the
independent auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
Liu Yang
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 March 2020
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The Company is committed to building and maintaining high standards of
corporate governance. Throughout the financial year ended 31 December
2019, the Company has adopted the principles and complied with the
requirements set out in the “Corporate Governance Code” (the "CG
Code") contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules.

The Board reviews the corporate governance practices of the Company
periodically to ensure the practices continue to fulfill the CG Code
requirements and considered that the Company has complied with the
applicable code provisions of the CG Code during the year under review.
The key corporate governance practices of the Group are summarised as
follows:

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board assumes responsibility for leadership and control of the
Company and is collectively responsible for promoting the success of
the Company by directing and supervising the Company’s affairs. The
strategic business direction of the Group and objectives for management
has been formulated by the Board. The Board has delegated the day-to-
day operation responsibility to the management under the supervision of
the general manager of the Company and various Board committees. The
Board reviews the performance of the Group against the agreed targets
and budgets on a regular basis.

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
duties, which mainly include (i) developing and reviewing policies and
practices on corporate governance; (ii) monitoring and revising policies
and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements as
appropriate; (i) reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and Senior Management; (iv)
developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct applicable
to employees and Directors; (v) reviewing the Company’s compliance
with the CG Code and disclosure in the corporate governance report of
the Company; (vi) reviewing and monitoring the Company’s process of
information disclosure, including assessing and verifying the accuracy and
materiality of inside information and determine the form and content of
any required disclosure; (vii) reviewing the effectiveness of the committee
structure of the Board and the terms of reference of all Board committees
and their accountability for the corporate governance practices and
make amendment as appropriate; and (viii) reviewing and monitoring the
Company’s communication policy with Shareholders and its stakeholders.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)
Corporate governance function (Continued)

During the year under review, the Board has (i) reviewed, updated and/
or formulated the communication policy, code of conduct applicable
to employees of the Group and Director, corporate governance policy,
inside information disclosure policy, risk management policy, internal
control policy, whistleblowing policy, dividend policy, nomination policy
("Nomination Policy”) and Board diversity policy (“Board Diversity Policy”),
code for dealing in securities policy of the Company etc.; (ii) reviewed
and assessed the training records of Directors and Senior Management;
(iii) reviewed or updated the effectiveness of the committees structure of
the Board and the terms of reference of all Board committees and their
accountability for the corporate governance practices; and (iv) reviewed
the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and the disclosure in the
corporate governance report of the Company.

Composition

The Board comprises seven Directors, including two executive Directors,
two non-executive Directors and three independent non-executive
Directors. The biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 10
to 11 of this annual report. The composition of the Board is well balanced
with each Director having sound knowledge, experience and/or expertise
relevant to the business operations and development of the Group.
The independent non-executive Directors, with at least one possessing
the appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or related
financial management expertise, who offer diversified expertise and
experience, contribute significantly to the important function of advising
management on strategy and policy development. All the Directors are
aware of their collective and individual responsibilities to the Shareholders
and have exercised their duties with care, skill and diligence, contributing
to the successful performance of the Group.

Save for Mr. Liu Yang, the Chairman, who is the son of Mr. Liu Hongliang,
a non-executive Director, there is no financial, business, family or other
material or relevant relationship among the Chairman, members of the
Board and the general manager of the Company. All of them are free to
exercise their independent judgment. The Company has received from
each independent non-executive Directors a written annual confirmation
of their independence and is satisfied with their independence in
accordance with the Listing Rules.

The Company maintains appropriate liability insurance to indemnify

its Directors for their liabilities arising out of corporate activities. The
insurance coverage will be reviewed on an annual basis.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

All Directors are appointed for a specific term of three years and subject
to retirement by rotation at least once every three years in accordance
with the Articles of Association.

According to the Article of Association, any new Director appointed by
the Board (in case of filling a casual vacancy) is subject to retirement and
re-election by Shareholders at the next general meeting of the Company
or at the next annual general meeting of the Company (in case of an
addition of Board member) following his appointment. At each annual
general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time being, or if their
number is not a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not
less than one-third, are required to retire from office by rotation provided
that every Director shall be subject to retirement at least once every three
years. A retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election and shall continue
to act as a Director throughout the meeting at which he retires. The
Directors to retire by rotation will be those who have been the longest in
office since their last re-election or appointment but as between persons
who become or were last re-elected Directors on the same day those
retire will (unless they otherwise agree among themselves) be determined
by lot. To further enhance accountability, any further re-appointment of
an independent non-executive Director who has served the Company for
more than nine years will be subject to separate resolution to be approved
by the Shareholders.

A Director may be removed by an ordinary resolution of the Company
before the expiration of his period of time (but without prejudice to any
claim which such Director may have for damages for any breach of any
contract between him and the Company).

All Directors must keep abreast of their collective responsibilities as
Directors and of the business and activities of the Group. A briefing
is provided and organised to ensure that newly appointed Directors
are familiar with the role of the Board, their legal and other duties
and responsibilities as Director as well as the business and corporate
governance practices of the Group. The company secretary of the
Company (the “Company Secretary”) will continuously update all
Directors on latest development regarding the Listing Rules and other
applicable regulatory requirements so as to familiar compliance of the
same by all Directors.

During the year under review, all Directors received regular updates and/
or presentations on changes and developments to the Group’s business.
Besides, all Directors have participated in appropriate continuous
professional development activities by ways of attending training course
or reading materials relevant to the Directors’ duties and responsibilities.
Directors are requested to provide their records of training to the
Company Secretary for record.

The Company Secretary has attended no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training to update her skills and knowledge during the year
under review.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

The chief executive officer of the Company bears the title of general
manager. In order to reinforce the independence and accountability,
the roles of the Chairman and the general manager of the Company
are segregated and performed by Mr. Liu Yang and Mr. Chen Xiaohua
respectively. There is a clear distinction responsibility of the Chairman
to mainly provide leadership for the Board and ensure the Board is
functioning properly, with good corporate governance practices and
procedures, whilst the general manager of the Company is responsible for
managing the day-to-day operations, implementing business strategies
and policies approved by the Board, developing and formulating the
organisational structure, internal control systems and internal procedures
and processes for the Board’s approval. The division of responsibilities
between the Chairman and general manager of the Company has been
clearly defined and set out in writing.

The Board meets regularly at least 4 times every financial year. The
Directors participated in person or through electronic means of
communication. All regular Board meetings are scheduled in advance to
facilitate the possible fullest attendance. The meeting agenda is set after
consulting with members of the Board. Each Director is invited to present
any businesses that he wishes to discuss or propose at such meetings.
Directors are required to abstain from voting and will not be counted in
the quorum present in the Board meeting if any Director has a conflict of
interest in a matter to be considered by the Board.

The Directors have been invited to include any matters which they
thought appropriate in the agenda for the Board meetings. Notice of
Board meeting at least 14 days has been given to each Board member.
Board papers are circulated to all Directors not less than 3 days before the
Board meetings (or such other period as agreed) to ensure timely access
to relevant information. Each Director is able to access the management
of the Group separately and independently if more information is
required. All Directors are permitted to seek independent professional
advice, if required, at the Company’s expenses.

During the year under review, 4 Board meetings were held. The Directors
have discussed the overall strategy as well as the operation and financial
performance of the Group, including annual budgets, annual and interim
results, approval of major capital investments and other significant
operational and financial matters etc. The Directors are kept informed
on a timely basis of major changes that may affect the Group’s business,
including amendments to relevant rules and regulations. The Board'’s
papers and minutes of the Company are kept by the Company Secretary
at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong. All draft and
final versions of minutes have been circulated to the Directors for review,
comment and record within 30 days after each Board meeting.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

The Board has established the following committees with defined terms
of reference. The terms of reference of the Board committees are posted
on the Company’s website and also available to Shareholders upon
request.

The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive
Directors, namely, Mr. Leung Kam Wan, Mr. Gao Baoyu and Mr. Liu
Chenguang. Mr. Leung is the chairman of the Audit Committee and he
possesses recognised professional qualifications in accounting as required
by the Listing Rules. The primary duties of the Audit Committee include:

(i)  ensuring the Group’s financial statements, annual and interim
reports, and the auditor’s report present a true and balanced
assessment of the Group’s financial position and complying of the
accounting standards, the Listing Rules and other requirements in
relation to financial reporting;

(i) reviewing the Group’s financial and internal controls;

(iii)  reviewing the Group’s financial and accounting policies and
practices;

(iv) recommending the appointment and remuneration of the
independent auditor of the Company; and

(v)  other duties are set out in its specific terms of reference.

The Audit Committee is provided with sufficient resources enabling it to
discharge its duties.

During the year under review, the Audit Committee has discussed the
following matters:

(i)  reviewing the independence and objectivity of the independent
auditor of the Company and discussing with the independent
auditor of the Company the nature and scope of the audit for the
year ended 31 December 2019;

(i)  reviewing the Group’s significant internal controls and financial
matters as set out in the Audit Committee’s terms of reference with
management of the Company;

(iii)  reviewing the audit findings provided by the independent auditor of
the Company, and identifying and making recommendations to the
Board on any matters where action or improvement is needed;

(iv)  reviewing the Group’s accounting principles and practices, Listing
Rules and statutory compliance, internal controls and financial
reporting matters;
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)
Audit Committee (Continued)

(v)  reviewing the annual financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2018 and interim financial statements for the six months
ended 30 June 2019; and

(vi) reviewing the terms of remuneration of the independent auditor
of the Company with the Board on the re-appointment of the
independent auditor of the Company.

During the year under review, the Audit Committee had also participated
to (i) review the self-assessment report on compliance of CG code; (ii)
evaluate the sufficiency of resources, the qualification and the experience
of the employees who were responsible for the accounting and financial
reporting of the Group, and the sufficiency of training courses received
by them; (iii) review and approve the annual budget of the Group; (iv)
review annual internal audit report of the Group; and (v) review the inside
information disclosure policy, risk management policy, internal control
policy and whistleblowing policy of the Company etc..

On 27 March 2020, the Audit Committee held a meeting to review the
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019. The Audit
Committee was satisfied that the accounting policies and practices
adopted by the Group are in accordance with the current best practices
in Hong Kong. The Audit Committee found no unusual items that
were omitted from the financial statements and was satisfied with the
disclosures of information as shown in the financial statements.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee is chaired by Mr. Liu Chenguang, an
independent non-executive Director, with Mr. Leung Kam Wan, an
independent non-executive Director, Mr. Gao Baoyu, an independent non-
executive Director and Mr. Liu Yang, the executive Director, as the three
other members. The majority members of the Remuneration Committee
are independent non-executive Directors.

The Remuneration Committee is mainly responsible for (i) reviewing
and making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration policy
of individual Director and Senior Management, with reference to the
Board's corporate goals and objectives as well as considering salaries
paid by comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities,
and employment conditions elsewhere in the Group; (ii) reviewing
the Company’s share option scheme, bonus structure and other
compensation-related issues and make recommendation to the Board;
and (iii) other duties as set out in its specific terms of reference.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

The Remuneration Committee consults with the Chairman on its
proposals and recommendations, and also has access to professional
advice if deemed necessary by the Remuneration Committee. The
Remuneration Committee is also provided with other resources enabling
it to discharge its duties.

During the year under review, the Remuneration Committee had (i)
reviewed the remuneration packages for all the Directors and Senior
Management by reference to their responsibilities and duties, the
Group's operating results and achieved corporate objectives, after
taking into account also the comparable market conditions and made
recommendation to the Board for approval; (ii) reviewed the remuneration
policy for Directors and Senior Management; and (iii) reviewed the terms
of service contract of the Directors. No Director shall participate in any
discussion and resolution about his own remuneration.

Remuneration policy

The primary goal of the remuneration policy for Directors and Senior
Management is to enable the Group to retain and motivate executive
Directors and Senior Management by linking their compensation with
performance as measured against the corporate objectives of the
Company. The principal elements of the remuneration package for
Directors and Senior Management include basic salary, other benefits,
discretionary bonus and share option. In determining guidelines for each
compensation element, the Company will make reference to market
remuneration surveys on companies operating in similar business and
comparable scale.

The remuneration of non-executive Directors mainly comprises directors’
fees which is subject to annual assessment with reference to the market
standard. Reimbursement is allowed for out-of-pocket expenses incurred
in connection with the performance of their duties including attending at
the Company’s meetings.

The Nomination Committee is chaired by Mr. Liu Yang, an executive
Director, with Mr. Liu Chenguang and Mr. Leung Kam Wan, as the two
other members, both are independent non-executive Directors. The
majority members of the Nomination Committee are independent non-
executive Directors.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to (i) review the
structure, size and diversity of the Board and make recommendations
on any proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company’s
corporate strategy; (i) identify individuals suitably qualified to become
Board members and select or make recommendations to the Board
on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships; (iii) assess
the independence of independent non-executive Directors; (iv) make
recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment
of Directors and succession planning for Directors; (v) develop and review
the Board Diversity Policy; (vi) develop and review the Nomination Policy;
and (vii) discharge other duties as set out in its specific terms of reference.
The Nomination Committee is provided with sufficient resources enabling
it to discharge its duties.

The Board Diversity Policy sets out the approach to achieve diversity of the
Board which includes gender, age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional and industry experience, skills, knowledge, length
of service and the legitimate interests of the principal Shareholder. The
Nomination Committee will also consider the merits and contribution of
any Director proposed for re-election or any candidate nominated to be
appointed as Director with due regard for the diversity of the Board so as
to complement the existing Board.

Nomination Policy

When making recommendations regarding the appointment of any
proposed candidate to the Board or re-appointment of any existing
member(s) of the Board, the Nomination Committee shall consider a
variety of factors including without limitation to the following in assessing
the suitability of the proposed candidate:-

- integrity and ethics;

- commitment in respect of available time;

- relevant interests with the Group or the Group’s members;

- government relations and the ability of public affairs communication;
- compliance with the relevant regulators requirements;

- diversity in all aspects (as described in the Board Diversity Policy);

- any other factors that the Nomination Committee or the Board may
consider relevant and applicable from time to time.

As there may be more candidates than the vacancies available, the
“gross-vote” method will be used to determine who shall be elected as a
Director. The Board shall have the final decision on all matters relating to
candidate nominated to be appointed as Director.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

During the year under review, the Nomination Committee had (i) assessed
the current structure, size and composition (including but not limited
to the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board; (ii) reviewed the
independence of the independent non-executive Directors; (iii) reviewed
and recommended the re-appointment of the retiring Directors for
Shareholders’ approval at annual general meeting; (iv) reviewed the
Board Diversity Policy; (v) reviewed the Directors’ succession plan; and (vi)
reviewed the Nomination Policy.

The Safety and Environmental Protection Committee is responsible
for enhancing the safety and environmental protection as well as
effectiveness of production operations that would eliminate the main
operating risks of the Group. The Safety and Environmental Protection
Committee is chaired by Mr. Liu Yang, an executive Director and other
members are Mr. Gao Baoyu, an independent non-executive Director
and Mr. Li Yuguo. The primary duties of the Safety and Environmental
Protection Committee include:

(i)  formulating the Group’s overall safety and environmental protection
policy and regulations;

(i) establishing and maintaining a safety and environmental production
operating system of the Group;

(iii)  inspecting and monitoring the productions and operations of the
Group to ensure the Group’s safety and environmental protection
policy and regulations are implemented effectively;

(iv)  ensuring the production operations of the Group are complied with
all relevant rules and regulations promulgated by relevant regulators
and authorities from time to time; and

(v)  responding and handling all complaints regarding the safety and
environmental issues and make recommendations to the Board for
improvement.

During the year under review, the Safety and Environmental Protection
Committee has (i) reviewed and recommended the Board to approve the
upgrade production facilities to address the wastewater from productions;
(i) approved the work plans of the safety, health and environment
department in 2019; and (iii) discussed and agreed several safety and
environmental protection projects in line with the business development
plans of the Group for the Board's approval.
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During the year under review, the attendance record of each Director
at the Board meetings, Board committee meetings and annual general
meeting is set out below:

HESRDE
Attendance of meetings
Z2RK
RRAEF RREEE
VN Safety and
Annual EVNEEE FMzEE REZZ8E Environmental
general - Audit Remuneration Nomination Protection
meeting Board Committee Committee Committee Committee
HITES Executive Directors
BHEE s Mr. Liu Yang*s7 17" 4/4 33 171 17 7N
IFIEE Mr. Wang Zijiang 11 44 - - - -
FBTES Non-executive Directors
Syt Mr. Liu Hongliang 11 444 13 - - -
BERFEAE Mr. Guo Yucheng 1/1 4/4 - - - -
BIFHTES Independent non-executive
Directors
PREFAE 6 Mr. Leung Kam Wan'#¢ 1/1 4/4 33 1/1 11 -
RERLEL S Mr. Gao Baoyu?*# 1/1 4/4 33 1/1 - 1/1
RSk E 36 Mr. Liu Chenguang?*6 1/1 4/4 33 1/1 11 -
EEE Management
FRELES Mr. Li Yuguo® - - - - - 1/1
F5E Notes:
1. BZEEgIRE 1. Chairman of the Audit Committee
2. BZEEEKE 2. Member of the Audit Committee
3. ¥MEEEERE 3. Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
4. HMEEEKE 4. Member of the Remuneration Committee
5. REZEEFRE 5. Chairman of the Nomination Committee
6. EHREEGKE 6.  Member of the Nomination Committee
7. TEKEBRREZEEGIERE 7. Chairman of the Safety and Environmental Protection Committee
8. RENRREZEEGKE 8. Member of the Safety and Environmental Protection Committee
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Board aims to present a balanced, clear and understandable
assessment of the Company’s performance, position and prospects
to Shareholders and the public pursuant to all types of statutory and
regulatory requirements.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the financial
statements of the Group in accordance with statutory requirements and
the applicable accounting standards. The Directors also acknowledge their
responsibilities to ensure that the financial statements for the Group are
published in a timely manner. The Directors’ and auditor’s responsibilities
in respect of the financial statements are set out in the “Independent
Auditor’s Report” on pages 49 to 54 of this report.

In addition, the Board has reviewed and considered the adequacy of
resources, qualifications and experience of staffs of the accounting and
financial reporting function of the Group and also considered the training
programs and budget during the year under review.

Monthly updates have been provided to the Board timely during the year
under review. Management is also required to provide detailed reports
and explanation to enable the Board to make an informed assessment
before approval of the Group’s financial statements.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board has overall responsibilities for the Group’s system of internal
control and maintaining a sound and effective internal control system
of the Group to safeguard the Group’s assets and the Shareholders’
investment.

The Board is also responsible for the overall risk management functions
of the Group. Risk management procedure has been set up and
implemented for the overall operations of the Group, which is in place
to provide a consistent approach on the risk management processes in
identification, assessment, treatment and reporting of all risks identified
that would affect key business activities.

The internal control and risk management systems of the Group comprise
a comprehensive organisational structure and delegation of authorities,
with responsibilities of each business and operational units clearly
defined and authorities assigned to individuals based on experience and
business needs. Systems have been designed to (i) help the achievement
of business objectives and safeguard assets against unauthorised use
and disposition; (ii) ensure compliance with relevant laws, rules and
regulations, and ensure proper maintenance of accounting records for
provision of reliable financial information used within the business or for
publication; and (iii) identify, manage and mitigate key risks to the Group.

The internal control and risk management systems of the Group are
established to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against
material misstatement or loss and to manage, but not to eliminate, risks
of failure in achieving the Group’s business objectives.
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INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

An internal audit department of the Group is established to ensure that
all internal control procedures, compliance controls procedures and risk
management measures and procedures are properly implemented. The
internal audit department of the Group is also formulating more control
measures to put in place and aims to establish more comprehensive
management systems so as to support the continuous business
development of the Group. The internal audit department of the
Group will report to the Board directly and periodically after performing
independent reviews and examinations on the risks associated with and
controls over various operations and activities within the Group and
evaluating their adequacy, effectiveness and compliance.

During the year under review, the internal audit department of the
Group performed internal control review and examination on the
investment activities in non-current assets of one of the subsidiaries of
the Company. The findings have been reported directly to the Board. The
general manager of the Company is responsible for making improvement
measures and implementing several recommendations suggested by the
internal audit department of the Group. The improvement progress on
these audit recommendations is followed up on a regular basis by internal
audit department to the Board's satisfaction.

The Directors will constantly review the internal control and risk
management systems of the Group at least annually to ensure the
systems remain sound and effective on an on-going basis. During the
year under review, the Directors had reviewed the effectiveness of
the internal control and risk management systems of the Group and
considered that they are effective and adequate. Besides, the executive
Directors participate in the monthly management meetings to review the
Group’s financial and operational procedures, fraud investigations (if any),
productivity efficiency and effectiveness etc., and/or meetings held as and
when required to address or rectify irregularities immediately.

In addition, pursuant to the employee handbook of the Group, employees
can report any ethical misconduct, impropriety or fraud cases within
the Group to the independent non-executive Directors or Chairman
anonymously in writing without fear of victimisation, subsequent
discrimination, disadvantage or dismissal.
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INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

The Board is responsible for the handling of the dissemination of inside
information and compliance of other financial disclosure requirements.
The Board is fully aware of its obligations under the Listing Rules and
the overriding principle that inside information of the Group should be
disclosed as soon as reasonably practicable. The Company has developed
an inside information disclosure policy with reference to the Guide on
Disclosure of Inside Information issued by the Securities and Futures
Commission. Any unauthorised use of confidential or inside information
is strictly prohibited under the inside information disclosure policy of the
Company. The inside information disclosure policy has also clearly defined
the procedures for responding to external enquiries about the Group’s
affairs and ensure the strict confidentiality of inside information prior to
its disclosure. Employees who are privy or have access to unpublished
inside information of the Group have also been notified on the adoption
of the Model Code by the Company and on observing the restrictions
pursuant to Parts Xlll and XIV of the SFO. The Board will review the inside
information disclosure policy regularly to make revisions or amendments
thereto, if necessary.

COMPLIANCE WITH MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its own code governing
securities transactions of the Directors. Each of the Directors has
confirmed, upon specific enquiry, his compliance with the Model Code
for the financial year ended 31 December 2019. The Company has
also adopted written guidelines on no less exacting terms than the
Model Code for the relevant employees. The Senior Management, who,
because of their office in the Group, is likely to be in possession of inside
information, has been requested to comply with the provisions of the
Model Code and the Company’s code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors. No incidents of non-compliance of the
employees’ written guidelines by the relevant employees were noted by
the Company during the year under review.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Right to convene extraordinary general meeting
(the”EGM")

Any one or more Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall
at all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the
Company Secretary, to require an EGM to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and such meeting
shall be held within two (2) months after the deposit of such requisition.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS (Continued)

Right to convene extraordinary general meeting
(the”EGM") (Continued)

The requisition must state the purposes of the meeting, and must be
signed by the requisitionist(s) and deposited to the Company Secretary
at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong, and may
consist of several documents in like form each signed by one or more
requisitionist(s).

If the request has been verified is not in order, the Shareholders making
the request will be advised of this outcome and accordingly, an EGM will
not be convened as requested.

If within twenty one (21) days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed
to convene such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may
do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed
to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Right to put enquiries to the Board

Shareholders have the right to put enquiries to the Board. All enquiries
must be in writing with contact information of the Shareholders and
deposited to the Company Secretary at the Company’s principal place of
business in Hong Kong.

Right to put forward proposals at general meetings

There are no provisions allowing Shareholders to move resolutions at
the general meetings other than a proposal of a person for election as
a Director under the Cayman Islands Companies Law (as amended from
time to time) or the Articles of Association. However, Shareholders may
suggest proposals by sending written requisition to the Board or the
Company Secretary following the procedures set out in the paragraph
headed "“Right to Convene Extraordinary General Meeting” above to
convene an EGM for any business specified in such written requisition.

Right to propose a person for election as a Director

Pursuant to article 88 of the Articles of Association, no person other
than a Director retiring at the meeting shall, unless recommended by the
Directors for election, be eligible for election as a Director at any general
meeting unless a written notice signed by a member of the Company
(other than the person to be proposed) duly qualified to attend and
vote at the meeting for which such notice is given of his intention to
propose such person for election and also a notice signed by the person
to be proposed of his willingness to be elected including that person’s
biographical details as required by rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules, shall
have been lodged at the Company Secretary at the Company’s principal
place of business in Hong Kong provided that the minimum length of
the period, during which such notice(s) are given, shall be at least seven
(7) days and that (if the notices are submitted after the dispatch of the
notice of the general meeting appointed for such election) the period for
lodgment of such notice(s) shall commence on the day after the dispatch
of the notice of the general meeting appointed for such election and end
no later than seven (7) days prior to the date of such general meeting.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS (Continued)
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers its annual general meeting as an important
channel for face-to-face dialogue with Shareholders. Either the Chairman
or the chairman of the Audit Committee would attend the annual general
meeting of the Company answering and explaining to Shareholders the
issues relating to the Group’s business strategies and financial results and
proposed resolutions at the general meeting. At the commencement
of the meeting, the chairman of the meeting will explain the detailed
procedures for conducting a poll and then answers any questions from
Shareholders regarding voting by way of a poll.

In addition, the Company also communicates to its Shareholder through
announcements, annual and interim reports. All such reports and
announcements can also be accessed via the Company’s website and the
website of the Stock Exchange. The Chairman and the investor relations
manager are the key spokespersons of the Company in all external
media communications and respond to inquiries from Shareholders and
investment community.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The annual fees payable to the independent auditor of the Company for
non-audit services and for audit services are subject to scrutiny by the
Audit Committee. The provision of non-audit services by the independent
auditor of the Company requires prior approval of Audit Committee so
as to ensure that the independence and objectivity of the independent
auditor of the Company will not be impaired. Details of the fees paid or
payable to the independent auditor of the Company for the financial year
ended 31 December 2019 are as follows:

Audit services HK$900,000
Non-audit services
Review of interim financial statements HK$100,000

On behalf of the Board
Liu Yang

Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 March 2020
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF TIANDE CHEMICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Tiande
Chemical Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together the “Group”) set out on pages 55 to 148, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2019,
and the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of cash flows and the
consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended, and
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2019, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the “Auditor's Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's “Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants” (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.

Impairment assessment of trade and bills receivable

Refer to note 41(iii)(c) and (d), and the Group’s critical accounting
estimates and judgements in relation to impairment of trade and bills
receivable set out in note 4(ix) to the consolidated financial statements.

Impairment assessment of trade and bills receivable is estimated based
on an expected credit losses (“ECLs"”) model under HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments. Loss allowance for trade and bills receivable are measured
with ECLs which result from all possible default events over the expected
life. Impairment assessment of trade and bills receivable is a subjective
area as management requires application of judgement. Judgement
is applied in considering the credit history including default or delay
in payments, settlement records, subsequent settlements and ageing
analysis of trade and bills receivable, adjusted for forward-looking factors
specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had trade and bills receivable
amounting to RMB290,004,000 (note 20). Allowance for impairment
amounting to RMB4,068,000 (note 41(iii)(c)) had been made over these
balances.

We have identified impairment assessment of trade and bills receivable as
a key audit matter because of its significance to the consolidated financial
statements and considerable amount of judgement being required
in conducting impairment assessment prepared by management as
mentioned in the foregoing paragraph.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)
Our responses:

Our audit procedures in relation to management’s impairment assessment
of trade and bills receivable included:

- Obtaining an understanding of how impairment is estimated by the
management;

- Assessing the measurement of ECLs of trade and bills receivable
by obtaining the understanding of approach being adopted by the
Group;

- Testing the ageing analysis of trade and bills receivables, on a
sample basis, to the source documents;

- Reviewing the reasonableness of the use of ageing profile, historical
settlement pattern, historical default rates, forecast economic
conditions and forward-looking information in the ECLs model; and

- Checking the accuracy and the relevance of the input data used in
the ECLs model.

OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the Company’s annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and
our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.
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DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process. The Audit Committee assists the directors in
discharging their responsibility in this regard.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with the terms of our engagement, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.



?%j%gﬂﬁdi%ﬁ%%éﬂﬁ%i&%%ﬁ%ﬂ@%&
EREEBERALES %.ﬁrﬁ’]%ﬂ G
EBRERAE  YRETEREREE

, A
=i

o BRINFHERMFEREERMETRA MR
REABAHREAH AR - Rt RAITE
FHEFFARIEZ R - ARERTE R AE
*m%#%% ERESBERNER - AN

BRI R ER - B BERER  ER
@Lyﬁ“m$?¢m|ﬂ F U AR BE IR
IR M S 2 B K # R Y B m R R
REEIR AR ME B E AR R -

o THREZREBNAREE  URUAR
MBI ﬁl#a&ﬂ EK.W%
EEMARERER

o FMAEFERANSIERRELRE  UKE
FEHOSEANEAREERAE -

s HEERARELLSHEERTREFDL
i WARBPTERNENRE  BERS
FHEEREERY ESENRERLLREN
EABEARBENFELBENEGHENEATH
BIRE - MESREFEEATHBREE
AIESERLEERBERERRBERET
BRAMBHRRPOEERE - ﬁﬁ@ﬁ@
TR BEFTESMER - BENE® Y
REEZ AR E B H PTG W%JE
& o A RRFEXBRAAUESEH &
=SE . ﬁ/ii:i i" £<<< M

o HERAMBHmRMNEBE2HAIN  BEBR
WE(@%&E%M)U&mQ%%ﬁ%E
BRERRBEXHMER -

e i BEXEANEBIEHADNYBEERE
It MBS NERE - WEHREME
BRBEXEBER - BFRAEREEANTH
EBMAT - BEFNABABERAEZE
£

o a8

SHEZZE e (AT BRE) Bt af
BT REARARRETER  RFER
BEEETBRETEANABEENEIMNEX

pul
%ﬂ

o

BB AR E
Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional

judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

We also:

o identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

o conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

o evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

o obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

Annual Report 2019 Tiande Chemical Holdings Limited @
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law
or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits
of such communication.

BDO Limited

Certified Public Accountants
Au Yiu Kwan

Practising Certificate Number P05018

Hong Kong, 27 March 2020
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Consolidated Income Statement
HE-_ZT—NF+=-A=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

—E-hE —E=— N\
2019 2018
BaE ARETT AREET T
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
S Revenue 6 1,381,138 1,179,300
HENRA Cost of sales (1,195,751) (1,114,146)
EX Gross profit 185,387 65,154
H AU AR ES Other income and gains 6 6,820 22,415
HEYEEGIEE Revaluation gain on investment properties 15 1,400 2,100
HERX Selling expenses (50,830) (52,573)
THREMEERS Administrative and other operating expenses (124,899) (88,730)
BARS R AR Finance costs 7 (4,206) (4,628)
SRR Impairment loss on goodwill 16 - (17,668)
HERTB A TS Gain on disposal of a subsidiary 38(a) 41,565 =
FEUR BT FT /B A Bl 5RIA R Impairment loss on amounts due
REREE from a former subsidiary 38(b) (24,720) =
BRFrERARF], (B#) Profit/(Loss) before income tax 8 30,517 (73,930)
5 (%) /K% Income tax (expense)/credit 9 (18,870) 5,214
REFERERN (BR) Profit/(Loss) for the year 11,647 (68,716)
(LA EERR, (B518) © Profit/(Loss) for the year
attributable to:
RAREEEA Owners of the Company 21,507 (61,058)
FEPE IR Non-controlling interests (9,860) (7,658)
11,647 (68,716)
METEARNFHEA AR Earnings/(Loss) per share for
FEEHEN, (BB) M=E2  profit/loss) attributable to owners
SRAEF (EE) of the Company for the year
- BRRs — Basic and diluted 12 AR®0.025t AR®(0.072) 7T
RMBO0.025 RMB(0.072)

Annual Report 2019 Tiande Chemical Holdings Limited @
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
HE-ZT—NF+=-A=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

—E-hE —E-N\F
2019 2018
AR%T R ARETIT
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
REERR, (EE) Profit/(Loss) for the year 11,647 (68,716)
Hih 2 E W Other comprehensive income
HEWREFS2ES Items that may be reclassified subsequently
Wk 2IER - to the income statement:
WMEGINEISRIIERR 2 Exchange loss on translation of
b H E5i8 financial statements of foreign operations 211) (226)
AFEEHMEERER Other comprehensive income for the year (211) (226)
AEERHEIKNFHELE Total comprehensive income for the year 11,436 (68,942)
EiEAREEZERE Total comprehensive income for the year
#azEg . attributable to:
ZIN/NETEZ =N Owners of the Company 21,430 (61,030)
eI Non-controlling interests (9,994) (7,912)
11,436 (68,942)

@ RECTERRARAF —E-NEER
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
R-ZZE—NFE+=-HA=+—H As at 31 December 2019

—E-hE —E-N\F
2019 2018
bz ARETR AREET T
Notes RMB’'000 RMB’'000
BEERGE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
EREEE Non-current assets
W% - WE NEE Property, plant and equipment 13 1,108,946 964,300
BESAE Right-of-use assets 37 75,427 =
TEf T EFKIE Prepaid land lease payments 14 - 60,742
A Investment properties 15 23,900 22,500
I EE Intangible asset 17 13,979 15,783
BEME  WER Deposits paid for acquisition of
REZEMRTE property, plant and equipment 29,130 14,093
FEETIIBE 2= Deferred tax assets 18 27,419 33,291
1,278,801 1,110,709
REBEE Current assets
FE Inventories 19 102,406 139,261
B Z RN MR EE Trade and bills receivable 20 290,004 306,517
TERIE R EMEWSIAE  Prepayments and other receivables 21 63,451 83,050
BNEATR IR & = Current tax assets 3,300 =
BHEBRITIFR Pledged bank deposits 22 6,902 2,691
HR1T IR B AR Bank and cash balances 23 164,505 49,105
630,568 580,624
REBEE Current liabilities
B SRR KN RIR Trade and bills payable 24 44,443 45,040
JEN ARERR R EAFER  Accruals and other payables
A 25 267,405 204,923
BHEE Contract liabilities 26 15,803 6,917
RERREERE Provision for legal claims 21(b) - 17,141
RITER Bank borrowings 27 170,000 20,000
RE— R IR R E R Advances from a non-controlling
shareholder 28 5,682 5,546
KB &RIER A BIRIE R Advances from the ultimate
holding company 29 64,659 67,801
mEFIEAE Current tax liabilities 10,415 1,653
578,407 369,021
REBEEFE Net current assets 52,161 211,603
REERRBERE Total assets less current liabilities 1,330,962 1,322,312

Annual Report 2019 Tiande Chemical Holdings Limited e
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
RZZE—HE+=-HA=+—H As at 31 December 2019

—E-NEF —E-)N\F
2019 2018
BfsE AR¥T AREFIT
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
FRBARE Non-current liabilities
PFEIEUT A Deferred income 30 6,473 7,775
FERIEE R Deferred tax liabilities 18 20,653 22,137
27,126 29,912
EERE Net assets 1,303,836 1,292,400
= EQUITY
& Share capital 31 7,831 7,831
e Reserves 32 1,284,717 1,263,287
AABEE AELER Equity attributable to
the Company’s owners 1,292,548 1,271,118
FEFE R = Non-controlling interests 11,288 21,282
e Total equity 1,303,836 1,292,400

E5SE IS ENGANBREEN - F-FF=
A=+ RAEAAREERIEL RS - T
UTREHE

o
LIU YANG
EF

Director

@ RECTERRARAF —E-NEER

The consolidated financial statements on pages 55 to 148 were approved
and authorised for issue by the board of directors of the Company on 27
March 2020 and are signed on its behalf by:

EFFI

WANG ZUIANG

EF

Director
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
HE-_ZT—NF+=-A=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

—E-hE —E-N\F
2019 2018
Bt AR%TR AREEFTT
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
REEEELE ZIHSMRE  Cash flows from operating activities
BRETISELATEN, (E5#8)  Profit/(Loss) before income tax 30,517 (73,930)
Bt NHISIBEFE Adjustments for:
RITHBUA Bank interest income 6 (1,026) (1,676)
MERX Interest expenses 7 4,206 4,628
& E R Amortisation of right-of-use assets 8 1,479 =
FE{f £t 7R & FROE 8 Amortisation of prepaid land lease payments 8 - 1,679
A E R Amortisation of an intangible asset 8 1,804 1,803
e Depreciation 8 108,227 99,945
EEU AR [D Release of deferred income 6 (1,302) (3,931)
Mo ErR FIRFE Reversal of write-down of inventories
F & o5 to net realisable value, net 8 (2,810) (3,761)
W - B MR Write-off of property, plant and equipment 8 34,847 23,538
T 1t A0 & SR IE 8 Write-off of prepaid land lease payments 8 - 421
KBy HESHIEE Revaluation gain on investment properties 15 (1,400) (2,100)
FEU AT BB A B Impairment loss on amounts due from
FIEHREEE a former subsidiary 38(b) 24,720 -
HEW B AR Gain on disposal of a subsidiary 38(a) (41,565) =
B SR REEE Impairment losses on trade receivables 8 3,759 3,822
EIE R EEE Impairment loss on goodwill 16 - 17,668
HEWE - BE RRMEEIE Loss on disposals of property,
plant and equipment 8 1 556
EBESEBAT &R Operating profit before working capital changes 161,457 68,662
FERAD Decrease in inventories 23,790 43,026
ZHREWHR - FEWZHE - Decrease/(Increase) in trade, bills
i S EYSSELN] and other receivables and prepayments
AR, (35h0) 20,978 (17,694)
B EMER - FENZHE - Increase/(Decrease) in trade, bills
B th A< RIE SR FE LSS and other payables and accruals
RFERFIEN, CRD) 39,364 (68,087)
=Ll Increase in contract liabilities 8,886 6,917
REEIFFTSIRE Cash generated from operations 254,475 32,824
BFEH Income taxes paid (9,325) (16,057)
AR s EE A > 35 FEE  Net cash generated from operating activities 245,150 16,767
REXBEEE2HERE  Cash flows from investing activities
BEYE  WEREE Purchases of property, plant and equipment (240,062) (77,565)
BEEEFAE Purchases of right-of-use assets 37 (29,600) =
HEWE - BEKREZMEZ  Proceeds on disposals of property,
FRS s8R plant and equipment 104 171
BEBIRITIF (Increase)/Decrease in pledged bank deposits
(gm) Ed (4,868) 31,527
B FE Interest received 1,026 1,676
HEME AR Net cash inflow from disposal of a subsidiary
WeMNFE 38(a) 986 =
REZFATHZ HE2F8  Net cash used in investing activities (272,414) (44,191)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
HE-ZT—NF+=-A=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

—E-hF —E)N\F
2019 2018
LhEz ARETR ARETTT
Notes RMB’'000 RMB’'000
BMEXBEEE2HSRE  Cash flows from financing activities
BRRE Dividend paid 11/40 - (7,183)
BRFLE Interest paid 40 (2,659) (4,338)
BEIRITER Repayments of bank borrowings 40 (20,000) (196,440)
iR 1T New bank borrowings raised 40 170,000 20,000
REREIEIARIEFK  Advances from the ultimate holding company 40 15,000 67,452
EESRIER AR FRIE Repayment to the ultimate holding company 40 (20,000) =
L EFEL (/)2 Net cash generated from/(used in)
B FEE financing activities 142,341 (120,509)
BeMReEEER Net increase/(decrease) in cash
#hn, CRid) B58 and cash equivalents 115,077 (147,933)
FHzReMREEMEHAR Cash and cash equivalents
at beginning of year 49,105 194,590
SNEDE R B Eh 2 o B Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 323 2,448
FRZI[E MRS E@EAR Cash and cash equivalents
at end of year 164,505 49,105
HeRESEEER Analysis of balances of
SRR cash and cash equivalents
R1T RIR T R Bank and cash balances 23 164,505 49,105

@ REBCTERRERAR -
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
HE-_ZT—NF+=-A=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

ARTHEAERS
Attributable to owners of the Company
A
4] IS EXff  BRE
MEE  EMEE  NHE  Foreign fif FGER
KA RARE BHBE  Suplus  Property  Public cumency  Share  HftRE  REEA Non-
Share Share  Special  reserve revaluation  welfare translation option Other  Retained &t controlling Total
capital  premium  reserve fund  reserve fund  reserve  reserve  reserve profits Total interests equity

AERTR ARRTR ARRBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARMTR ARMTR ARWTZ ARMTn ARMTR ARBTR ARETR ARET:R
RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBO00  RMBO00  RMBOOD RMBOO0 RMBOOO RMBOOO  RMB000  RMBO00  RMB000  RMBO00  RMB'000

(H&E32(a) (KEE32) (HEE32(0) (faE32(d)) (Watsale)) (RfsE3a(f) (Af&E32(g)
(note 32(a) (note 32(b)) (note 32(c) (note 32(d)) (note 32(e)) (note 32(f)) (note 32(g))
RZB-n% Balance at 1 January 2019

-A-REsH 7831 11482 31182 68,338 1,653 633 (4,844) 5,255 69,065 977,183 121,118 21,82 1,292,400
R RE Forfeit of share options (note 33)

(M33) - - - - - - - (549) - 549 - - -
BEEARS Transactions with owners - - - - - - - (549) - 549 - - -
REESR/ (B8)  Profit/(Loss) for the year - - - - - - - - - U507 U507 (9860) 11,647
Rth2 AN Other comprehensive income
REBER Exchange loss on translation of

AhaERL financialstatements of

EXER foreign operations - - - - - - M) - - - ) (134) @n)
AR Transfer of reserve (note) - - - - - - - - 21059%  (210,59) - - -
REE Total comprehensive income

2ENREE for the year - - - - - - (77) - 2105%  (189,089) 21,430 (9,994) 11,436
RZB-1E Balance at 31 December 2019

TZR=1-H

3 7831 114,822 31,182 68,338 1,653 633 (4,921 4706 279,661 788,643 1,292,548 11,288 1,303,836
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mEERgER
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
HE-ZT—NF+=-A=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

NG N
Attributable to owners of the Company
bk
NEE  Efif DEE Foreign e SHEGlER

BE RDEE  BAEE  Supls  Property Public  currency Share Rt REEA Non- iR

Share Share Special reserve  revaluation  welfare  translation option Other ~ Retained A3 controling Total

capital - premium Teserve fund reserve fund Teserve Teserve Teserve profits Total interests equity

NRBTL ARETR ARETR ARMTR ARMTR ARETR ARETR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTRT ARMTR ARETT ARBTR
RMB000  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB000  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
(MizE326) (ME30) (HE320) (M) (Ma3e) (eesad) (sE3)
(note 32(a))  (note 32(0))  (note 32(c)) (note 32(d)) (note 32(e))  (note 32(f))  (note 32(g)

R=B-N\% Balance at 1 January 2018
-f-R&R 7831 11482 3118 68338 1,653 633 (4872) 5410 - 1114334 1339331 29194 1,368,525
RERE Forfeit of share options (note 33)
(HE33) - - - - - - - (155) - 155 - - -
BRZE-tE 2017 final dividend paid (note 11)
RERE
(Riz11) - - - - - - - - VAT AT - 18
BEEARS Transactions with owners - - - - - - - (155) = (1028  (7183) = (71.183)
REERR Loss for the year - - - - - - - - - (61058 (61,058  (7658)  (68,716)
A2 Ak Other comprehensive income
BERINEH Exchange gainfloss) on translation
gt of financial statements
EibE/ (BE)  of foreign operations - - - - - - 28 - - - 8 (254) (226)
fEEn (M) Transfer of reserve (note) - - - - - - - - 69065 (69,065 = = =
FEERENE Total comprehensive income
ag for the year - - - - - - 8 - 69065 (130123 (61,030) (7912 (6894
R=B-NE Balance at 31 December 2018
t-B=t-A
3 7831 114,822 31,182 68338 1,653 633 (4,844) 5255 69,065 977,183 1271118 21,28 1,292,400

ML R MR (CZ2E-N\F  —FK) R EARKMN
([hE]) KZH2ERBAREKREENE

AR INE FEME A - .

Q RECTERRARAF —E-NEER

registered capital during the year.

Note: Two wholly-owned subsidiaries (2018: one) established in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC") capitalised its retained profits to increase its
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Notes to the Financial Statements

—E—NF+=A=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

GENERAL INFORMATION

Tiande Chemical Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company
with limited liability under the Companies Law of Cayman Islands.
The address of its registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, PO. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands.
The Company’s shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

On 27 June 2019, Shanghai Dehong Chemical Co. Ltd (“Shanghai
Dehong”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into a disposal agreement with an independent third party
(the “Purchaser”) pursuant to which Shanghai Dehong agreed
to sell entire equity interests in Jiangsu Chunxiao Pharmaceutical
& Chemical Co. Ltd. (“Jiangsu Chunxiao”), an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, which is principally engaged
in manufacturing and sale of fine chemical products, at a cash
consideration of RMB990,000 (the “Disposal”). The Disposal was
completed on 28 June 2019 (the “Disposal Date”). Other than
stated as above, there were no significant changes in the Group’s
operations during the year. The principal activity of the Company
is investment holding. The principal activities of the Company’s
subsidiaries are set out in note 35.

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) consider the
ultimate holding company of the Group to be Cheerhill Group
Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (the
“BVI").

The functional currency of the Company is Hong Kong Dollars
("HK$"). The financial statements are presented in Renminbi
("RMB") because the main operations of the Group are located
in the PRC. All values are rounded to the nearest thousand except
when otherwise stated.

The financial statements on pages 55 to 148 have been prepared
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") which collective term includes all applicable individual
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”), Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKAS"”) and Interpretations issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA")
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. The consolidated financial statements also include the
applicable disclosure requirements of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange.

Annual Report 2019 Tiande Chemical Holdings Limited @
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Notes to the Financial Statements

HE-ZT—NF+=-A=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2019
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ADOPTION OF NEW OR AMENDED HKFRSs

In the current year, the Group has applied for the first time
the following new standards, amendments and interpretations
("new or amended HKFRSs"”) issued by the HKICPA, which are
relevant to and effective for the Group’s financial statements
for the annual period beginning on 1 January 2019.

HKFRS 16 Leases

HK(IFRIC) — Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax

Treatments

Amendments to HKAS 12,
Income Taxes

Annual Improvements
to HKFRSs
2015-2017 Cycle

Amendments to HKAS 23,
Borrowing Costs

Annual Improvements
to HKFRSs
2015-2017 Cycle

The impact of the adoption of HKFRS 16 Leases have been
summarised in below. The other new or amended HKFRSs
stated above that are relevant to and effective from 1 January
2019 did not have any significant impact on the Group’s
accounting policies.

Impacts and changes in accounting policies of
application of HKFRS 16 — Leases

HKFRS 16 supersedes HKAS 17 Leases ("HKAS 17"),
HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 Determining whether an arrangement
contains a Lease, HK(SIC)-Int15 Operating Leases — Incentives
and HK(SIC)-Int 27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions
Involving the Legal Form of a Lease. The standard sets out the
principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and
disclosure of leases, and requires lessees to account for all
leases under a single on-balance sheet model.

Lessor accounting under HKFRS 16 is substantially unchanged
from HKAS 17. Lessors continues to classify leases as either
operating or finance leases using similar principles as in HKAS
17. Therefore, HKFRS 16 did not have an impact for leases
where the Group is the lessor.
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Impacts and changes in accounting policies of
application of HKFRS 16 — Leases (Continued)

The Group adopted HKFRS 16 using modified retrospective
method of adoption with the date of initial application of 1
January 2019. Under this method, the standard is applied
retrospectively with the cumulative effect of initially applying
the standard recognised at the date of initial application as
an adjustment to the opening balance of retained profits as
at 1 January 2019. Accordingly, the comparative information
presented in 2018 is not restated and continues to be
reported under HKAS 17 and related interpretations as
allowed by the transition provision in HKFRS 16.

(i)  Leases previously accounted for as operating leases and
the accounting policy under HKFRS 16

The Group has lease contracts for certain office premises
and certain lands. Before the adoption of HKFRS 16,
the Group classified each of its leases (as lessee) at
the inception date as an operating lease. A lease was
classified as a finance lease if it transferred substantially
all of the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of
the leased asset to the Group; otherwise it was classified
as an operating lease. In an operating lease, the leased
property was not capitalised and the lease payments
were recognised as rent expense or amortisation
expenses in profit or loss on a straight line basis over
the lease term. Any prepaid rent and accrued rent
were recognised under prepaid land lease payments or
prepayment and accruals respectively. Upon adoption of
HKFRS 16, the Group applied a single recognition and
measurement approach for all leases, except for lease
contracts with a lease term of 12 months or less or ends
within 12 months of the date of initial application and
do not contain a purchase option (“short-term leases”).
The standard provides specific transition requirements
and practical expedients, which have been applied by
the Group.
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2.

ADOPTION OF NEW OR AMENDED HKFRSs
(Continued)

Impacts and changes in accounting policies of
application of HKFRS 16 — Leases (Continued)

(i)

Leases previously accounted for as operating leases and
the accounting policy under HKFRS 16 (Continued)

Right-of-use assets

The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the
commencement date of the lease (i.e. the date the
underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets
are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation
or amortisation and impairment losses, and adjusted
for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost
of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease
liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and
lease payments made at or before the commencement
date less any lease incentives received. Unless the Group
is reasonably certain to obtain ownership of the leased
assets at the end of the lease terms, the recognised
right-of-use assets are depreciated or amoritsed on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful
lives and the lease terms. Right-of-use assets are subject
to impairment. For right-of-use assets that meets the
definition of an investment property, it is carried at fair
value.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of the leases, the Group
recognises lease liabilities measured at the present value
of lease payments to be made over the lease terms.
The lease payments include fixed payments (including
in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable, variable lease payments that depend on
an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid
under residual value guarantees. The lease payments
also include the exercise price of a purchase option
reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to
terminate.

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit
in the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced
for the lease payments made.
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EREBMBEREEAE 167 HE] Impacts and changes in accounting policies of
ESETBRNTFERES (&) application of HKFRS 16 — Leases (Continued)
() NEERGEEHEARNEERS () Leases previously accounted for as operating leases and
BTSSRI E 16 R EETIN the accounting policy under HKFRS 16 (Continued)
% (&)
HEAE (&) Lease liabilities (Continued)
Ltoh - B EeR - HEEE - &' In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is
BEEHEMNRE( N EERA remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the
BEMMNGEE  HEAEMNER lease term, a change in the in-substance fixed lease
HEZEHE - payments or a change in the assessment to purchase
the underlying asset.

EHEE Short-term leases

AEECHERAEHHEER
REe - MHABENHEERNKE
HHANREREERARER -

BEERNERERES X
EREAEBUBHRELLE 1655

The Group has applied the short-term leases recognition
exemption to leases. Lease payments on short-term
leases are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis
over the lease terms.

Transitions requirement and practical expedients
The Group used the following practical expedients

REZOBAE LG LERF 17
FRER (BARBERERER
Bg) - 2BE4% (BE—ET
HELERaHE] rEREHEE

MHER  AREFERNLTER

when applying HKFRS 16 to leases previously classified
as operating leases under HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4
Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease.

EEE
- BETEEBMBEmMEE —  Elected not to apply the requirements in

BIZE 165758 CSERM ESK
AR Es XEAAH
B1R2EAARBRNEE -
BT - AEARE

paragraph HKFRS16.C8 to leases for which the
lease term ends within 12 months of the date of
initial application. In this case, a lessee:

() WEBFBEHRELEL () accounts for those leases in the same way as
F16RFEORFTM - short-term leases as described in paragraph
VA BB %G HAFH S AR R &Y HKFRS16.6; and

FTAHZEREETT
BERIE R

(i) HBHHEZEHEERBD (i) includes the cost associated with those
X AN B 5 1E 3R ER leases within the disclosure of short-term

(BREERERBHE) lease expense in the reporting period that
WEHEEERAEKE includes the date of initial application.
m o
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2.

ADOPTION OF NEW OR AMENDED HKFRSs
(Continued)

Impacts and changes in accounting policies of
application of HKFRS 16 — Leases (Continued)

(ii)

Impacts on transition at 1 January 2019

As a result of initially applying the modified retrospective
method under HKFRS 16, in relation to the leases that
were previously classified as operating leases applying
HKAS 17, the Group recognised RMB62,409,000 of
right-of-use assets as at 1 January 2019. Right-of-use
assets were recognised based on the amount equal to
the lease liabilities, adjusted for any related prepaid and
accrued lease payments previously recognised.

No lease liabilities as at 1 January 2019 were recognised
for leases previously classified as operating leases
applying HKAS 17 since all leases, excepted for prepaid
land lease payments, are defined as short-term leases
with applying the practical expedient under HKFRS 16.

The following table summarised the impact of transition
to HKFRS 16 on consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2018 to that as at 1 January
2019 as follows (increase/(decrease)):

Consolidated statement of financial position as at

BikRER 1 January 2019
AR¥T T
RMB’000
BEFAE Right-of-use assets 62,409
TEfS A EFRIE Prepaid land lease payments (60,742)
T FRIB AN E A B SR IE Prepayments and other receivables (1,667)

“E-NEFFR

@ REBCTERRERAR
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2. ADOPTION OF NEW OR AMENDED HKFRSs
(Continued)

(@) New or amended standards adopted by the
Group (Continued)

Impacts and changes in accounting policies of
application of HKFRS 16 — Leases (Continued)
(i)  Impacts on transition at 1 January 2019 (Continued)

The following table reconciles the operating lease
commitments as at 31 December 2018 to the opening
balance for lease liabilities recognised as at 1 January

ERETAR 2019:
ReHERIEHEEEEENHIER Reconciliation of operating lease commitments to
lease liabilities
AR®TT
RMB’'000
RZZE—N\F+=-A=+—H Operating lease commitments as at 31 December 2018
RS E A 1,872
B B E R E R B HP Less: commitments relating to short-term leases
2 5SS HAMH E AR 2 A at date of initial application (1,872)

RZZE—h&E—HA—H
ZHEHERE

Total lease liabilities as at 1 January 2019

(i) BE-Z—h&E+-A=+—~
i moneE
AR EAEFAREABERER
EBHFIT -

(iii)  Impacts for the year ended 31 December 2019

Movements of the carrying amounts of the Group'’s
right-of-use assets during the year are set out below:

AR¥ET T

RMB’000

R=Z-NF—HA—H As at 1 January 2019 62,409
& Additions 29,600
F Y Amortisation during the year (1,479)
HEWBAR (FIFE38(a)) Disposal of a subsidiary (note 38(a)) (15,103)
M=ZF—NE+=-A=+—H Asat31December 2019 75,427
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ADOPTION OF NEW OR AMENDED HKFRSs
(Continued)

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 — Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments

The Interpretation supports the requirements of HKAS 12,
Income Taxes, by providing guidance over how to reflect the
effects of uncertainty in accounting for income taxes. Under
the Interpretation, the entity shall determine whether to
consider each uncertain tax treatment separately or together
based on which approach better predicts the resolution of
the uncertainty. The entity shall also assume the tax authority
will examine amounts that it has a right to examine and have
full knowledge of all related information when making those
examinations. If the entity determines it is probable that the
tax authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment, then the
entity should measure current and deferred tax in line with
its tax filings. If the entity determines it is not probable, then
the uncertainty in the determination of tax is reflected using
either the “most likely amount” or the “expected value”
approach, whichever better predicts the resolution of the
uncertainty.

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle -
Amendments to HKAS 12, Income Taxes

The amendments issued under the annual improvements
process make small, non-urgent changes to standards where
they are currently unclear. They include amendments to
HKAS 12 which clarify that all income tax consequences of
dividends are recognised consistently with the transactions
that generated the distributable profits, either in profit or loss,
other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle -
Amendments to HKAS 23, Borrowing Costs

The amendments issued under the annual improvements
process make small, non-urgent changes to standards where
they are currently unclear. They include amendments to HKAS
23 which clarifies that a borrowing made specifically to obtain
a qualifying asset which remains outstanding after the related
qualifying asset is ready for its intended use or sale would
become part of the funds an entity borrows generally and
therefore included in the general pool.
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The following new or amended HKFRSs, potentially relevant
to the Group’s financial statements, have been issued, but
are not yet effective and have not been early adopted by
the Group. The Group’s current intention is to apply these
changes on the date they become effective.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Definition of material’
and HKAS 8

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2020

The Group is not yet in a position to state whether these
amendments will result in substantial changes to the Group’s
accounting policies and financial statements.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The significant accounting policies that have been used in
the preparation of these financial statements are summarised
below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the
years presented unless otherwise stated. The adoption of new
or amended HKFRSs and the impacts on the Group’s financial
statements, if any, are disclosed in note 2.

The financial statements have been prepared on historical
cost convention except for investment properties and bills
receivable which are stated at fair values. The measurement
bases are fully described in the accounting policies below.

It should be noted that accounting estimates and assumptions
are used in preparation of the financial statements. Although
these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge
and judgement of current events and actions, actual results
may ultimately differ from those estimates. The areas involving
a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial
statements, are disclosed in note 4.
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The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
made up to 31 December each year.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which
control is transferred to the Group. They are excluded from
consolidation from the date that control ceases.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains
and losses on transactions between group companies are
eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
Where unrealised losses on intra-group asset sales are
reversed on consolidation, the underlying asset is also tested
for impairment from the Group’s perspective. Amounts
reported in the financial statements of subsidiaries have been
adjusted where necessary to ensure consistency with the
accounting policies adopted by the Group.

Acquisition of subsidiaries or businesses is accounted for using
acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is measured
at the aggregate of the acquisition-date fair value of assets
transferred, liabilities incurred and equity interests issued by
the Group, as the acquirer. The identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed are principally measured at acquisition-
date fair value. The Group’s previously held equity interest in
the acquiree is re-measured at acquisition-date fair value and
the resulting gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss.
The Group may elect, on a transaction-by-transaction basis,
to measure non-controlling interests that represent present
ownership interests in the subsidiary either at fair value or
at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. Acquisition-related costs incurred are expensed unless
they are incurred in issuing equity instruments in which case
the costs are deducted from equity.

Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-
controlling interests is the amount of those interests at initial
recognition plus non-controlling interests’ share of subsequent
changes in equity. Total comprehensive income is attributed to
non-controlling interests even if this results in non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.
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A subsidiary is an investee over which the Group is able to
exercise control. The Group controls an investee if all three of
the following elements are present: power over the investee,
exposure, or rights, to variable returns from the investee, and
the ability to use its power to affect those variable returns.
Control is reassessed whenever facts and circumstances
indicate that there may be a change in any of these elements
of control.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, investments
in subsidiaries are carried at cost less any impairment loss
unless the subsidiary is held for sale or included in a disposal
group. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the
Company on the basis of dividends received and receivable.

In the individual financial statements of the consolidated
entities, foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency of the individual entity using the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the
reporting date, monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign exchange
rates ruling at that date. Foreign exchange gains and losses
resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from
the reporting date retranslation of monetary assets and
liabilities are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on
the date when the fair value was determined and are reported
as part of the fair value gain or loss. Non-monetary items that
are measured at historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

In the consolidated financial statements, all individual financial
statements of foreign operations, originally presented in a
currency different from the Group's presentation currency,
have been converted into RMB. Assets and liabilities have
been translated into RMB at the closing rates at the reporting
date. Income and expenses have been converted into RMB
at the exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates, or at
the average rates over the reporting period provided that the
exchange rates do not fluctuate significantly. Any differences
arising from this procedure have been recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated separately in the
foreign currency translation reserve in equity.

When a foreign operation is disposed, such exchange
differences are reclassified from equity to profit or loss as part
of the gain or loss on disposal.
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Property, plant and equipment (other than construction
in progress (“CIP")) are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of an asset
comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable cost
of bringing the asset to the working condition and location
for its intended use.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. All other costs, such as repairs and
maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the financial
period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is provided to
write off the cost less their estimated residual values, if any,
over their estimated useful lives, using straight-line method,
at the following rates per annum:

Buildings 4.5%-5% or the lease term,
whichever is shorter
20% or the lease term,
whichever is shorter

Leasehold improvements

Plant and machinery 6%-10%
Motor vehicles 18%-19%
Furniture, fixtures and office equipment 18%-30%

CIP represents leasehold buildings and plant and machinery
under construction, which is stated at cost less any
impairment losses. Cost comprises direct cost of construction
as well as borrowing costs capitalised during the periods of
construction and installation. Capitalisation of these costs
ceases and the construction is transferred to the appropriate
class of property, plant and equipment when substantially all
the activities necessary to prepare the assets for their intended
use are completed. No depreciation is provided for in respect
of CIP until it is completed and ready for its intended use.

The assets’ estimated residual values, depreciation method
and estimated useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at each reporting date.

Gain or loss arising on retirement or disposal is determined as
the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss on
disposal.
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Upfront payments made to acquire land held under
an operating lease are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any impairment losses. The determination
if an arrangement is or contains a lease and the lease is
an operating lease is detailed in note 3(n)B. Amortisation
is calculated on straight-line method over the term of the
lease/right of use except where an alternative basis is more
representative of the time pattern of benefits to be derived by
the Group from use of the land.

Prepaid land lease payments comprise a portion that is
held to earn rentals and the other portion that is held for
administrative purpose. As the portion held to earn rentals
cannot be sold separately and is insignificant, it is classified as
prepaid land lease payments rather than investment property.

Investment properties are land and/or buildings which are
owned or held under a leasehold interest to earn rental
income and/or for capital appreciation. These include land
held for a currently undetermined future use and property
that is being constructed or developed for future use as
investment property.

When the Group holds a property interest under an operating
lease to earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation,
the interest is classified and accounted for as an investment
property on a property-by-property basis. Any such property
interest which has been classified as an investment property is
accounted for as if it were held under a finance lease.

On initial recognition, investment property is measured
at cost, including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, it is stated at fair value,
unless it is still in the course of construction or development
at the reporting date and its fair value cannot be reliably
determined at that time. Fair value is determined by an
independent valuation firm, with sufficient experience with
respect to both the location and the nature of the investment
property. The carrying amounts recognised at the reporting
date reflect the prevailing market conditions at the reporting
date.

Gains or losses arising from either changes in fair value or the

sale of an investment property are included in profit or loss in
the period in which they arise.
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Cost associated with research activities are expensed in profit
or loss as they occur. Costs that are directly attributable to
development activities are capitalised provided they meet the
following recognition requirement:

(i)  demonstration of technical feasibility of the prospective
product for internal use or sale;

(i) there is intention to complete the product and use or
sell it;

(iii)  the Group’s ability to use or sell the product is
demonstrated,;

(iv)  the product will generate probable economic benefits
through internal use or sale;

(v)  sufficient technical, financial and other resources are
available for completion; and

(vi)  the expenditure attributable to the product can be
reliably measured.

Direct costs include employee costs incurred on development
activities along with an appropriate portion of relevant
overheads. The costs of development of internally generated
software, products or knowhow that meet the above
recognition criteria are capitalised. Capitalised development
costs are amortised over the periods the Group expects to
benefit from selling the products developed. Amortisation
expense is recognised in profit or loss and included in cost of
sales.

All other development costs are expensed as incurred.

(a) Financial assets

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without
a significant financing component) is initially measured
at fair value plus, for an item not at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVTPL"), transaction costs that are
directly attributable to its acquisition or issue. A trade
receivable without a significant financing component is
initially measured at the transaction price.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(a)

Financial assets (Continued)

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date
that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the
period generally established by regulation or convention
in the market place.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are
considered in their entirely when determining whether
their cash flows are solely payment of principal and
interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends
on the Group’s business model for managing the asset
and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There
are two measurement categories into which the Group
classifies its debt instruments:

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest are measured
at amortised cost. These are subsequently measured
using effective interest rate method. Interest income,
foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are
recognised in profit or loss. Any gain on derecognition
is recognised in profit or loss.

Fair value through other comprehensive income
("FVOCI"): Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows and for selling the financial
assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and interest, are measured
at FVOCI. These are subsequently measured at fair
value. Interest income calculated using effective
interest rate method, foreign exchange gains and
losses and impairment are recognised in profit or loss.
Other net gains and losses are recognised in other
comprehensive income. On derecognition, gains and
losses accumulated in other comprehensive income are
reclassified to profit or loss.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(b)

Impairment loss on financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for ECLs on trade
receivables, financial assets measured at amortised
cost and debt instruments measured at FVOCI. ECLs
are measured on either of the following bases: (1)
12 months ECLs: these are the ECLs that result from
possible default events within the 12 months after the
reporting date; and (2) lifetime ECLs: these are ECLs that
result from all possible default events over the expected
life of a financial instrument. The maximum period
considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum
contractual period over which the Group is exposed to
credit risk.

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. Credit losses are measured as the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash
flows that the Group expects to receive. The shortfall
is then discounted at an approximation to the assets’
original effective interest rate.

The Group has elected to measure loss allowances for
trade receivables using HKFRS 9 simplified approach and
has calculated ECLs based on lifetime ECLs. The Group
has established a provision matrix that is based on the
Group's historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment.

For other financial assets, the ECLs are based on the
12-months ECLs. However, when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since origination, the
allowance will be based on the lifetime ECLs.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial
asset has increased significantly since initial recognition
and when estimating ECLs, the Group considers
reasonable and supportable information that is relevant
and available without undue cost or effort. This includes
both quantitative and qualitative information analysis,
based on the Group’s historical experience and informed
credit assessment and including forward-looking
information.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(b)

(c)

Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial
asset has increased if it is more than 180 days past due.
The Group's debts instruments (i.e. bills receivable) at
FVOCI are considered to have low credit risk since the
issuers’ credit rating are high.

The Group considers a financial asset to be default
when: (1) the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit
obligations to the Group in full, without recourse by
the Group to actions such as realising security (if any is
held); and (2) the financial asset is more than 365 days
past due. A financial asset is written off when there is
no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual
cash flows.

Interest income on credit-impaired financial assets is
calculated based on the amortised cost (i.e. the gross
carrying amount less loss allowance) of the financial
asset. For non-credit impaired financial assets interest
income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount.

Financial liabilities

The Group classifies its financial liabilities, depending
on the purpose for which the liabilities were incurred.
Financial liabilities at amortised costs are initially
measured at fair value, net of directly attributable costs
incurred.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities at amortised cost including trade
and bills payable, accruals, other payables, provision
for legal claims, bank borrowings, advances from a
non-controlling shareholder and advances from the
ultimate holding company are subsequently measured
at amortised cost, using effective interest method. The
related interest expense is recognised in profit or loss.

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss when
the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
amortisation process.
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(d) Effective interest method

This is a method of calculating the amortised cost of
a financial asset or financial liability and of allocating
interest income or interest expense over the relevant
period. Effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts or payments
through the expected life of the financial asset or
liability, or where appropriate, a shorter period.

(e) Derecognition
The Group derecognises a financial asset when the
contractual rights to the future cash flows in relation to
the financial asset expire or when the financial asset has
been transferred and the transfer meets the criteria for
derecognition in accordance with HKFRS 9.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged,
cancelled or expires.

Goodwill is initially recognised at cost being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests in the acquiree and
the acquisition-date fair value of the acquirer’s previously
held equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of
identifiable assets and liabilities acquired.

Where the fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities
exceed the aggregate of the fair value of consideration paid,
the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree
and the acquisition-date fair value of the acquirer’s previously
held equity interest in the acquiree, the excess is recognised in
profit or loss on the acquisition date, after re-assessment.

Goodwill is measured at cost less impairment losses. For
the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill arising from
an acquisition is allocated to each of the relevant cash-
generating unit (“CGU") that are expected to benefit from
the synergies of the acquisition. A CGU is the smallest
identifiable group of assets that generates cash inflows that
are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets
or groups of assets. A CGU to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment annually, by comparing its
carrying amount with its recoverable amount (see note 3(s)),
and whenever there is an indication that the unit may be
impaired.
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For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a financial year,
the CGU to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment before the end of that financial year. When the
recoverable amount of the CGU is less than the carrying
amount of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated to reduce
the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit first,
and then to the other assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis
of the carrying amount to each asset in the unit. However,
the loss allocated to each asset will not reduce the individual
asset’s carrying amount to below its fair value less cost of
disposal (if measurable) or its value-in-use (if determinable),
whichever is the higher. Any impairment loss for goodwill is
recognised in profit or loss and is not reversed in subsequent
periods.

Intangible asset acquired separately are initially recognised
at cost. The cost of intangible asset acquired in a business
combination is measured at fair value at the date of
acquisition. Subsequently, intangible asset with finite useful
life is carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and any
impairment losses. Amortisation is charged in administrative
and other operating expenses in profit or loss and is provided
as follows:

- Technical knowhow is amortised on straight-line
method from the date of acquisition over the estimated
useful life of 10 years.

Both estimated useful life and method of amortisation are
reviewed and adjusted if appropriate, annually.

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price
in the ordinary course of business less the estimated cost
of completion and applicable selling expenses. Cost is
determined using weighted average basis, and in the case
of work in progress and finished goods, comprise direct
materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of
overheads, and where appropriate, subcontracting charges.

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and in hand,
demand deposits with banks and short term highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or less
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

The Group has lease contracts for certain office premises
and certain lands, irrespective of they are operating leases or
finance leases. The Group applied a single recognition and
measurement approach for all leases, to capitalise the leases
in the consolidated statement of financial position as right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities, except for lease contracts
with a lease term of 12 months or less or ends within 12
months of the date of initial application and do not contain a
purchase option (“short-term leases”).

Right-of-use assets

The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the
commencement date of the lease (i.e. the date the underlying
asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured
at cost, less any accumulated depreciation or amortisation
and impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement
of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes
the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct
costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received. Unless
the Group is reasonably certain to obtain ownership of the
leased assets at the end of the lease terms, the recognised
right-of-use assets are depreciated or amortised on a straight-
line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful lives and the
lease terms. Right-of-use assets are subject to impairment. For
right-of-use asset that meets the definition of an investment
property, it is carried at fair value.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of the leases, the Group
recognises lease liabilities measured at the present value of
lease payments to be made over the lease terms. The lease
payments include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease
payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts
expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. The
lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase
option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is
not readily determinable. After the commencement date, the
amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion
of interest and reduced for the lease payments made.
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HEaE (&) Lease liabilities (Continued)
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In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is
remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease
term, a change in the in-substance fixed lease payments or a
change in the assessment to purchase the underlying asset.

Short-term leases

The Group has applied the short-term leases recognition
exemption to leases. Lease payments on short-term leases are
recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease
terms.

Accounting as a lessor

The Group has leased out its investment properties to a
number of tenants. They are leased out under operating
leases, which are measured and presented according to the
nature of the assets. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying
amount of the leased asset and recognised as an expense
over the lease term on the same basis as the rental income.

Rental income receivable from operating leases is recognised
in profit or loss on straight-line method over the periods
covered by the lease term, except where an alternative basis
is more representative of the time pattern of benefits to be
derived from the use of the leased asset. Lease incentives
granted are recognised in profit or loss as an integral part
of the aggregate net lease payments receivable. Contingent
rentals are recognised as income in the accounting period in
which they are earned.

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series of
transactions, is or contains a lease if the Group determines
that the arrangement conveys a right to use a specific asset
or assets for an agreed period of time in return for a payment
or a series of payments. Such a determination is made based
on an evaluation of the substance of the arrangement and is
regardless of whether the arrangement takes the legal form
of a lease.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Classification of assets leased to the Group

Assets that are held by the Group under leases which
transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership are classified as being held
under finance leases. Leases which do not transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to
the Group are classified as operating leases, with the
following exceptions:

Property held under operating leases that would
otherwise meet the definition of investment property is
classified as an investment property on a property-by-
property basis and, if classified as investment property,
is accounted for as if held under a finance lease (see
note 3(g)).

Operating lease charges as the lessee

Where the Group has the right to use the assets
held under operating leases, payments made under
the leases are charged to profit or loss on straight-
line method over the lease terms except where an
alternative basis is more representative of the time
pattern of benefits to be derived from the leased assets.
Lease incentives received are recognised in profit or loss
as an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments
made. Contingent rental are charged to profit or loss in
the accounting period in which they are incurred.

Assets leased out under operating leases as the
lessor

Assets leased out under operating leases are measured
and presented according to the nature of the assets.
Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of
the leased asset and recognised as an expense over the
lease term on the same basis as the rental income.

Rental income receivable from operating leases is
recognised in profit or loss on straight-line method over
the periods covered by the lease terms, except where
an alternative basis is more representative of the time
pattern of benefits to be derived from the use of the
leased assets. Lease incentives granted are recognised
in profit or loss as an integral part of the aggregate
net lease payments receivable. Contingent rentals are
recognised as income in the accounting period in which
they are earned.
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Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will
be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate of
the amount of the obligation can be made. Where the time
value of money is material, provisions are stated at the present
value of the expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

All provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and
adjusted to reflect the current best estimate.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain
future events not wholly within the control of the Group are
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Contingent liabilities are recognised in the course of the
allocation of purchase price to the assets and liabilities acquired
in a business combination. They are initially measured at fair
value at the date of acquisition and subsequently measured
at the higher of the amount that would be recognised in a
comparable provision as described above and the amount
initially recognised less any accumulated amortisaton, if
appropriate.

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Share capital is
determined using the nominal value of shares that have been
issued.

Any transaction costs associated with the issuing of shares are
deducted from share premium (net of any related income tax
benefits) to the extent that they are incremental cost directly
attributable to the equity transaction.
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Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers at
an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services,
excluding those amounts collected on behalf of third parties.
Revenue excludes value added tax or other sales taxes and is
after deduction of any trade discounts.

Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws that
apply to the contract, control of the goods or service may
be transferred over time or at a point in time. Control of
the goods or service is transferred over time if the Group’s
performance:

- provides all of the benefits received and consumed
simultaneously by the customer;

- creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls
as the Group performs; or

- does not create an asset with an alternative use to
the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to
payment for performance completed to date.

If control of the goods or services transfers over time, revenue
is recognised over the period of the contract by reference
to the progress towards complete satisfaction of that
performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a
point in time when the customer obtains control of the goods
or service.

(i) Chemical products
Customers obtain control of the chemical products
when the goods are delivered to and have been
accepted. Revenue is thus recognised upon when the
customers accepted the chemical products. There is
generally only one performance obligation. Invoices are
usually payable within 180 days.
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(i) Chemical products (Continued)

The Group’s contracts with customers from the sale
of chemical products provides customers a right of
return either to exchange the same product or to be
refund in cash. The right of return gives rise to variable
consideration. The variable consideration is estimated at
contract inception and constrained until the associated
uncertainty is subsequently resolved. The application of
the constraint on variable consideration increases the
amount of revenue that will be deferred. In addition,
a refund liability and a right to recover returned goods
assets are recognised. The Group’s obligation to replace
faulty products is recognised as a provision (details in
note 3(0)).

(ii) Rental income

Rental income receivable under operating leases is
recognised in profit or loss in equal installments over
the accounting periods covered by the lease terms.
Lease incentives granted are recognised in profit or loss
as an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments
receivable. Contingent rentals are recognised as income
in the accounting period in which they are earned.

(iii) Interest income
Interest income is recognised on time-proportion basis
using effective interest method.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to deliver
goods or transfer services to a customer for which the Group
has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is
due) from the customer.

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and the Group will comply with all attached conditions.
Grants are deferred and recognised in profit or loss over the
period necessary to match them with the costs that the grants
are intended to compensate, whilst those relating to the
purchase of property, plant and equipment are included as
deferred income liability in the statement of financial position
and are recognised in profit or loss on straight-line method
over the expected lives of the related assets.

Government grants relating to income is presented in gross
under “Other income and gains” in the consolidated income

statement.
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At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets, prepaid land lease payment, intangible asset and
interests in subsidiaries to determine whether there is any
indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss
or an impairment loss previously recognised no longer exists
or may have decreased.

If the recoverable amount (i.e. the greater of the fair value
less costs of disposal and value-in-use) of an asset is estimated
to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of
the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment
loss is recognised as an expense immediately, unless the
relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount under another
HKFRS, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a
revaluation decrease under that HKFRS.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of
its recoverable amount, to the extent that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised as income immediately, unless
the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount under
another HKFRS, in which case the reversal of impairment loss
is treated as a revaluation increase under that HKFRS.

Value-in-use is based on the estimated future cash flows
expected to be derived from the asset or CGU, discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the asset or CGU.

Retirement benefits
Retirement benefits to employees are provided through
defined contribution plans.

The Group operates a defined contribution retirement benefit
plan under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance,
for all of its employees who are eligible to participate in the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme. Contributions are made
based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate
in the PRC are required to participate in a central pension
scheme operated by the local municipal government.
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Contributions are recognised as an expense in profit or loss
as employees render services during the year. The Group'’s
obligations under these plans are limited to the fixed
percentage contributions payable.

Short-term employee benefits

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made for
the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the reporting date.

Non-accumulating compensated absences such as sick leave
and maternity leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

Share-based compensation

The Group operates equity-settled share-based compensation
plans to certain employees and a supplier. All employee
services received in exchange for the grant of any share-based
compensation are measured at their fair values. These are
indirectly determined by reference to the equity instruments
awarded. Their value is appraised at the grant date and
excludes the impact of any non-market vesting conditions (for
example, profitability and sales growth targets).

All share-based compensation is recognised as an expense
in profit or loss over the vesting period if vesting conditions
apply, or recognised as an expense in full at the grant date
when the equity instruments granted vest immediately unless
the compensation qualifies for recognition as asset, with a
corresponding increase in the share option reserve in equity.
If vesting conditions apply, the expense is recognised over the
vesting period, based on the best available estimate of the
number of equity instruments expected to vest. Non-market
vesting conditions are included in assumptions about the
number of equity instruments that are expected to vest.

Estimates are subsequently revised, if there is any indication
that the number of equity instruments expected to vest differs
from previous estimates.

At the time when the share options are exercised, the
amount previously recognised in share option reserve will
be transferred to share premium. After vesting date, when
the vested share options are later forfeited or are still not
exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised
in share option reserve will be transferred to retained profits.
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For shares transferred to an employee of the Company by
the Company’s ultimate holding company, the fair value of
services received is determined by reference to the fair value of
shares granted at the grant date, and is expensed on straight-
line method over the vesting period with a corresponding
increase in equity. At each reporting date, for shares granted
to an employee with non-market performance vesting
conditions, the Group revises its estimates of the number of
shares that are expected to ultimately vest. The impact of the
revision on the estimates during the vesting period, if any, is
recognised in profit or loss, with a corresponding adjustment
to reserve.

Borrowing costs incurred for the acquisition, construction or
production of any qualifying asset are capitalised, as part of
the cost of a qualifying asset, during the period of time that
is required to complete and prepare the asset for its intended
use or sale are being undertaken. A qualifying asset is an
asset which necessarily takes a substantial period of time to
get ready for its intended use or sale. Other borrowing costs
are recognised in profit or loss in the period when they are
incurred.

Capitalisation of borrowing costs ceases when substantially all
the activities necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its
intended use or sale are complete.

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and deferred
tax.

Current income tax assets and/or liabilities comprise those
obligations to, or claims from, fiscal authorities relating to
the current or prior reporting period, that are unpaid at the
reporting date. They are calculated according to the tax rates
and tax laws applicable to the fiscal periods to which they
relate, based on the taxable profit for the year. All changes to
current tax assets or liabilities are recognised as a component
of tax expense in profit or loss.
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¥ - AIAAEN AR R R Bt R E) R IE differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised for all
EoER - HAGERNRN (B21ER deductible temporary differences, tax losses available to be
EERNERZRE) Al AER SRR carried forward as well as other unused tax credits, to the
TRZE - RPANEEERARDAT extent that it is probable that taxable profit, including existing
THHE R o taxable temporary differences, will be available against which

the deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses and
unused tax credits can be utilised.

AT 2RENIBLENEENE An exception to the general requirement on determining
W—RBFEBFOIINER - BIIREY the appropriate tax rate used in measuring deferred tax
ETBEBERBEFTERIFEI0R [1RE amount is when an investment property is carried at fair
Y2 | I AR EHER o BRIEBRERA] T value under HKAS 40 “Investment Property”. Unless the
B - BRIZEREMENRLETIESE presumption is rebutted, the deferred tax amounts on these
SRAENSRE B2 RAEL S84 investment properties are measured using the tax rates that
WEMEBANBEGTE - IIREWE would apply on sale of these investment properties at their
ATHE MEFEZMEZFBHER carrying amounts at the reporting date. The presumption is
XA B IR EREERE (MIEE R rebutted when the investment property is depreciable and is
B) ZIEMERRNIB DL ERE + Al held within a business model whose objective is to consume
PERERA] T &X[E o substantially all the economic benefits embodied in the

property over time, rather than through sale.

BRIEFHIEE BRI B R RMEE R Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
R—REERNAINERELE 2 ERE differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and
FrEREMER - MW AN SR [ AR I B R = interests in a joint venture, except where the Group is able
B BE R EREERE A e N RA to control the reversal of the temporary differences and it is
SRR IR N o probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the

foreseeable future.

FrigTim B tER - BRIEFTETS R Income tax are recognised in profit or loss except when they

Hi2EKAERNIER » EIIER relate to items recognised in other comprehensive income in

T BESAETHMEERERER % which case the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive

TEUEMETP R EETT AERRIEE income or when they relate to items recognised directly in

BT - HIAth AR TER o equity in which case the taxes are also recognised directly in

equity.

BT IE E E AR IBRER RN T Current tax assets and current tax liabilities are presented in

FIER RNAEREZS net if, and only if,

(@ AEEFEBRGIFHITE  AIK (@) the Group has the legally enforceable right to set off
ERERSREEHE & the recognised amounts; and

(b) FHEIAFREEELE @ RS (b) it intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the
REEREEAE - asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

The Group presents deferred tax assets and deferred tax
liabilities in net if, and only if,

(@) the entity has a legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets against current tax liabilities; and

(b) the deferred tax assets and the deferred tax liabilities
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either:

(i)  the same taxable entity; or

(i) different taxable entities which intend either
to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a
net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously, in each future period
in which significant amounts of deferred tax
liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered.

The Group identifies operating segments and prepares
segment information based on the regular internal financial
information reported to the chief operating decision
makers (i.e. executive Directors) (the “CODM") for their
decisions about resources allocation to the Group’s business
components and for their review of the performance of the
components.
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FESHBEME (&) 3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
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(i) RAEEHAATNFAF
ZEBEBMAR -

In previous years, the Group identified the following
reportable segments which were business components in the
internal financial information reporting, they were within the
scope of HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers.
These reporting segments were determined following the
Group’s major product and service lines:

(i) Cyanide and its derivative products: Research and
development, manufacture and sale of cyanide and its
derivative products;

(i)  Alcohol products: Research and development,
manufacture and sale of alcohol products;

(iii)  Chloroacetic acid and its derivative products: Research
and development, manufacture and sale of chloroacetic
acid and its derivative products; and

(iv)  Other chemical products: Sale of other chemical
products, e.g. steam and other chemical products.

In 2019, the business components of the Group were
reassessed, which within the scope of HKFRS 15 Revenue
from Contracts with Customers, the research and
development, manufacture and sale of fine chemical products
of the Group are identified as a single operating segment. The
single operating segment is reported in a manner consistent
with the internal financial information reporting provided to
the CODM.

The impact of the abovementioned change on the Group’s
reportable operating segments for the year ended 31
December 2018 is considered retrospectively and the Group’s
segment information is re-presented as if the Group had been
operating as a single operating segment since the beginning
of that year.

(@ A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iiiy  is a member of key management personnel of the
Group or the Company’s parent.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(b)

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions apply:

(i)

(ii)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of the employees of the Group or an
entity related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of key
management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of which
it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced
by, that person in their dealings with the entity and include:

@)

(ii)

(iii)

that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;

children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner;

and

dependents of that person or that person’s spouse or
domestic partner.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based
on historical experience and other factors, including expectations
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.
The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal
the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
discussed below:

(i) Depreciation and amortisation of property, plant and

equipment and right-of-use assets

The Group determines the estimated useful lives and related
depreciation/amortisation charges for the Group's property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets. This estimate
is based on the historical experience of the actual useful
lives of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets of similar nature and functions. The Group will revise
the depreciation/amoritsation charge where useful lives are
different to those previously estimated, or it will write-off or
write-down technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that
have been abandoned or sold.

(ii) Estimated fair values of investment properties
The Group appointed an independent valuation firm to assess
the fair values of the investment properties. In determining
the fair values, the valuers have used a method of valuation
which involves input of certain estimates. The Directors have
exercised their judgement and are satisfied that the method
of valuation is reflective of the current market conditions.

(iii) Inventories valuation

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated
costs of completion and selling expense. These estimates are
based on the current market conditions and the historical
experience of manufacturing and selling products of similar
nature. It could change significantly as a result of changes in
customers’ taste and competitors’ actions in response to serve
industry cycles. The Group will reassess the estimates by each
reporting date.

The assessment of the estimated net realisable value involves
judgement and estimates. Where the actual outcome in
future is different from the original estimates, such difference
will impact the carrying value of inventories and write-down/
reversal of write-down in the period in which such estimates
have been changed.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

Estimated impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period
whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired.
If any such indication exists, the Group makes an estimate
of the recoverable amount of the asset. This requires an
estimation of the value-in-use of the CGUs to which the
asset is allocated. Estimating the value-in-use requires the
Group to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows
from the CGUs and also to choose a suitable discount rate
in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. A
change in the estimated future cash flows and/or the discount
rate applied will result in an adjustment to the estimated
impairment provision previously made.

Estimated useful life of intangible asset

The Group’s management determines the estimated useful
life for its intangible asset. The estimated useful live reflects
the Group’s management’s estimates of the periods that the
Group intends to derive future economic benefits from the
use of the intangible asset.

Income taxes and deferred taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong and the
PRC. Significant judgement is required in determining the
provision for income taxes and the timing of payment of the
related taxes. There are certain transactions and calculations
for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during
the ordinary course of business. The Group recognises
liabilities for anticipated tax based on estimates of whether
additional taxes will be due. When the final tax outcome
of these matters is different from the amounts that were
initially recorded, such differences will impact the income tax
provision in the period in which such determination is made.

Withholding taxes arising from the distributions of
dividends

The Group's determination as to whether to accrue for
withholding taxes from the distribution of dividends from
the subsidiaries in the PRC according to the relevant tax
jurisdictions is subject to judgement on the timing of the
payment of the dividends, where the Group considers that
if it is probable that the profits of the subsidiaries in the PRC
earned after 1 January 2008 will not be distributed in the
foreseeable future, then no withholding taxes are provided.
Details of the unrecognised deferred tax liabilities in this
respect are set out in note 18.
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(viii) Fair value measurement

(ix)

Certain assets included in the Group’s financial statements
require measurement at, and/or disclosure of, fair value.

The fair value measurement of the Group's financial and
non-financial assets based on market observable inputs or
unobservable inputs and data as far as possible. Inputs used
in determining fair value measurements are categorised into
different levels based on how observable the inputs used in
the valuation technique utilised are:

Level 1: Quoted prices in active markets for identical
items (unadjusted);

Level 2: Observable direct or indirect inputs other than
Level 1 inputs;

Level 3: Unobservable inputs (i.e. not derived from

market data).

The classification of an item into the above levels is based on
the lowest level of the inputs used that has a significant effect
on the fair value measurement of the item. Transfers of items
between levels are recognised in the period they occur.

The Group measures investment properties and bills
receivable at FVTPL and FVOCI respectively. For more detailed
information in relation to the fair value measurement of the
items above, please refer to note 15 and note 20.

Impairment of trade and bills receivable

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for
trade receivables. The provision rates are based on days
past due for groupings of various customer segments that
have similar loss patterns. The provision matrix is initially
based on the Group’s historical observed default rates. The
Group will calibrate the matrix to adjust the historical credit
loss experience with forward-looking information. For bills
receivable, measurement of ECLs are based on the 12-months
ECLs. However, when there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since origination, the allowance will be based on
the lifetime ECLs.
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(ix) Impairment of trade and bills receivable (Continued)

At each reporting date, the historical observed default rates
are updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are
analysed. The assessment of the correlation among historical
observed default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs
is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to
changes in circumstances and forecast economic conditions.
The Group’s historical credit loss experience and forecast
of economic conditions may also not be representative of
customer’s actual default in the future. The information about
the ECLs on the Group’s trade and bills receivable is disclosed
in note 41 (iii)(c) and (d) to the financial statements.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the CODM has identified
that the research and development, manufacture and sale of
fine chemical products of the Group operates as single operating
segment. The impact of this change on the Group’s reportable
operating segments for the year ended 31 December 2018 is
considered retrospectively and the Group’s segment information
is re-presented as if the Group had been operating as a single
operating segment since the beginning of that year. The single
operating segment is reported as further described in note 3(w).

Revenue for sale of fine chemical products is recognised at point in
time as when there is evidence that the control of goods has been
transferred to the customer, the customer has adequate control
over the goods and the Group has no unfulfilled obligations that
affect customer accepting the goods.

The Group's disaggregated revenue from external customers are
divided into the following geographical areas:

—E-hEF —E-N\F

2019 2018

ARMET T ARBT T

RMB’000 RMB’000

B (ZNHb) The PRC (domicile) 1,081,643 871,748
ENfE India 88,859 103,152
ESIE United States of America 43,489 58,934
i Spain 21,219 11,509
=p Taiwan 20,262 15,111
HAth Others 125,666 118,846
1,381,138 1,179,300

@ RECTERERDE —E-NEER
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DHEER () 5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

BER2HEEDNE mXEMEASERE - f The geographical location of customers is based on the location at
MR IERBEEERNTE - HES which the goods are delivered. No geographical location of non-
IR B D 2 IEMENEE o current assets is presented as the substantial non-current assets are

physically based in the PRC.

HE-Z - NF+_A=+—HLtFE I There was no single customer that contributed to 10% or more of
mE -—RPMASEEEEN10% A the Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018:
(Z2—N\&F  |) - Nil).
ERERAEMBAN KR 6. REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
AEBZ EEEBBAEWTEISIEE - AEE The Group’s principal activities are disclosed in note 35. Revenue
FRAZEBEBEERRHEMMPATNPZEED from the Group’s principal activities and other income and gains
R ¢ recognised during the year are as follows:
—E-hEF —T—)N\F
2019 2018
AR%T R ARKETTT
RMB’000 RMB'000
REEREFHEITEHNZ Revenue from contracts with customers
B
HERBM TE®D Sale of fine chemical products 1,381,138 1,179,300
H AU AR 2 Other income and gains
BT AR R (B EE ) Government grants (note (i) 1,438 779
RITHEMA Bank interest income 1,026 1,676
IRIEUW AR (FI3E30) Release of deferred income (note 30) 1,302 3,931
A WA Rental income 695 706
EEEUA (BEE (i) Compensation income (note (ii)) - 14,652
b 5 Yom - JFRR Exchange gains, net 1,755 =
EEIPN Sundry income 604 671
6,820 22,415
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1 December 2019

REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
(Continued)

Notes:
(i) Government grants represent incentives offered by the local
authorities to the subsidiaries of the Company located in the PRC
for promoting various business activities of the Group. There are no
unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to these grants.

(i)  In 2018, the PRC local government has undergone public
infrastructure improvement works (the “Works"”) in Weifang High
Technology Industry Development Zone (the “Zone”). A piece of land
for production activities of two subsidiaries of the Company (the
“Subsidiaries”) was located in the Zone and therefore it was resumed
by the PRC local government to facilitate the Works. Consequently,
part of prepaid land lease payments and certain buildings of the
Subsidiaries with net carrying amounts of approximately RMB42 1,000
(note 14) and RMB2,807,000 (note 13(i)) respectively were written-
off. Certain production facilities of the Subsidiaries situated on the
land were relocated to another production site of the Group and
incurred relocation expenses of approximately RMB1,900,000. These
were recognised in administrative and other operating expenses on
the consolidated income statement. The PRC local government made
removal compensation of approximately RMB14,652,000 to the
Subsidiaries for the resumption of land.

TRIIIRBEEFEITGNZIEHNEEZ The following table provides information about contract liabilities
BE o from contracts with customers.

—B-NEF —=—N\&F —T-N\F

+=-B=+—H +=ZA=+—~” —H—H

31 December 31 December 1 January

2019 2018 2018

ARBTF T ARBFIT ARBFIT

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

aHarE (MiE2e) Contract liabilities (note 26) 15,803 6,917 7,188

AHEBEFZHERERFHENRESRH -
HMREERENTRFERNBITEOET
R-ZE—N\F—F—BFE-_ZT—/\FE+_F8
—+—HNEEFES R AARESE,237,000
T M AR #5,960,000 T A& X B & (M
26) EMRAEEBE_T—NFR_ZT—NF
T A=T—HIFEREESE -

R-ZE—NAF+-_A=+—8  2EBEFAE
BEREAAGTHNERBENEETNRZER
A AR 15,803,000 (ZZ—\F : A
R%6,917,0007T) ' Z S BHEENRAEER
TEH—FRNBITRAEBRE THRRNE X
o

@ REBCTEBRERAT

“E-NEFFR

The contract liabilities mainly relate to the advance consideration
received from customers. Contract liabilities as of 1 January
2018 and 31 December 2018 with the net carrying amounts of
RMB6,237,000 and RMB5,960,000 respectively (note 26) had been
recognised as revenue for the years ended 31 December 2018
and 2019 respectively as performance obligations satisfied in the
corresponding financial years.

As at 31 December 2019, the aggregated amount of the
transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligations
under the Group’s existing contracts is RMB15,803,000 (2018:
RMB6,917,000). This amount represents revenue to be recognised
by the Group when the performance obligation is completed by the
Group within expected one year.
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B # A A 7. FINANCE COSTS
—E-hE —E-N\F
2019 2018
ARETT AREEFTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
RITIERHE - 255 Interest on bank borrowings, of which
BB REKEEEK contain a repayment on demand clause 2,606 4,338
B — A IR A Interest on advances from a non-controlling
TERFREVH]E shareholder - 19
KB AR A AR Interest on advances from the ultimate
FARTREF S holding company 1,600 271
4,206 4,628
BRETEBLATRR, (&518) 8. PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAX
—E-IEF —ZE-N\F
2019 2018
ARETT AREEFTT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
BRATEHADES (E18) Profit/(Loss) before income tax is arrived
Bk (GtA) : at after charging/(crediting):
Z=M< (FIFE10@)) Directors’ remuneration (note 10(a))
-18% — Fees 380 355
-¥He  BIBTEAL R EMEFI - Salaries, discretionary bonus and other benefits 1,680 2,667
— RIREFIFT SR — Retirement benefit scheme contributions 57 102
2,117 3,124
EAthfg B A Other employee costs 138,379 121,343
RRTBFIEF IR Retirement benefit scheme contributions 9,117 9,727
“BE SR AR Total employee costs 149,613 134,194
ZE RN & Auditor’s remuneration 808 789
TE S 4 A8 & SRR 5 Amortisation of prepaid land lease payments - 1,679
B E(E AR (MIEEG)) Amortisation of right-of-use assets (note (i) 1,479 -
B A EEH Amortisation of an intangible asset 1,804 1,803
REAXZ 2 FEKA Cost of inventories recognised as an expense
(BEEGD) - B4 - (note (ii)), including 1,187,692 1,097,179
- E R IR FEE 2 — Reversals of write-down of inventories to
GFEEEFRE (M i) net realisable value, net (note (iii) (2,810) (3,761)
W - BB RRETE Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 108,227 99,945
FEN B - 55 Exchange losses, net - 366
Y - BB KR Write-off of property, plant and equipment
(BtEE13) (note 13) 34,847 23,538
FE 1t AR & R IE Write-off of prepaid land lease payments - 421
B S W IR R EEE Impairment losses on trade receivables
GELAE) (note 41(iii)(c)) 3,759 3,822
HEME - BELRE Loss on disposals of property,
&8 plant and equipment 1 556
BHEBAHENHEENK Lease payments in respect of short-term leases 2,146 2,277
THFER AN (FIFE (v) Research costs (note (iv)) 36,291 5,793
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HE-ZT—NF+=-A=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

8. BRFTEHANER, (BE)(E) 8.
Bt - Notes:
() AEEALETRPEEVTERRBMIER (i)

SEAE16  THRBE-_FT-NEFE—A—
BEESRAEREEERBENEERR
- MzEHENEEREREST LS
17 REEAKENE - KT - NF—H
—HYFHEREEFRRER - AKEERK
HABHEZEEERE - RIFUN LT
I AR AAHTEE 2(a) AT BFILLEE KY

@iy TFEERABFELHARY103,862,0007T (= (ii)
T — \F : AR%95,192,0007t) < 7
MERS R ARK 116,119,000T (=F
—\F: AR¥105,682,0007T) 2 {HEE
BRA - ESBEIET AE LXRITHRE
WIRERESES -

EENFERARR-ZT—N\FR=ZZT—N
FTZA=+—BFAENETHERRNINE
YA ERAR TR -

(i) (iii)

WEREARBIELHARKT762,0000T (ZF
— )\ : AR%798,0007T) 2 HEHER
X R AR 11,082,000 (ZF— /\4F :
AR®2,994,0007T) 2 HHEEERA - B
BLBEADTAE LNSTRENRBELS

(iv) (iv)

PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAX (Continued)

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified
retrospective method and adjusted the opening balances at 1 January
2019 to recognise right-of-use assets relating to leases which were
previously classified as operating leases under HKAS 17. After initial
recognition of right-of-use assets at 1 January 2019, the Group as
lessee is required to amortise these right-of-use assets. Under this
method, the comparative information has not been restated as
described in note 2(a).

Cost of inventories includes approximately RMB103,862,000 (2018:
RMB95,192,000) relating to depreciation expenses and approximately
RMB116,119,000 (2018: RMB105,682,000) relating to employee
costs. These amounts are included in the respective total amounts
disclosed separately above.

The reversals are mainly due to decrease of weighted average
production cost of certain finished goods held on hand as at 31
December 2018 and 2019.

Research costs include approximately RMB762,000 (2018:
RMB798,000) relating to depreciation expenses and approximately
RMB11,082,000 (2018: RMB2,994,000) relating to employee costs.
These amounts are included in the respective total amounts disclosed
separately above.

o
9. FBHEX (#E%) 9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT)
—E-hF —E-)N\F
2019 2018
ARETT AREETTT
RMB’000 RMB'000
BERFRIE - B ZEATSHL  Current tax — PRC Enterprise Income Tax
- NFEHRIA — Tax for the year 14,520 3,142
—BEFE (BEEEE) - (Oven/Under-provision in prior years
TR (108) 197
S EIRR B TR R PRC dividend withholding tax paid 375 10,787
14,787 14,126
EIEFRIE (MfI3E18) Deferred tax (note 18)
— R IR B E B R — Derecognition of deferred tax assets
TRIAE1EMERE 2 in relations to tax losses
BIEFIIEEE previously recognised 7,433 =
- FANEFA — Credited for the year (3.350) (19,340)
Frigfim~Y, (&%) Income tax expense/(credit) 18,870 (5,214)

@ RECTERRARAF —E-NEER
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INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT) (Continued)

Reconciliation between income tax expense/(credit) and profit/(loss)
before income tax multiplied by the PRC enterprise income tax rate

R is as follows:
—B-NEF —E-)N\F
2019 2018
ARMT T ARET T
RMB’'000 RMB'000
BRATISRLATE R, (E518) Profit/(Loss) before income tax 30,517 (73,930)
LR BTSRRI E 25% Tax at PRC enterprise income tax rate of 25%

(ZZ—\F : 25%) (2018: 25%)

AEZHIE 7,629 (18,483)
P BR S 2 B s 2 Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 1,311 6,352
FERERTTIM AT S o & Tax effect of non-taxable income (10,391) =
A IR B TR R PRC dividend withholding tax 375 4,787
FRBAERERRIEERZ  Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses

g not previously recognised (157) (443)
KRIERTHEEBZTHETE  Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 12,720 4,044
R ERERE B R Derecognition of deferred tax assets

IR EEAERE 2 in relations to tax losses previously

RIETRIE A B recognised 7,433 =
BREE (BRERE) (Over)/Under-provision in prior years

TR (108) 197
Ht Others 58 (1,668)
Friefifx, (%) Income tax expense/(credit) 18,870 (5,214)

BRI EERTOENETAES - REEL

BRMSTEE -

assessable profit derives from Hong Kong.

No provision for Hong Kong Profit Tax has been made as no

EREKYHNMEARBR —E—NEZF
B EFRERREE25% (ZZF—/)\4F : 25%)
BN B EFTSR o

The subsidiaries established in the PRC are subject to the PRC
Enterprise Income Tax at the rate of 25% for 2019 (2018: 25%).

RIEF BB EMAETENREBBER - 3
Bixa —TTNF—A— BEMRNN
MBS RS - FFFBERMRAR
10 % BB R AR TRIR S - BRABIIBE, %
PEMERHRERMERR - RBEE—F—NF
T-A=+—HALEE AEESHPEE
REHEM10% (ZF—/\F : 10%) HFAER
PP

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law and its related
regulations, non-PRC-resident enterprises are levied withholding tax
at 10% (unless reduced by tax treaties/arrangements) on dividends
receivable from PRC enterprises for profits earned since 1 January
2008. The Group has adopted 10% (2018: 10%) withholding
tax rate for PRC withholding tax purpose for the year ended 31
December 2019.
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10. ESREREEENMS 10. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'’S
EMOLUMENTS
(a) EEfNE (a) Directors’ emoluments
EfNEMFEBUEEZME0T Emoluments paid or payable to each Director were as follows:
BIRERI
HE G
Retirement
HpiER [hEgran benefit
ne e Other  Discretionary scheme it
Fees Salaries benefits bonus  contributions Total
ARET R AR%TR AR%TR AR%ETR ARETR ARET R
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
“E-hE 2019
PTES Executive Directors
21 Liu Yang - 500 14 m 24 709
FHI Wang Zijiang - 759 31 205 33 1,028

FHTES Non-executive

Directors
£l Liu Hongliang 10 - - - - 10
HEK Guo Yucheng 10 - - - - 10

BUFHTEE Independent
Non-Executive

Directors
RRE Leung Kam Wan 132 - - - - 132
BEE Gao Baoyu 114 - - - - 114
2Rk Liu Chenguang 14 - - - - 14
“ZT—-NGFAF  Total for 2019 380 1,259 45 376 57 2,117

REAETERBRLTE “E-NEFFR
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10. EEREREEENHE (&) 10. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'’S
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
(a) EEME (&) (@) Directors’ emoluments (Continued)
RINGEH
REGE
Retirement
HiEH| BB benefit
ik e Other  Discretionary scheme CED
Fees Salaries benefits bonus  contributions Total
ARBET T ARETTT ARETT AREFT ARETTT ARETT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
—B-N\F 2018
HITEE Executive Directors
215 Liu Yang - 437 - 67 = 504
I Wang Zijiang - 665 32 65 37 799
EfRA R Zheng Mingguo
(R=Z—/\F (appointed on
—A—8 1 January 2018

BZfE W and resigned on
—2-N\EF 1 August 2018)

NA—HEHE) - 350 18 30 21 419
R Gao Feng

(R=Z—)\"F (resigned on

NE—HEME) 1 August 2018) - 578 26 15 20 639
FIRR Sun Zhenmin

(R=Z—)\"F (resigned on

JNR—HE&ME) 1 August 2018) - 350 22 12 24 408

FHTES Non-executive

Directors

2t Liu Hongliang

(R=Z—/\F (appointed on

NB—H 1 August 2018)

BZAT) 4 = - - _ 4
BEK Guo Yucheng

(R=Z—\F (appointed on

NA—H 1 August 2018)

BZAT) 4 = - - - 4

BYFHTESE Independent

Non-Executive

Directors
2RE Leung Kam Wan 127 - - = = 127
REE Gao Baoyu 110 - - = = 110
2= Liu Chenguang 110 = = = = 110
—Z—)\FAif Total for 2018 355 2,380 93 189 102 3,124
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10. EEREREERNME (&)

(a) EEME (&)
FR - ANEBEE IR EE S R
< - EBINARNEE Z S2E) sk B 1
EB(ZE—NF: &)
FR - WEEALHERFEEMAEZESN
ERREEBERETANE (ZF—NF :
) o
BE_Z—\FER-_ZT—hhF+=HA
—+—HIFE - BB TIREEE
ARBETE -

(b) EEBEEMEAL

FREAKEEEMEZABAL
EFME(ZFE-\F:O8) RE
F EEMECHBERRR EXZ
DR - FREMNESK=R (ZFT—N
F—F) ALzZBEWT

10. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S

EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

No emoluments were paid by the Group to any Directors
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office during the year (2018: Nil).

There are no arrangements under which a Director waived or
agreed to waive any emoluments for the year (2018: Nil).

The discretionary bonus are determined by individual
performance of the Directors for the years ended 31
December 2018 and 2019.

Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in
the Group during the year included two (2018: four) Directors
whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented
above. Emoluments payable to the remaining three (2018:
one) individual during the year are as follows:

—E-hEF —E-N\F
2019 2018
ARBET T AREFTT
RMB’000 RMB’000

e BBk Salaries, discretionary bonus and other benefits
Btz Al 2,118 1,153
IRIRABFIFT B4R Retirement benefit scheme contributions 64 15
2,182 1,168

AT Z S ERIA TN EE

The emoluments of the individuals were within the following
bands:

A
Number of Individuals

—B-he —BN\F

2019 2018
B2 Rl Emoluments band

Z =¥ 1,000,0007  Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 2 -
A% 1,000,001 JTE HK$1,000,001 to

7B 1,500,000 7T HK$1,500,000 1 1

REAETERBRLTE

—E-NEER
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RE 11. DIVIDEND
S —BN\F
2019 2018
AR¥TR AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
WER BT FE No final dividend paid in respect of prior year
IR AR EARR S (2018: HK$0.01 per share)
—E-N\EF:
FE%0.017T) - 7,183

EETEERBE_T-NF+_A=1—
BUEFERMNEMRE (Z2—N\F : #§) -

SREF, (B8) 12.

ARBEEANREEREAREERT
(B1R) DRBATEIEAE -

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: Nil).

EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE

The calculation of basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share
attributable to owners of the Company is based on the following
data:

—s-n% —T-)\F
2019 2018
ARBTR ARBFIT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
RAEER ANEEAREE Profit/(Loss) for the year attributable to
wmA, (E518) owners of the Company 21,507 (61,058)
TZEREE
Number of ordinary shares
—E-hF —E-)\F
2019 2018
T Fa&
‘000 ‘000
FATEEREAREE Weighted average number of ordinary shares
&BF, (EB8) 2 for the purpose of basic and diluted
ELBAR INE 39 £ earnings/(loss) per share 851,954 851,954

HE_ZT-NEFET—N\F+A=1+—
BIEFEE  ANARBAEABRERF, (&
B) 2EBREERMN (BR) BERERR
F (E518) 48R - ARAR B ERENTTE
BEerROFEHTE BE-_FT—NLFR=
T N\F+_A=+—BHIFEILEBLEH
SEEIBAY -

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share for profit/(loss) attributable to
owners of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2019
and 2018 were the same as basic earnings/(loss) per share. There
were no dilutive potential ordinary shares for the year ended 31
December 2019 and 2018 because the exercise prices of the
Company’s share options were higher than the average market
prices for shares.
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13. ¥1% - BERRE

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

B BE
RERZHE
HEMEEE R R hE Furniture, EEIR
BT Leasehold Plant and Motor  fixturesand  Construction I
Buildings improvements machinery vehicles equipment in progress Total
AR®TR ARBTR ARBT R ARETR ARBTR ARETR ARBTR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
R=B-7\F As at 1 January 2018
=f=[E
AR Cost 303,813 580 1,044,102 4,564 11,648 224,031 1,588,738
ZEMER Accumulated depreciation
FEEE and impairment losses ~~ (87,875) (144) (528,470) (2,189) (7,677) = (626,355)
EHFE Net carrying amount 215,938 436 515,632 2,375 3,971 224,031 962,383
REEE Net carrying amount
RIB-N\E As at 1 January 2018
—A—H 215,938 436 515,632 2,375 3,971 224,031 962,383
bl Additions 4,942 - 25,374 = 741 95,069 126,126
s (P () Write-off (note () (6,529) (327) (16,302) = (61) (319) (23,538)
HE Disposals = = (726) = = = (726)
il Depreciation (14,833) (109) (82,841) (567) (1,595) - (99,945)
THEEHSE  Redlassified upon
completion 14,077 - 226,511 - - (240,5898) -
RZE-N\§ As at 31 December 2018
+ZA=t+-H 213,595 - 667,648 1,808 3,056 78,193 964,300
R=E-N\% As at 31 December 2018
t=A=t-A
AR Cost 311,185 35 1,248,067 4,564 12,295 78,193 1,654,339
ZEMER Accumulated depreciation
REEE and impairment loss (97,590) (35) (580,419) (2,756) (9,239) = (690,039)
REFE Net carrying amount 213,595 - 667,648 1,808 3,056 78,193 964,300
RERE Net carrying amount
RZZ-NE As at 1 January 2019
—A—A 213,595 - 667,648 1,808 3,056 78,193 964,300
Sl Additions 2,876 - 14,728 - 118 284,552 302,274
HEMBAR Disposal of a subsidiary
(PEE38(a)) (note 38(a)) (14,104) - (90) - (254) - (14,448)
HisA (BEE (D) Write-off (note (ii) (11,845) - (20,071) - - (2,931) (34,847)
HE Disposals - - - (106) - - (106)
& Depreciation (13,834) - (92,822) (466) (1,105) - (108,227)
&% Transfer - - 323 (323) - - -
TREEMDE  Redlassified upon
completion 66,741 - 112,363 - 47 (179,151) -
RZB-h% As at 31 December 2019
+ZA=1+-H 243,429 - 682,079 913 1,862 180,663 1,108,946
R=E-h% As at 31 December 2019
TZA=1-H
A Cost 351,028 35 1,342,298 4,004 11,279 180,663 1,889,307
RENER Accumulated depreciation
FEEE and impairment losses ~ (107,599) (35) (660,219) (3,091) (9.417) - (780,361)
REFE Net carrying amount 243,429 - 682,079 913 1,862 180,663 1,108,946

@ RECTERRARAF —E-NEER
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=t
V% - BERRE (&)

AEBZBFURILRTHHEHERE 2+ EHE
Bt o

R-ZE—N\F+-_A=+—8 BHRZXKZE
REEATEMERENE TTBREFHIRE
R DARESEREFELH AR 31,068,000
TZEFZEREFBRER - FA - BRINE
BREET L EEFBRER -

e

iy HTYE BEIRRER -Z—)\FHH -
TEEEATREA

- IHFEER (ZARRNHEEE (M=
@) BETBAARRRKERR)
FREDFE A ARY 18,261,000 TTHE
TIZLYE - BERRECHERA -
YR =T — ) \FrIME - RERRRK
B TIEMFHRIMEER AN G EE
BB - HtFBEENA
AREMA—ZE-\FN\ATEHNR
HFEAIMERRERBE-T N
F+-A=t+—HLENMRFES
AIRIERZ D EEEE) - FUL R
X BEMXKBE—Z—/\FAKE
BE R

- B 6 ATEEML - FRAAURE £t - AR
EEEREFEAARY2,807,0007T
NETEEYER T — )\ EMs -

iy MHEEAE (ME383) Al » EFSRER
IET#HEENEE  RRAREABEROE
R IEBEB TR EMEEE - FIBE
HRAABERHA-—_ZE-AENA+NR
BWRER - TEaRELETSEEARN
ME - BEREBHOERDFELBARKE
34,847,000 JTE R AR ©

B R AR BT RE

Notes to the Financial Statements
—NF+=A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

The Group’s buildings are situated on leasehold lands under
medium-term in the PRC.

As at 31 December 2018, building ownership certificates of
buildings with net carrying amount of RMB31,068,000 had not yet
been obtained due to delay in finalisation of certain administrative
process for the transfer of legal title. During the year, these building
ownership certificates have all been successfully obtained.

Notes:

(i) Certain property, plant and equipment were written off in 2018 and
this mainly comprised the following:

- Certain non-core property, plant and equipment of Jiangsu
Chunxiao, which is no longer be a subsidiary of the Company
after the Disposal (note 38(a)), with a net carrying amount of
RMB 18,261,000 were shut down and they were written off
in 2018 because additional investment cost for environmental
improvement and rectification work outweighed their future
economic benefits. Further details had been set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 10 August 2018. The core
production activities of Jiangsu Chunxiao were originally
scheduled to be resumed by the end of the financial year
ended 31 December 2019, thus the remaining property, plant
and equipment were not impaired in 2018; and

- As detailed in note 6, as a result of the resumption of land,
certain buildings of the Group with a net carrying amount of
RMB2,807,000 were written off in 2018.

(i)  Before the Disposal (note 38(a)), the Board decided to cease the
production of Jiangsu Chunxiao because the resumption of its
production became highly unlikely in the foreseeable future. Details
were set out in the Company’s announcement dated 18 April 2019.
Total net carrying amount of the property, plant and equipment of
Jiangsu Chunxiao directly related to production activities amounting
to RMB34,847,000 were written off during the year.
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14. FE{FLEERE 14. PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS
—EB-NEF —E-N\F
2019 2018
ARBTR ARET T
RMB’000 RMB’000

R+=-—A=+—~H At 31 December 62,409 64,509

BAERABBHEHREZER]  Impact of initial application of

F16RTE HKFRS 16 (note)

(BfF3E) (62,409) -
N—H—B#EERE Adjusted balance at 1 January - 64,509
TEAS 0 A0 & IR O Amortisation of prepaid land lease payments - (1,679)
Hiss (FisEe) Write-off (note 6) - 421)
R+—A=+—H At 31 December - 62,409
RANEREL 7 (B BEETER Current portion (included in prepayments

TR I H At fE U GRIE) and other receivables) (note 21)

(BtzE21) - (1,667)
FEENEREE o Non-current portion - 60,742
NEE BN T A EHTE JiiER R 2 Hf The Group’s prepaid land lease payments were held under medium-
HERE - term in the PRC.

Misr - ANEBEC YL EREBIMIERE LS 16 Note: The Group has initially applied the modified retrospective method
SRAEIERTBIE - B RAERIER S ST under HKFRS 16, in relation to the leases that were previously
ERF17TEEREAKREHENTEE 1A classified as operating leases applying HKAS17, and adjusted the
B—F— N E—F—HHEYES o TR opening balances at 1 January 2019. Upon the adoption of HKFRS
EEMBHRELERF 165 R_F—Hh 16, amounts previously stated as prepaid land lease payments with
F—H—A0 - UAEd ATFEN T EERES the carrying amount of RMB62,409,000 have been fully reclassified
BRE A A R# 62,409,000 TE 23 E DA as right-of-use assets (note 37) as at 1 January 2019.

REECRE (fFE37) -

15. BEY 15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
REYENDNAEAE=PRNEEHEAR The fair value of investment properties is a Level 3 recurring fair
BztE - HHWIMNEIRN AR EASGHEEmDE value measurement. A reconciliation of the opening and closing fair
B RE BRI T - value balances and changes to the carrying amounts is summarised

as follows:
—E-NEF —ZE-N\F
2019 2018
AR%F T ARETTT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
n—HA—H At 1 January 22,500 20,400
WEYEEHIEE Revaluation gain on investment properties 1,400 2,100
R+=—A=+—H At 31 December 23,900 22,500

RECTERRARAF “E-NEFFR




15.

=t
REWE (&)

BREYWER T NF+-_A=+—HHEB
VPR ERMTEEREREAR AR ([&
2| ) (AT E R RENE 2 &5%) #
1TE - BEEEEARE 1,400,000 (=
—\F : AR¥2,100,0007T) DHEAFEERE

Nz 27
TR AERR °

AEBZREMEUNIETFHREEREZF
BEE -

FA - AWERE—RRIERE —FH 2 HNE
% R ABASEBLE=FR (ZF—N
FE) o

BRENE 2 AAETIREERRAAER L
BOABRE - MEBDERALEYME 2 UE
T BUUKRN - BB ME - FERGTE
ZATL MR EITAMN ©

E
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Notes to the Financial Statements
—E—NF+=A=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Investment properties were revalued as at 31 December 2019 by an
independent firm of chartered surveyors, Eidea Professional Services
Company Limited (“Eidea”), who has recent experience in the
location and category of properties being valued. Revaluation gain
of RMB1,400,000 (2018: RMB2,100,000) was recognised in profit
or loss for the year.

The Group's investment properties are situated on leasehold lands
under medium-term in the PRC.

During the year, there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2,
and no transfers into or out of Level 3 (2018: Nil).

The fair value of investment properties is determined using direct
comparison approach based on the principle of substitution, where
the comparison is made based on asking prices of comparable
properties. Comparable properties of similar size, scale, nature,
character and location are analysed.

&E
Range
—E-hF —T-N\F
TaEE@MmAE : Unobservable input(s): 2019 2018
VIR 2 58 Premium on characteristic of the properties 10% to 19% 15% to 43%

WREMERE (BREA) - RE - HE -
RFERUE) WREERS - B S2HEER

WA IR

HERMNFRLESE - HRMEN DA
ErfEETENER RREEBMRE - LBY
ERELERAZ -

Higher premium for the characteristic (including size, scale, nature,
character and location) of the investment properties will result in
correspondingly higher fair value.

There were no changes to the valuation techniques during the

year. The fair value measurement is based on the above properties’
highest and best use, which does not differ from their actual use.
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16. BHE

16. GOODWILL
—ZE-hEF —ZE-N\E
2019 2018
AR¥T T AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
R—HA—H At 1 January - 17,668
B OREETE Less: impairment loss - (17,668)
Rt+=—B=+—H At 31 December - =

RRBE_T-\Ft_A=t—HLFE
EITREANR  BEIEETIH#FERE (X
EE1A (MIFE38(a) KE N B RN AN B
NAE) MBESELBMN - IHEBRENRESE
ABMHE R SR DIRBEREEEE
MEREEDZEEA M ENTFRARER
MERBR S RETRRE - AFHREARD
ReRmERMFTINEFEBRRE2% (T
BPBEETIITRORAERSR) #HE - L
FRERBBRARIRE - WYERMRERBARSE
EEUABNARER o

For the purpose of impairment testing for the year ended 31
December 2018, goodwill was allocated to CGU of Jiangsu
Chunxiao, which is no longer be a subsidiary of the Company after
the Disposal (note 38(a)). The recoverable amount of the CGU of
Jiangsu Chunxiao had been determined by value-in-use calculation
based on discounted cash flow projections from formally approved
budgets covering a five-year period. Cash flows beyond the five-
year period were extrapolated using an estimated weighted average
growth rate of 2%, which did not exceed the long-term growth
rate for the chemical industry in the PRC. The discount rate used
was pre-tax and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant CGU.

—F—N\F

2018

R Growth rate 2%
ARG IR =& Pre-tax discount rate 15.7%

et RBRRIREEBRBERSELEME
ERARHEEMEERNARRETE < TH
FERENRESELEM ARG S E BB
ARAEETTREMRE  RARABRESEL
B A W Ol S BRRE E FHA B N AR -

EwWEAABERELEKAW REBBFEH
BEH - BFERAE UETHEEFEETE
MR SEEEMNAIRE B AT AARE
83,374,000t HREE - W% BE K
= AN HBEERERKEDE - BE

REZEMNTeNERES I AARE
17,668,000 7T * AFR#68,035,0007T * AR
#15,296,000 T & AR#43,0007T + BEIR
SEABEMTIRREREEARE 17,668,000
TC - WEAEDBLANMUR =T — \FRmEmEER
HfE °

@ RECTERERDE —E-NEER

Estimates and assumptions were determined by management
based on the past performance of the CGU and management’s
expectation for the market development. The recoverable amount
of the CGU of Jiangsu Chunxio was estimated by an independent
firm of chartered surveyors, Eidea, who has the appropriate
qualification and experience in the valuation of recoverable amount
of CGU.

It was concluded that the fair value less cost of disposal did not
exceed the value-in-use. The Directors were of the view that the
recoverable amount of the CGU determined by the value-in-use
calculation, was estimated to be RMB83,374,000. As the carrying
amounts of goodwill, property, plant and equipment, prepaid land
lease payments and deposits paid for acquisition of property, plant
and equipment amounted to RMB17,668,000, RMB68,035,000,
RMB15,296,000 and RMB43,000 respectively, which resulted in
an impairment loss of RMB17,668,000 in respect of the CGU was
identified and allocated to write down its carrying amounts of
goodwill in 2018.
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BmILEE 17. INTANGIBLE ASSET
95 A
Technical
knowhow
ARMT T
RMB’000
RZZE—N\FE—H—H At 1 January 2018 17,586
B Amortisation (1,803)

RZZF—\F+=H=+—H At 31 December 2018 and 1 January 2019

r=F—-hF—H—H 15,783
#iH Amortisation (1,804)
RZZF—h&F+=-HA=+—H At 31 December 2019 13,979

BYEESER_FT—
FAE o PRI AN B S E R BEAREIRE AR A]
EAFMI0FFHE - YEFAR

MTTE R E A 2B

THENA KB
BlRasR P

This represented technical knowhow acquired in September 2017.
Amortisation on technical knowhow is charged on straight-line
method over their estimated useful life of 10 years and is included
in administrative and other operating expenses on the consolidated

income statement.

IRFER IR 18. DEFERRED TAX
AEEEHBUATEZREHBEEE, (8 The following is the major deferred tax assets/(liabilities) recognised
&) : by the Group:
Bt
fERE/
BANEAR  EEERE
AOBHE Prepaid
HEFERE Undistributed ~ land lease
Impairment ~~ REYNE  BEWA  profisof  payments  EREE
HBER loss Investment  Deferred foreign  Right-of-use  Intangible &t
Taxlosses  allowance  properties income  subsidiaries assets asset Total
AEBTR  ARETRT ARETR ARETr ARETn ARETn ARMTR AR%TR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
RZE-\E-F-A At 1 January 2018 16,497 - (8,823) 2,59 (12,000) (2,059) (4,39) (8,186)
HAEE/ (BEEMR)  Credited(Charged) to
(Frzx9) profit or loss (note 9) 14,524 - (1,362) (325) 6,000 52 451 19,340
RZE-N\E At 31 December 2018
+ZA=+-Bk and 1 January 2019
“E-71%5-F-H 31,021 - (10,185) 2,210 (6,000) (2,007) (3,945) 11,154
HERBA (HEE38@)  Disposal of a subsidiary (note 38(a) (2,286) - - - - 1,981 - (305)
RIFEZSENACERS  Derecognition of deferred tax
HEBRRE, assets in relations to tax
EILHRAE (9) losses previously recognised
(note 9) (7.433) - - - - - - (7.433)
(&R /GABE  (Charged)Credited to
(Ktzt9) profit or loss (note 9) (3882) 8,055 (9m3) (326) - % 450 3350
RZE-NETZA=T—H At31 December 2019 17,420 8,055 (11,158) 1,944 (6,000) - (3.495) 6,766
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18.

EEBIR (&)

AT RpLAR & B ISR R PR 2 R AR IR A
BT

18. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for the
consolidated statement of financial position purposes:

—E-hF —E—N\F

2019 2018

AR®F T AREFIT

RMB’000 RMB’000

FETIBE Deferred tax assets 27,419 33,291
FEERIBEE Deferred tax liabilities (20,653) (22,137)
6,766 11,154

RmEBH AEEHFEESIHNREREE
AR#43,101,000c (ZZE—NF: AR
21,060,000 7T) DA 4K 88 1% 2R B9 5 Al o BB
RZENB AT HEE RS R EZ5E
BERF MR ATAITER - b EHEAR
43,101,000t (=2 — \NF: AR
21,060,000 7)) FEREMIELERIBEE ©

BRARFIEHIERNBARAKEEE - B
0] B AS SRR KAl g Bl B B R 2= 58+ i)
Aot AEE THBEMBARNR-EZ/\F
— A— BEBKRED BT N TaiR g
VIRERIE B EL AR 78,075,0007T (=
T—N\F: AR#¥97,457,0007T) - R=_=
—hWEF+-A=+—H  ZEXRELBFE
sH# A AR 780,752,000 (—ZZF— )\ 45 :
AE¥974,567,0007T) °

At the reporting date, the Group has deductible temporary
differences of RMB43,101,000 (2018: RMB21,060,000) for
offsetting against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been
recognised in respect of RMB43,101,000 (2018: RMB21,060,000)
due to the unpredictability of future profit streams of these
subsidiaries which have such deductible temporary differences.

Deferred tax liabilities of approximately RMB78,075,000 (2018:
RMB97,457,000) have not been established for the withholding
tax that would be payable on the unremitted earnings of certain
subsidiaries in the PRC made after 1 January 2008 because the
Company controls the dividend policy of its subsidiaries and
it is not probable that the temporary differences will reverse
in the foreseeable future. Such unremitted earnings totalled
approximately RMB780,752,000 as at 31 December 2019 (2018:
RMB974,567,000).

19. #& 19. INVENTORIES
—EB-hE —E)N\F
2019 2018
AR®ET T ARET T
RMB’000 RMB'000
B R R ERE S Raw materials and consumables 31,385 47,840
H 5K G Work in progress 16,687 20,765
P Finished goods 54,334 70,656
102,406 139,261

@ RECTERRARAF —E-NEER
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20. EZRWERREVRERE 20. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLE
—E-hF —ZE-NF
2019 2018
AR®BFR ARBFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
B Z R Trade receivables 187,562 198,979
e Bills receivable 106,510 107,849
294,072 306,828
R ERTIE R Less: impairment loss allowance
(B 41(ii)(<)) (note 41iii)(c)) (4,068) (311)
290,004 306,517
AEBGETESEPZEEH—MBNT—E The Group allows credit periods normally ranging from one
AEXEATE (ZE—N\F : N TF—1@A month to six months (2018: one month to six months) to its trade
ZXEATE) - BRERR T EZRITHE customers. Bills receivable are non-interest bearing bank acceptance
HER RERAETE —FUR(ZZE—N bills and aged within a year (2018: within a year) upon issuance.
F:—FHUR) - BURFPHERT 2&EE Each customer has a maximum credit limit. The Group seeks to
EIREE o NEEBUIH B BRAE R 15 ERGE maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables. Overdue
IS - BIEE e EHERAERK balances are reviewed regularly by management.
RIERE - BSRIEREREKREE (0B Ageing analysis of trade and bills receivable (net of loss allowance)
BB ER) RBEERHMEZRE DT at the reporting date, based on the invoice date, is stated as
T @ follows:
—B-NEF —E-N\F
2019 2018
ARMT T ARBT T
RMB’000 RMB’'000
0Z90H 0 to 90 days 222,001 260,641
912180 H 91 to 180 days 30,998 31,803
1812365 H 181 to 365 days 28,138 2,168
H#iE 365 H Over 365 days 8,867 11,905
290,004 306,517
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EZRURRERRE (&)

R-ZE-NFE+-A=1+—8  "&E@@AH
FERmSERFRLZRBIT ([FETIRT))
BT —FRPEH (ZE—N\EFE: —FRT
HA) BRME A R# 702,366,000 7T (—Z— )\
& AR#584,125,0007T) 2 4717 4 K, &

20. 20.

R([BERE])  NEERNZSHER

MEZEMNEREMEMKB ([BE])-
R-ZE—AFE+-_A=+—H REEA
R #340,840,000T (ZZ—N\F : ARH
187,573,000 7T) KA ERIBHAREIE o BRIE

I =R=—155
db == 56

REIREA - MBETIRITRESN

B a7~
BRBEANBRAASEBERER ([HEY
k) - BFRR BEEZBRMEMEAMAER

BREAFHERNEEREEER - Fit - &

SEDKRIIEASEZBENMERE S EMNE

REMBMNRENZEREE ARERS
ERBNRBESIELEZ &R AR KER

ZEEERBCAMARTREMREFNER
HE BEERR AKEREERBEIRHE

BRHARELRERK

HE_ZT—NGFrk_ZT—N\EF+_A=+—

HIEFE  A&EEYEEARNSEREME

gz B EE - BEREFRNELR
FOA - HERSEY RER TR E
Ko BEENMBFERNRF LT -

B 5 RNELERRE 2 REE (NREER

1 December 2019

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLE (Continued)

At 31 December 2019, the Group endorsed bank acceptance
bills (the “Endorsed Bills”) issued by several banks in the PRC (the
“Issuing Banks") with a carrying amount of RMB702,366,000 (2018:
RMB584,125,000), with maturity within one year (2018: within one
year) to certain of its suppliers for settlement of its trade and other
payables due to these suppliers (the “Endorsement”). Among of the
Endorsed Bills with a carrying amount of RMB340,840,000 (2018:
RMB187,573,000) were not matured as at 31 December 2019.
In accordance with the Negotiable Instruments Law of the PRC,
a holder of the Endorsed Bills has a right of recourse against the
Group if default of payment by the Issuing Banks (the “Continuing
Involvement”). In the opinion of the Directors, all risks and rewards
relating to the Endorsed Bills have been substantially transferred
upon the Endorsement. Accordingly, the Group has derecognised
the full carrying amounts of the Endorsed Bills and the associated
trade and other payables. The maximum exposure arising from
the Group’s Continuing linvolvement in the Endorsed Bills and the
undiscounted cash flows to repurchase these Endorsed Bills equal
to their carrying amounts. In the opinion of the Directors, the fair
values of the Group’s Continuing Involvement in the Endorsed Bills
were not significant.

During the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Group
had not recognised any gain or loss arising from of the Endorsed
Bills. No gain or loss were recognised from the Continuing
Involvement, both during the years or cumulative years. The
Endorsement had been made evenly throughout the years.

The carrying amounts of trade and bills receivable (net of loss

BAE) AT E®EEHE allowance) are denominated in the following currencies:
—E-hEF —T— N\
2019 2018
ARET T ARETIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR RMB 239,560 254,725
£ us$ 50,444 51,792
290,004 306,517

R-ZZE—NAF+-A=1+—8H BREEA
R #106,510,0007c (ZZE—\F : AR¥
107,849,000 7T) A Bt AR M2 E W R
e BRREBHARBERE RN AR
Bt 2 - J@BBFERIEK - EERBFF
FHINMEA TR Z AR A2 M XA AR
RIS MEMETE © FA - WERE L7
BE-HAIAAEENES  hEE A

ANVIN

BEE=FH (ZZ—N\F : &) -

@ REBCTEBRERAT —E-NEER

As at 31 December 2019, bills receivable amounting to
RMB106,510,000 (2018: RMB107,849,000) was measured at
FVOCI. The fair value of bills receivable was at a level 2 fair value
measurement which has been calculated by discounting the
expected future cash flows using rates currently available for
instruments with similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities.
During the year, there was no transfer between level 1 and level 2
fair value hierarchy or transfer into or out of level 3 (2018: Nil).
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20. EZRUWIRKEWRE (&)

21.

R-ZE-NFE+ZA=1+—8 EREES
¥E AR #6,000,0007T (=T — N\F : £) >
ERENZE AR 6,000,000 7T (ZF—/\
& ) (fizE24) fEHIEA -

AR BRI PN 5 3() Ao 9 & 5t R FE AR
BEE - FHIRER M EE 1)) X (d) °
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Notes to the Financial Statements
—E—NF+=A=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

20. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLE (Continued)

As at 31 December 2019, bills receivable included an amount of
RMB6,000,000 (2018: Nil) which was pledged for bills payable of
RMB6,000,000 (2018: Nil) (note 24).

The Group recognised impairment loss based on the accounting
policy stated in note 3(i), details of which are set out in to note
41 (jii)(c) and (d).

21. PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

—E-hF —E)N\F
2019 2018
AR%TR AREBFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
A it FE P B RK Advances to suppliers 12,938 9,972
AU B HY 3B (E RS Value-added-tax recoverables 24,342 16,845
TEf IR Prepayments 618 613
BBEWE - BERERED Deposits paid for acquisition of property,
EEHERACIEIC) plant and equipment (note (a)) - 42,000
Gl NG E Amounts due from a former subsidiary
(P 38(b)) (note 38(b)) 48,938 -
H b U kIR Other receivables 1,335 3,316
FEWRTHT B R AlHY Amount due from Ex-Equity Holder
A=A AFUR of a former subsidiary (note (b))
(PFiaE (b)) - 8,637
TEf T AR EFRIE Prepaid land lease payments — current portion
- BIEAER S (Bi=E14) (note 14) - 1,667
88,171 83,050
B FEURATHT B A RIFUEAY  Less: impairment loss on amounts due
R EEE (M5E38(b)) from a former subsidiary (note 38(b)) (24,720) =
63,451 83,050
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21. ERREREMERRE (£) 21.

Wik

BRER-ZTE—+tFNARITNZMNER
([%AR]) MIERMEHE - ARFEIZE2E
MERA R ESARIEIHERART ([#
WER]) M—BBYE=F ([FH]) X
&£ AR 42,000,000 0 tEBWEZ
BAERER LTS ([572]) -
DM I RE EERER A ([ZUKE]D) -

(a)

Hig #OBBERZEEERBAREN
ZEFMANRIEERE AMERZAR
ZERER o HINBBEMRD P RARE
B (DDA ] ) IREDERRE - BRKF S
RETUBEANEERATTERZES

ﬁzﬁa

RIEVGEFRAME M FTERMIEX - STRER
T \Ft+ A=+ HOEAPHIRRER

FRHER AR EBN B EE B TR AN SRIE IR Bt FE K
o

FA - DB BERTERFET R - T
AERZARNRERERERZA R A
MEERBNRITTISEE - RE - BRZ
Ui o A EE AR b AR sl i — HE PR TR AT A
Bz A RPTRIEEE - SO EER B
TZAaR - Fit - AEFEEZIEEEA
RZZB-NE+ZA=+—HoERaHBMK
SR - BE R R - ZBMBERF
REAZTERX ©

@ RECTERERDE —E-NEER

PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

Notes:

(a)

Weifang Binhai Petro-Chem Co., Ltd (“Weifang Binhai”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, paid an independent third party
(the “Party A") an aggregate amount of RMB42,000,000 as deposits
(the “Deposits”) for acquisitions of various production facilities and
a piece of land for the construction of a thermoelectric factory in
Shandong (the “Acquisition”) pursuant to the terms and clauses
under several contracts executed in April 2017 (the “Contracts”).

Thereafter, Weifang Binhai found that these production facilities
could not be functioning according to the Contracts, which led
to a fundamental breach to the Contracts. Weifang Binhai filed a
legal claim in Weifang Intermediate People’s Court (the “Weifang
Court”) against Party A to recover the Deposits and compensate
the loss suffered by Weifang Binhai due to Party A's breach of the
terms and conditions of the Contracts. The Deposits were recognised
as prepayments and other receivables under current assets in the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2018
accordingly.

During the year, Weifang Binhai and Party A reached a supplemental
agreement that Party A agreed to reduce the consideration of the
Contracts to represent the latest market value of the productions
facilities under the Contracts. Meanwhile, Weifang Binhai agreed
to execute the Contracts as the production facilities under the
Acquisition could be functioned according to the Contracts subject to
further modification works. Therefore, the Deposits brought forward
from previous year are transferred to property, plant and equipment
in the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2019. The Acquisition finally completed during the year.
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21. ANRERAEERRER (&)

BieE : (&)

(b)

EEUR=E—AFAARKABTES
7 (TR AL BB ISR - R(E
A AR 39,229,000 7T ©

WEE—+5F - IFHEREKEEMNFLRA
BB (TEMFHLER ) Bz e 5
FIHERRER GRS EAZ
BEHEENAR ([HEF]) BEER A

B MEESFRERBHBZERA - ZE
RIE BB B —RF N AREEITA

BRERTVEL - BETR - BINFILEBR T2IT
BHEE (EREBERA) BHSFENM
AHREARERNEBESFREERS AR
5,000,000 T R FEETFIE ([a@<R] ) o

RIZE-NFENARK  AEEEESMNTE
HEARER ([EMSEER]) R=F
—NFERABEME—Rn<  FRTFHER
SRR W M K AT A AR R
2% - AR RTA A RESIEZ ER
A o REERIDELBRILN T —XRFh
RS TR ERE R BIR(EL -

REZZ—N\E+A - BNSBER TSI
HE (EABEIERA) BRiESHE AR
HMBERRENESELIHREERTSAR
8,000,000 st M FERTAIE ([ 2] ) °

R-ZZ—N\E+-_A=1+—0 ERNGZAH
BHRERFBDLENG L LR EREELR
SEARE17,141,0007C (FBERKERZAK
& AR #13,000,0007T  BE-_ZT—N\&
T A=+ —BREAFI R RN EEAEE
R E R AR ) FBE -

21.

PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b)

Shanghai Dehong completed the acquisition of Jiangsu Chunxiao
from an independent third party (the “Ex-Equity Holder”) for a
consideration of RMB39,229,000 in September 2016.

In 2017, Jiangsu Chunxiao received an order from Changzhou Xinbei
District People’s Court (the “Changzhou Xinbei Court”) relating to a
dispute on a guarantee given by Jiangsu Chunxiao to a company (the
“Defendant A”), which was wholly-owned by the Ex-Equity Holder,
for a loan agreement under which Defendant A was the borrower.
Such guarantee had been made prior to the acquisition of Jiangsu
Chunxiao by Shanghai Dehong in September 2016. Subsequently,
the Changzhou Xinbei Court ordered that Jiangsu Chunxiao, as a
guarantor capacity of the debt, was jointly and severally liable to pay
the outstanding principal of RMB5,000,000 plus accrued interest
arising from the default of Defendant A (the “Order A").

At the end of August 2018, the Group was acknowledged that
another order issued by the Changzhou Jintan District People’s Court
(the “Changzhou Jintan Court”) in July 2018 relating to disputes on
two guarantees given by Jiangsu Chunxiao to its Ex-Equity Holder for
loan agreements under which the Ex-Equity Holder was the borrower.
Such guarantees were again made prior to the acquisition of Jiangsu
Chunxiao by Shanghai Dehong in September 2016.

In October 2018, the Changzhou Jintan Court ordered that Jiangsu
Chunxiao, as a guarantor of the loans, was jointly and severally liable
to pay the outstanding principal of RMB8,000,000 plus accrued
interest arising from the default of the Ex-Equity Holder (the “Order
B").

As at 31 December 2018, provision for legal claims in relation
to the Order A and Order B in the aggregated amount of
RMB17,141,000, representing the total outstanding principals in
sum of RMB13,000,000, accrued interest up to 31 December 2018
and other legal expenses estimated by the Group’s legal counsel, had
been made on the consolidated financial statements.
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21. ERREREMERRE (£) 21.

BieE : (&)

RIE S EAEATERSIE A AR T —~F
FINMEEDE ([EERE]) G RIE
X EBESAERER Al FARGERA
FTEBRESHEREA ANEERE -
MR-TB—N\E+-_A=1+—BEMN#ER
#H AARE 8,504,000 THRIAD 25K
HEERRESRE  WEBN T /\F+=
A=+—HEKAERIZEEAREARE
8,637,000 7T °

(b)

FEU AT #E = 5B A SR IEA R 8,637,000 7T
HAERFEEARERNE TEEWEER
B ZEWER=_T-N\F+=-A=1+—H
K BT E A AR 11,000,000 ° ALt
BEFRRR - N\FT+-_RA=+—HHBE
Ve R SRR -

HEFIE (FIFE38(a) 1% - RNEBEMERS B
BRARPRUIEERBE T NFNA
—+\ BB BRI A AFIRIERR
BB -

22. BIEFRITER

RZBE—-hE+=ZA=+—8 " FIEXA
R#6,000,0007T (ZE—NF: £) RAR
#902,0007C (ZZE— N\ : AR# 691,000
7o) B9 Bl B ER RiR A KR ®6,000,0007T
(FF5E24) fEHIEIR - ARIBIERB AR S
WREMEAFLRRGENRE - RZZT—N
F+—A=+—8 ' AR¥ 2,000,000 TE
BEB S E RBURHRES °

EERR ARFHE  DEMRTERZ
AREREEMEZHETEEAER -

@ RECTERERDE —E-NEER

PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b)

Under the terms and clause of sale and purchase agreement (the
“SPA") entered into between Shanghai Dehong and the Ex-Equity
Holder in 2016, Shanghai Dehong was entitled to be indemnified
by the Ex-Equity Holder for all losses arising from these legal cases
mentioned above. The full amount due to the Ex-Equity Holder
amount of RMB8,504,000 as at 31 December 2018 was being off-set
against the legal claims amount and resulting in an amount due from
the Ex-Equity Holder of RMB8,637,000 as at 31 December 2018.

Amounts due from the Ex-Equity Holder of RMB8,637,000 were
secured by certain residential properties held by the Ex-Equity Holder
with a total market value of RMB11,000,000 as at 31 December
2018. Hence, the Directors considered that no loss allowance was
required as at 31 December 2018.

Upon the Disposal (note 38(a)), amount due from Ex-Equity Holder
and provision for legal claims up to 28 June 2019 were derecognised
in the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position.

22. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS

As at 31 December 2019, bank deposits of RMB6,000,000 (2018:
Nil) and RMB902,000 (2018: RMB691,000) were pledged for bills
payable of RMB6,000,000 (note 24) and were frozen to secure
a litigation case under the PRC court order respectivley. As at 31
December 2018, RMB2,000,000 was imposed by relevant local
authorities as security deposits.

The Directors consider that the fair values of the pledged bank
deposits are not materially different from their carrying amount
because of the short maturity period.
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—E—NF+=A=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

23.

BANK AND CASH BALANCES

The Group’s bank and cash balances amounted to approximately
RMB143,465,000 (2018: RMB34,805,000) were denominated in
RMB. Conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is subject to the
PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of
Settlement, Sales and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations.

The carrying amounts of bank and cash balances are denominated
in the following currencies:

—E-hE —E=— N\
2019 2018
AR®ET T ARETIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
proda HK$ 2,784 2,050
= us$ 18,011 12,250
AR RMB 143,465 34,805
BT EUR 245 =
164,505 49,105

ESENREEREE 24. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLE
—E-hE —E—N\F
2019 2018
ARETT ARETTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
2 S FERTER Trade payables 28,443 45,040
ANES S Bills payable 16,000 =
44,443 45,040

BoRNERENEENEEHAEN T30
EZ270BTME(ZZE—N\F : NTF30F180
HAE) - RREAH - ESRNERENE
BIRBEZ BT EZ BRIR D ATZAT

Trade and bills payable normally have the credit periods ranging
from 30 to 270 days (2018: 30 to 180 days). Ageing analysis of
trade and bills payable at the reporting date, based on the invoice
date, is as follows:

—EB-NhEF —E-)N\F

2019 2018

AR¥T T ARBFT

RMB’000 RMB’000

0&£90H 0 to 90 days 25,651 38,449
91&180H 91 to 180 days 11,315 4,551
181 2365 H 181 to 365 days 6,648 1,096
83 365 H Over 365 days 829 944
44,443 45,040
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24, EFRNRRENRE (B) 24. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLE (Continued)
RZFT-—hhF+ZA=1+—08 BEKEE As at 31 December 2019, bills receivable and pledged bank
REERRITEFRD 5 A K 6,000,000 deposits of RMB6,000,000 (note 20) (2018: Nil) and RMB6,000,000
7T (200 (Z2E—NF: |&) RARK (note 22) (2018: Nil) respectively were pledged for bills payable
6,000,000 (FI7E22) (=& — \F : &) of RMB12,000,000 (2018:Nil). Bills payable of RMB4,000,000 are
ERENEZEARE12,000000T (== guaranteed by the Company’s subsidiaries established in the PRC
—NF:E) FHER - BENEBREARRK (2018: Nil).

4,000,000 7T T3 R AN A RIFE A B A 37 B9 B B
AR (ZT—N\F : &) -
B S EMNRRENZENREEBETAARE The carrying amounts of trade and bills payable are denominated
FHE - FTARIEY ARENE - B SER in RMB. All amounts are short term and hence the carrying values
REENZEERORIENSEREEEQ R of trade and bills payable are considered to be a reasonable
BEAR - approximation of their fair values.
25. BEARMARRK EALEATRIE 25. ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES
—E-hEF —E-)N\F
2019 2018
ARBT T ARBFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
MEEYE  HEX Payables for property, plant and
BB EFIE equipment 175,377 147,946
ER RN Accrued expenses 12,640 12,259
BN TE kT Wages and welfare payables 16,020 6,347
Efth e FRIE Other payables 62,066 37,069
EIEWA - B H o Deferred income — current portion
(BtzE30) (note 30) 1,302 1,302
267,405 204,923
26. EHNEE 26. CONTRACT LIABILITIES
R-ZE—NEF RZZ—N\F RZE—N\F
+t=A=+-—H +=A=+—H —A—H
31 December 31 December 1 January
2019 2018 2018
AR¥T T ARETTT ARETTT
RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
BRIBEEES - Contract liabilities arising
from:
HERMETER Sale of fine chemical
products 15,803 6,917 7,188

AEERHERBCIER KRNI B
BHERE EEERXNTEFAL -

EEH2opX

REBCTERRERAR

—E-NEER

The deposits received by the Group on sales of fine chemical
products remain as contract liabilities until such time as goods are
delivered to customers.
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26. CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Continued)

Movement of the contract liabilities is as follows:

—E-hEF —E-N\F
2019 2018
ARETT AREEFTT
RMB’000 RMB'000
R—A—B#& Balance as at 1 January 6,917 7,188
FAERREXEE L Net amounts recognised as revenue
HRE (fizke) during the year (note 6) (5,960) (6,237)
FRRE P UEH Net amounts received in advance
BFRE from customers during the year 14,846 5,966
Rt A=+—R#& Balance at 31 December 15,803 6,917
RITIER 27. BANK BORROWINGS
—E-hF —ZT-N\F
2019 2018
AR¥TR ARETTT
RMB’000 RMB'000
FIHRER R D IRTTIE K Portion of bank borrowings due for repayment
— Bk —F R () — On demand or within one year (note) 170,000 20,000

BfeE : PRARITRFIHINAREHE - RITERE
#ARY70,000,0007C (ZF—N\F : AR
#20,000,0007T) 1A K # 100,000,000 7T

—N\F &) DRI AR AT B
SR A RANEILE = 77 (LR o

E’\::—:—ﬂ¢+_ﬂi+—ﬁ » AN EHYER

TREREBRERGEABREEE (T

Note: All bank borrowings are denominated in RMB. Bank borrowings
amount of RMB70,000,000 (2018: RMB20,000,000) and
RMB100,000,000 (2018: Nil) are guaranteed by the Company’s
subsidiaries established in the PRC and an independent third party
respectively.

At 31 December 2019, the Group’s bank borrowings were
scheduled to repay which set out in the loan agreements if ignore

nﬂ:t_ﬁhzﬁita RIGREZE) » FHIBWT - the effect of any repayment on demand clause as follows:
—E-hEF —E—)N\F
2019 2018
AR¥T T ARBFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
—FR Within one year 170,000 20,000

REBIRITIEROBERFN RBE LT -

The ranges of effective interest rates per annum of the Group’s
bank borrowings are as follows:

—s-nE —B—N\F
2019 2018

Rof=geeeos
/?EJE A

- UARKEEHE

Floating-rate borrowings
— Denominated in RMB

5.22% t0 7.0% 4.97% 10 5.22%

EEZFBIEMIGHEEARRE S REEIRM
AEHRITERNARE - quﬁﬁf‘%i&iﬁ
AR EIRITIE R REE R E A R EMEI

The Directors estimate the fair value of the bank borrowings
by discounting their future cash flows at the market rate and
consider that the carrying amounts of the Group’s bank borrowings
approximate to their fair values at each reporting date.
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28.

29.

30.

RE—BFEZRRRNVBRK

KB — R IR R A BRI IR - TE
B YR —FAZIHEE -

REBRKIEZERATNER

REFKERATNBREZELELRS B
14,300,000 (FEEH AR 12,836,0007T)
(—Z— \4F : 5% 14,300,0007C * HHER
AR #12,530,0007T) & A R# 50,000,000
T (ZZE—N\F : AR¥55000,0007C) A9
B ZSERTEER  RERER2%:
BER—FREHEE -

IEFEUA

BB A B AR T R e B A SR
MBEFRREMNETHREREZRE
T o AEHPABERBITHRIFRKBEEFEH

28.

29.

30.

ADVANCES FROM A NON-CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDER

Advances from a non-controlling shareholder is unsecured, interest
free and due for repayment within one year.

ADVANCES FROM THE ULTIMATE HOLDING
COMPANY

Advances from the ultimate holding company mainly represent
loans with principal amounts of HK$14,300,000 (equivalent
to RMB12,836,000) (2018: HK$14,300,000, equivalent to
RMB12,530,000) and RMB50,000,000 (2018: RMB55,000,000),
which are unsecured, interest-bearing at 2% per annum, and due
for repayment within one year.

DEFERRED INCOME

Deferred income mainly represents environmental protection special
funds granted by the relevant local governments to encourage
the Group’s ultra-low emission facilities. There are no unfulfilled
conditions or contingencies relating to these grants.

R EWFTEZ DT Analysed for reporting purpose as:
—E-hEF —E-)N\F
2019 2018
AR¥ET T AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
mEaE (BEREEES Current liabilities (included in accruals
REF R HAEMFIE)  and other payables) (note 25)
(FftsE 25) 1,302 1,302
e TEUN=E= Non-current liabilities 6,473 7,775
7,775 9,077

FR —FAEARY1,302,000T (==
—\4F : AR#3,931,0007T) HIZIE D B4R
AR R AE MU AT S

REBCTERRERAR

—E-NEER

During the year, an amount of RMB1,302,000 (2018:
RMB3,931,000) has been recognised on other income and gains in
the consolidated income statement.
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LN 31. SHARE CAPITAL

BHEE
Number &5
of shares Amount
T A& BT T AR¥T T
‘000 HK$'000 RMB’000

JEIE. Authorised:
FIREES0.01 TERR Ordinary shares
of HK$0.01 each

R=—ZF—N\F—H—H8 " As at 1 January 2018,

- N\Ft+=-—HA=+—H" 31 December 2018,

ZE-hEFE—A—AK 1 January 2019 and

—T-AFt+-—A=+—H 31 December 2019 100,000,000 1,000,000
BEITRER Issued and fully paid:

HREESE0.01 LT R Ordinary shares
of HK$0.01 each

R=ZZE—NE—HA—8 - As at 1 January 2018,
—E—N\F+=-_A=+—8 - 31 December 2018,
—E-hE—H-AK 1 January 2019 and
—E-NF+=A=+—H 31 December 2019 851,954 8,520 7.831
A 32. RESERVES
E Group
REEZHEREAESHEREERZESHR The Group’s reserves and movements therein are presented in the
275l o consolidated statement of changes in equity.
P N/NE| Company
MNEELfE
Foreign
RARE currency BRERE RBEF
Share translation  Share option Retained it
premium reserve reserve profits Total
ARETR ARBT R ARBT ARBTT ARBTL
RMB000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
(K () (Kt (e) GETG))
(note (a)) (note (e)) (note (f))
RZF-\F—-A—B&&# Balance at 1 January 2018 114,822 (36,840) 5,410 128,257 211,649
BERZE—tERHRE 2017 final dividend paid
(MzE11) (note 11) - - - (7,183) (7,183)
RUEERRE (M7E33) Forfeit of share options (note 33) = = (155) 155 =
RERRM Profit for the year - - - 94,117 94,117
Hin 2wz Other comprehensive income = 11,553 = = 11,553
W=F—\#+=-FA=+—HK Balance at 31 December 2018 and
“T-NE-A-B#H 1 January 2019 114,822 (25,287) 5,255 215,346 310,136
RUERREE (P7E33) Forfeit of share options (note 33) - - (549) 549 -
AEEER Loss for the year - - - (976) (976)
A 2ENE Qther comprehensive income - 5,848 - - 5,848
RZZ-NF+ZA=+—H  Balance at 31 December 2019 114,822 (19,439) 4,706 214,919 315,008
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32. f&#tE (&)

IRAD R E

REFREHERARE - ARAIRMIEE
BRAZES AR KT AREEAA
HEREEZ YRS BHE - ARBEIA
Bt HEERBRXBHBERTIMZE
& o

(a)

Rl

FiplERRERIEAEEN —STMFHE
T EBRMKETENB AR 2 BHGE
& A B S ER 1S 3% 5 MY B 2 B2 4
BITZARAIRDEERNERE -

(b)

BB AES

REBNFR B2 B AR 2 ER24
BIIRE - ZEWB R RS FERRE
T aflzaTa L ERERMRAE
& HEEHENB@EMB AR EME
RZ50% A&l o E—MRIERAT - B&p
NIECEAERERE  BBBEELR
EATMEARETHB AR 2 EER
LE 7 - B AESBIEEAE AT
MERE  BHEZHBEIELOREME
KZ25% e

(0

N
RER-ZTZE F— A BHEMGTEL
AE (R—ZZRFER]) A2 AR
{5l - FEP BRI 2 AR BB A BAER
5% E 10% Z BRFTEB RS B E A
T MamE R A REE 2 SEEFm
ARBEAEE ZFIR - REETER
ZIERT  REE MO

(d)

HNESEE S

SN BEE 4 (ki s B S IR SR S0 SR 5 2 B 75
WRAELZIEENZH - ZHER
PRPE 3(d) TV R URBE 2 ©

(e)

) “ER-NEFR

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

32. RESERVES (Continued)

Share premium

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the
funds in the share premium account of the Company are
distributable to the owners of the Company provided that
immediately following the date on which the dividend is
proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a position
to pay off its debt as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business.

Special reserve

This represents the difference between the paid up registered
capital of the PRC subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the
Group reorganisation in 2004 and the nominal value of the
Company’s shares issued in exchange for the control in these
subsidiaries.

Surplus reserve fund

Articles of association of the Group’s subsidiaries established
in the PRC require the appropriation of certain percentage
of their profits after income tax each year to the surplus
reserve fund until the balance reaches 50% of their registered
capitals. In normal circumstances, the surplus reserve fund
shall only be used for making up losses, capitalisation
into registered capital and expansion of the subsidiaries’
production and operation. For the capitalisation of surplus
reserve fund into registered capital, the remaining amount
of such reserve shall not be less than 25% of the registered
capital.

Public welfare fund

Pursuant to relevant regulations before the enactment of
Company Law of the PRC (revised in 2005) on 1 January
2006, the Group’s subsidiaries established in the PRC made
allocation from their profits after income tax at the rate of
5% to 10% to the public welfare fund. Public welfare fund
can only be utilised on capital nature items for collective
welfare of employees and is not distributable other than in
liquidation.

Foreign currency translation reserve
This reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising
from the translation of the financial statements of foreign
operations. The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policies set out in note 3(d).
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(f) BERERE
RN ERME TR EBRERIZE
B AR

(9) HAtfEfE
MR (ZF—N\F: —K) RPEKL
MEENBEARESEREBENEARL
PAIEINEFEMEA »

AR 3 Y 2 TR

ARARKRZZT/NF+ AN B R ERAE
E ([ZZT A FHERERE] ) IR =
T XRNFRA-THEMNS —EERETE
([ZZ—"FHERETE]) - BEEE &
HHAEEZEBAIERERZESS &
BAEETAKE AR HBHE NG ZES
HERES - HER BF « BRERIEES

BZHMEANAEEZEHRFBAAN =
ERFREREAESH T F+ANAR
ER BREF - RIEBE T N F R
=28l 77 % & % 40,000,000 17 B8 f% 4%

i 7 H 5B A 3R 8 & % 40,000,000 i
D o ZETNFEBREAFEEN =T —
FRA-+BHKIE- ?ﬁ,ﬁf\:?g/\igﬁﬂxﬁé
FTEIZ 165K Eﬁﬁﬁﬁ%mﬁZ%k%%
BEBIRATITE - R=ZFE—NLF+=A
_+ E *ETJ%—i 3/\$E§HXT/ED+§H

B EMARITEZBRERS KRG EB
£9,864,000% ( == — /L4 : 10,764,000
f%) - MERARE BBARREBITRAZ
12%(ZZFE—N\F :13%) c ZT—XFH
gt Em—E—NFRA - T HBER
ERE+F - REZF— N FHEREE
AR H &% 84,687,800 10 B Ak - BE, T H 4%
B AKEF| R EE & % 84,687,800 B A% 17 o &
W WERE - — NFRERETEREE
BEHE (ZB—N\F : &) -
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RESERVES (Continued)

(f)  Share option reserve
Cumulative expenses recognised on the granting of share
options to the employees over the vesting period.

(g) Other reserve
Two of wholly-owned subsidiaries (2018: one) established
in the PRC had capitalised its retained profits to increase its
registered capital.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

The Company adopted share option schemes on 4 October 2006
(the “2006 Share Option Scheme”) and 20 May 2016 (the “2016
Share Option Scheme”) for the purpose of providing incentives and
rewards to the directors, eligible employees, suppliers, customers,
any shareholder of each member of the Group or associated
company or any of their respective associates, and advisers or
consultants of the Group who contribute to the success of the
Group. The 2006 Share Option Scheme became effective for a
period of 10 years commencing on 4 October 2006 and up to
40,000,000 options entitling the holders thereof to subscribe for
up to 40,000,000 shares may be granted under the 2006 Share
Option Scheme, which was terminated on 20 May 2016. The
granted outstanding options continue to be valid and exercisable in
accordance with the terms of the 2006 Share Option Scheme. As at
31 December 2019, number of shares in respect of which options
had been granted and remained outstanding under the 2006 Share
Option Scheme was 9,864,000 (2018: 10,764,000), representing
1.2% (2018: 1.3%) of the issued share capital of the Company at
the date of this report. The 2016 Share Option Scheme has become
effective for the periods of 10 years commencing on 20 May 2016
and up to 84,687,800 options entitling the holders thereof to
subscribe for up to 84,687,800 shares may be granted under the
2016 Share Option Scheme. During the year, there was no share
option granted under the 2016 Share Option Scheme (2018: Nil).
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33. URHBXMNZHE (&) 33. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)
RZE-NAEER_T-N\F+_A=+— Details of the specific categories of options outstanding as at 31
B - B8 mARITEEREF BRI December 2019 and 2018 are as follows:

T
tef R AT LR AR B B
AR AR Rt A BEAH TR g Number of outstanding
Category of grantee  Date of grant Vesting date Exercise period Exercise price share options
ZE-NF “BN\F
2019 2018
R at (&) “Z-RFtATA ZRtFtATR ZEtH5tA+tEE A%145 140,000 140,000
ZZZ=F+tANA
Ms. Shi Huifang (note) 10 July 2015 10 July 2017 10 July 2017 to HK$1.45
9 July 2023
E& “T-RFtA+TA T ~FtA+tE ZE-—~FtAtHEE B4 3,728,000 3,768,000
ZZZ=F+tANA
Employees 10 July 2015 10 July 2016 10 July 2016 to HK$1.45
9 July 2023

—E-RF+A+tA ZE—+FtAtR —E—+EtA+RAE B4 5,996,000 6,856,000

ZZZ=F+tANA
10 July 2015 10 July 2017 10 July 2017 to HK$1.45
9 July 2023
9,864,000 10,764,000
Miz: : MEFSZTIHAARER—FERBARZ Note: Ms. Shi Huifang is an employee of one the Company’s subsidiaries
BE WAESTFIAEZES At and is the spouse of Mr. Wang Zijiang who is a Director and therefore
REFIREZBEA - an associate of Mr. Wang Zijiang.

RECTERRARAF “E-NEFFR
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33. URHBXMNFZHE (&) 33. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)
TRETIA R TR ARE R S B A I T 1T Movements of and weighted average exercise prices of the
(8 : Company’s share options are as follows:
InFEFg T
e T8
Weighted BREZE Weighted HEAR S B
average Number of average Number of
exercise price share option exercise price share option
—E-NF —E-NF —E—N\F —E-N\F
2019 2019 2018 2018
REYIEATTFE  Outstanding at beginning BE1.45 T 10,764,000 FEHE1.45 7T 11,084,000
of the years HK$1.45 HK$1.45
F AR Forfeited during the years BE1.45 T (900,000) M 1.45 7T (320,000)
HK$1.45 HK$1.45

REREAITE  Outstanding at the end

of the years 9,864,000 10,764,000
RERRMARITE AR E 2 TEE R 1.45 The exercise price of share options outstanding at the end of the
T (ZZ—N\F : B 1.4570)  MmNEFH year was HK$1.45 (2018: HK$1.45) and their weighted average
MEREHEIA3SF (ZF—/\F 1 456) - remaining contractual life was 3.5 years (2018: 4.5 years).
EFREMAITERBREREF + 59,864,000 Out of the total number of options outstanding at the end of the
MERRE (ZF—/\F : 10,764,000 17 I I year, 9,864,000 share options (2018: 10,764,000 shares options)
) NERFDBRERAI T1T - had been vested and were exercisable at the end of the year.
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34. ERAAR=Z—NF+=A

=t+—HBMBRRE

34. HOLDING COMPANY'S STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2019

—ZE-hHF —ZE-N\E
2019 2018
BaE ARET T ARETTT
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
EEHEE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
FREBEE Non-current assets
Wz - B KR Property, plant and equipment 2 4
R B AR ZE Investment in subsidiaries 78,217 78,217
78,219 78,221
REBEE Current assets
NGRS Amounts due from subsidiaries 248,493 244,720
FEW AR B, Dividend receivables 10,102 9,861
TR RRIE K Bt R UK IE Prepayments and other receivables 200 196
RIT RIS 4 Bank and cash balances 2,956 1,622
261,751 256,399
REBAE Current liabilities
FESARATER SR EAB FEH ZRIE. Accruals and other payables 1,613 924
REREIEIARIWEFR  Advances from the ultimate holding
company 13,125 12,614
AR EYNGIE e Amounts due to a subsidiary 2,393 3,115
17,131 16,653
REBEEFE Net current assets 244,620 239,746
HEERRBERE Total assets less current liabilities 322,839 317,967
EERE Net assets 322,839 317,967
= EQUITY
[N Share capital 31 7,831 7,831
i Reserves 32 315,008 310,136
R Total equity 322,839 317,967

BER-ZZE_TF=A-F+tBEBESSHE
WHRHERT  WHERKRRE

e
LIU YANG
EF

Director

@ RECTERRARAF —E-NEER

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of Directors on

27 March 2020 and signed on its behalf by:

IFFT
WANG ZIJIANG
EF

Director
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35. RMIB AR 2R 35.

RZE—NFERZTE—NF+_A=+—
B AEEWMBARIZEHBOT :

INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the subsidiaries of the Group as at 31 December 2019
and 2018 are as follows:

EMRL/ ERTER/
RIREELE BAGMRE<EE RERE/ REE/
Place of Nominal value of EEEFRED
incorporation/ issued ordinary/ Percentage of ownership
£B establishment paid-up registered interests/voting rights/ ~ FEEH
Name and operations share capital profit share Principal activities
B# 5f:
Direct Indirect
RRERERAR BB BT 100% - REBR
Great Growth Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$1 Investment holding
BiniERER AR BB BT 100% - REBR
Great Spirit Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$1 Investment holding
RIEBRERAR BB BT 100% - REBR
Great Promise Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$1 Investment holding
AERBERERAR &k 75#10,0007C 70% - REER
Tiande Medical Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 Investment holding
FMCARAT &k 75#10,0007C - 100% HERMIIER
Tech Chem Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 Sales of fine chemical products
BRIRRARAT RERLES 268%TT - 100%  REEK
Smartcham Holdings Limited The BVI Us$268 Investment holding
ERLXARAT RERLES 1251%7 - 100%  REEK
Smartpoint Enterprises Limited The BVI US$1,251 Investment holding
BEERERRR EBRUHES ATTET - 100%  ®EAEK
Techsmart Holdings Limited The BVI Us$477 Investment holding
HYRFEBRAT RESNEEALR 600,000 - 100% HERDHRACIER
Weifang Common Chem Co., Ltd. ~ The PRC, WOFE US$600,000 Selling and distribution of
fine chemical products
DML TERAR TR AR 5,000,0007 - 100% HERNHEEALIER
Shanghai Dehong Chemical The PRC, WOFE RMB5,000,000 Selling and distribution of
Company Limited fine chemical products
AR RERAR e NEBERR 35,200,000 T - 100%  H# - RERHERBLIER
([#sma)) The PRC, WOFE US$35,200,000 Research and development,

Weifang Parasia Chem Co., Ltd
(“Weifang Parasia”)

manufacture and sales of
fine chemical products
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35. MIBAR 2= ()

36.

ML,
RYREEHE
Place of
incorporation/

35. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

BRTEE/
BAGMRE<EE
Nominal value of
issued ordinary/

VLT Vg el Ve
EEENED

Percentage of ownership

£ establishment paid-up registered interests/voting rights/ ~ FEXH
Name and operations share capital profit share Principal activities
B# 5f;
Direct Indirect

HRERRICTARAA mESNEEALR 20,800,000% T - 100%  HiE% - SERHERAIER
Weifang Binhai Petro-Chem Co., Ltd  The PRC, WOFE US$20,800,000 Research and development,

manufacture and sales of

fine chemical products
EARESTARAR mESNEEALR AR¥17,675,880 7T - 100%  Hi% - BERHEBESVER
Deling Medical Instruments The PRC, WOFE RMB$17,675,880 Research and development,

Co., Limited manufacture and sale of

medical instrument products
AR ITERAR i AR¥ 61,408,163 - 51% B BERBERACTIER
Weifang Zhongying Chemical The PRC RMB$61,408,163 Research and development,

Co., Ltd. manufacture and sale of

fine chemical products
ERREERERAR B A% 2007T 100% - REER
Dekel Investment Holdings Ltd. Hong Kong HK$200 Investment holding
A ERNMHERAR hE - NEBERR 14,051,190 7T - 100% SHERHEBAEER
Weifang Dekel Innovative Materials ~ The PRC, WOFE US$14,051,190 Manufacture and

Co., Ltd

RER BEEAMNBRRETEERES

(ZF—N\F: |-

i

R BE - AEE AT

sales of adhesive products

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end of
the year (2018: Nil).

36. COMMITMENTS

The Group’s commitments at the reporting date are as follows:

—E-hF —EF-)N\F
2019 2018
AR%T R ARBFIT
RMB’'000 RMB’000
BRAREYZE Commitments for acquisition of property,
R 55 T 5% s O I plant and equipment 125,156 76,181

@ RECTERRARAF —E-NEER
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W\

SIRMIE 2(a) MM FE 3()AFLAR - NEEER
REMENRIEBRHES T i - HE
SRNEHR-RERR/S0F  ABANLEE
- EHAMR LR - HRANTEHEER
BE® - BE-_T-N\F+-_A=+—HI
FE- THHEESBLAKEHRE - B=F
—hF—A—HE ERFENHEETHmER
REECME MEXACEN  BZHEE
WARELBEEES -

EECAE
FEMBARRRPEREECAENE S
T
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Notes to the Financial Statements
—E—NF+=A=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

37. LEASES AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

Referring to note 2(a) and note 3(n)A, the Group leases certain
lands in the jurisdictions from which it operates. Rental contracts are
typically with lease terms maximum to 50 years, with no renewal,
extension and termination options for the lessee. The periodic
rent from the leases is fixed over the lease terms. For the financial
year ended 31 December 2018, leases of lands were classified as
operating leases. From 1 January 2019, leases of lands in the PRC
are recognised as right-of-use assets which their lease payments
have been prepaid and no lease liabilities arising from those leases.

Right-of-use assets
Movement of right-of-use assets which recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position is as follows:

—E-NF

2019

ARET T

RMB’'000

n—A—H At 1 January 62,409
N Addition 29,600
iR Amortisation (1,479)
HEREAR (FizE38())  Disposal of a subsidiary (note 38(a)) (15,103)
»t+=—A=+—8 At 31 December 75,427
JERBNE D Non-current portion 75,427

AEBEFEMEEORAZRAEERER
RERHEE - BRFFINHESRNHEDE
MRERBRI1I2EARNRILE - REBERED
HREAECAENEERE mMIBELE
HEAENHENRERMARBRERER
IR

72 BATE S R S AR BAIR 2 AGARHIB AT

The Group leases of office premises in the PRC and Hong Kong are
recognised as short-term leases. Since the lease contracts entered
with lease terms ends within 12 months of the date of initial
application, the Group has elected not to recognise the right-of-
use assets and lease liabilities but recognises the lease payments
associated with these leases as an expense in profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Details of the short-term lease expenses and undiscounted
commitments are as follows:

—E-hF
2019
ARBT T
RMB’000

RHHERX (BEREE Short-term leases expenses (included in administrative and
TR R H A &8 ) other operating expenses) 2,146
RERE AR EIFA EAIE4R%E  Aggregate undiscounted commitments for short-term leases 773
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37. HEREEMHE (2)
EHEE (EAEABA)(E)

37.

*ﬂﬁﬁﬁ/mﬂjﬁﬁﬁ
meReRERTEEHESHENT

1 December 2019

LEASES AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

Short-term leases (in the capacity as lessee)
(Continued)

Total cash outflow for leases
Amounts included in the consolidated statement of cash flows for
leases comprise the following:

—E-hF —E-)N\F

2019 2018

AR¥T ARBFT

RMB’000 RMB’000

EBRRERERSNE Within operating cash flows 2,146 2,277

E-B-NF-A—-HAMEREEA
REZFB-NF+-A=+—H " RETHH
HEEHE  AEBZ BRKEBEENRE

As lessee prior to 1 January 2019
As at 31 December 2018, the total future minimum lease payments
by the Group under non-cancellable operating leases payable are as

BT follows:

—\F
2018
ARETIT
RMB’000
—FNR Within one year 1,110

RE_ZFRAFNR In the second to fifth year inclusive
(BIEEEME) 762
1,872

REMENTEAREREE THAZEMN
BNz - HRLERRFHIR—E=F
A MREABANESERE - B TeREE
A SAMEE o

EREEA

RZF-AF+-A=1+—8  RETHH
HEEHE  AEE 2z BREEHEEWRE
BT :

Operating lease payments represent rental payable by the Group for
certain of its office premises. Leases are negotiated for an average
term of one to three years and rentals are fixed over the lease terms
and do not include contingent rentals.

As lessor

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had future aggregate
minimum lease receipts under non-cancellable operating leases as
follows:

—E-hEF — N\

2019 2018

ARBTT ARKETFT

RMB’000 RMB’000

—F A Within one year 279 571
REZZFAFNH In the second to fifth year inclusive

(BRERME) - 241

279 812

BEAEENCEHERY  HBLAEE Under operating lease arrangements of the Group, the leases are

FER—EMF (ZZ—N\F: —ZEWF) T negotiated for an average terms of one to two years (2018: one to

F - MEBRR—

fRERHME S HREE

REBCTERRERAR

—E-NEER

two years). The terms of the leases generally require the tenants to
pay security deposits.
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RZE—AFNAZ+tH  bB&EL
BB FEFIHEWE - Bt - 8=
RENEESRE AR 990,000 7T HE
HNIEBREBRN2BE  I#HER Y
FEERRREREERALIER -
HEEBEIN -_Z—HFEAZTN\B
SERK °

REESEAH  IHERNBEFH
FREEAENT -

(a)

38. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY

On 27 June 2019, Shanghai Dehong entered into a disposal
agreement with the Purchaser pursuant to which Shanghai
Dehong agreed to sell entire equity interests in Jiangsu
Chunxiao, which is principally engaged in manufacturing
and sale of fine chemical products, at a cash consideration of
RMB990,000. The Disposal was completed on 28 June 2019.

Total carrying amounts of net liabilities of Jiangsu Chunxiao as
at the Disposal Date were as follows:

ARET T
RMB’000

HEAEFE Net liabilities disposed of
M - R MR (HRE13) Property, plant and equipment (note 13) 14,448
BEGARE (M13E37) Right-of-use assets (note 37) 15,103
T Inventories 15,875
BIRIRITIT Pledged bank deposits 657
R1TRIR T LR Bank and cash balances 4
B 5 e W iR I B R UL ER IR Trade and other receivables 10,509
EERIBEE (FIFE18) Deferred tax assets (note 18) 305
B S T IR R H A FE T FRIR Trade and other payables (19,878)
FERANEBZRIE (M (b)) Amounts due to the Group (note(b)) (61,273)
ERREEE Provision for legal claims (16,325)
(40,575)
ek NG Gain on disposal of a subsidiary 41,565
RIS RE Total cash consideration 990

B EFET ERE RATEBFRA
9 -

Analysis of the net inflow of bank and cash balances in
respect of the Disposal:

AR®TR
RMB’000

RIFHESHEHENRITR Bank and cash balances disposed of

R AR under the Disposal (4)
WERERE Cash consideration received 990
HESENESRAFE Net cash inflow on the Disposal 986
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38. HEKEAR (&)

(b) REGEHERERE IHFEN -
—N\E+-A=+—HENAEBHK
HEEHE - IHREEN-"Z—NLF
+ZA=t+—AENAEBNFEASA
R #48,938,0007C ° X &8 B AT
BHEE—IET A TEEERRNR
EE£5 AR 14,218,0007T © A
R ¥ 24,720,000 7T /4 8 3 10 R 500 4
BRAETIBEERE - ERWE 1357
ALT# AR B I SO ME (= A E
B0 BRIFEBEZENRENRIR - TR
EIR IR R EE R EE A R 24,720,000
JUIE A T8 R AV SRR ] gE A AT U [E] o 74
—E-hE+-A=1+—HBHNGETE
REREZANBRRIEMNRBEARE
24,720,000 JTEH BB ESIE o

REEFREY - THFRERES MK
BRI KIERG TEY - AKE
FEHEXNRE BEAREEH
BEFEMTIARBGRER IHERNR
R EFMEERRANRRBESER
(M=) - AMITEEFF HARTTH °
BEERDMZRTY (BRERIVAERE
Fr) AT RS - T L/BIEsAEERE
FREMBVBENHBIATRESR - &
BN - R IFETTK HEFHA R
- BTEBREE NG AR - BE
AREBH - BRIDEETF - AKE
TEIEEERERS - HEFHEAER
KRNI B FERK - I ERFRE ARSI
KFrEREREEFTHAMRDERG

@ REBCTERRERAR “E-NFER

(b)

38. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY (Continued)

The amounts due to the Group by Jiangsu Chunxiao as
at 31 December 2018 had been eliminated in preparing
the consolidated financial statement. Amounts due to
the Group by Jiangsu Chunxiao as at 31 December 2019
was RMB48,938,000. This balance included an amount of
outstanding balance of RMB14,218,000, which is secured by
a piece of land and certain inventories of Jiangsu Chunxiao
whilst the amount of RMB24,720,000 is unsecured and
considered as credit impaired. In light of the current financial
situation and the suspended production of Jiangsu Chunxiao
as set out in note 13, the unsecured outstanding balance
of RMB24,720,000 is highly unlikely recoverable in the
foreseeable future, unless appropriate amounts of financing
sources are obtained, impairment loss on amounts due from
this former subsidiary amounting to RMB24,720,000 has been
made accordingly on the consolidated financial statements as
at 31 December 2019.

On the Disposal Date, the control of the business and
operation of Jiangsu Chunxiao has been successfully
transferred to the Purchaser, while the Purchaser has also paid
the consideration accordingly. Up to the date of this report,
the Purchaser has applied to the Industry and Commerce
Bureau for changing the details of shareholders, directors
and legal representative of Jiangsu Chunxiao to reflect the
Disposal (the “Filing”) but the administrative processes have
not been completed. The Purchaser has taken various actions
to complete the Filing included taking legal proceeding while
Shanghai Dehong has committed to provide all essential helps
to the Purchaser for the Filing. Notwithstanding, the Filing
is not a condition for the completion of the Disposal and
legitimate interest of the Purchaser will not be impaired. Up
to the date of this report, the Filing is still in progress. In the
opinion of the PRC legal advisors of the Group, the Disposal
is legally binding, completed and the control and ownership
of Jiangsu Chunxiao have been successfully transferred to the
Purchaser upon the Disposal Date.
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Bgﬁﬁﬁﬁf_&% 39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
NEEEBABARFNT LI ST During the year, the Group entered into the following transactions
with related parties:
—E-hF —N\&F
2019 2018
ARBTR ARBFT
RMB’000 RMB'000
T — # (ZZ—\%F : —%) Short-term lease expenses to a related company
HWITESHEEniEn in which one (2018: one) of the
WRHTEERZE executive Director have beneficial interests
R A R ER and can exercise significant influence 514 514
(BEEREEIATIFIE) ~  (Repayment to)/Advances from the
RERLIERA AR ultimate holding company, net (note 29)
BFHEER (Bﬁ& 29) (3.142) 67,801

FTEEBEAB ZMESENHIEE10 -

MEEHELENAE YR

TERHAMAEEREBEEHNHAER
BRASNIFRE I - raﬂé%ﬁib?iﬁ’]
BEAREREIRKRERES NAHKR
AEEGERERERTOBERRE TR
EREHAIE -

40.

The remuneration of key management personnel are set out in note
10.

RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below shows detailed changes in the Group’s liabilities
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities for
which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the
Group's consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from
financing activities.

RBE—F RE
FERBRNBYR SRERATHEN
RITER Advances from Advances from
Bank a non-controlling the ultimate
borrowings shareholder holding company
(FfaE27) (Bff=E 28) (P=E29)
(note 27) (note 28) (note 29)
AR®TR AR¥T T AR¥®T T
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
R=B-NF—F—H At 1 January 2019 20,000 5,546 67,801
BERERA Rd) Financing cash inflows/(outflows):
G IRITREK New bank borrowing raised 170,000 - -
ERIRITREN Repayment of bank borrowings (20,000) - -
BAF S Interest paid (2,606) - (53)
KB BAIEIRA R R Advances from the ultimate
holding company - - 15,000
BEFEERARIFIE Repayment to the ultimate
holding company - - (20,000)
Hith g5 Other changes:
ST Interest expenses 2,606 - 1,600
b R 2L Exchange adjustments - 136 311
R=ZB-NF+=HA=t—H At31December 2019 170,000 5,682 64,659
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40. MEFHEENEBZHER (£)

41.

40. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM

FINANCING ACTIVITIES (Continued)

RE
RBE—F RARER
FERBRRN  ATNBR
B3 Advances
Advances from the
RITER RS from a non- ultimate
Bank Dividend  controlling holding
borrowings payables shareholder company
(FtaE27) (PHaE11) (Pt 28) (£ 29)
(note 27) (note 11) (note 28) (note 29)
ARBTRE AR®BTR AR®ETR AR¥ETxR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
R=B-N$¥-A—H At 1 January 2018 194,105 = 5,272 =
BERSRA GRH) : Financing cash inflows/(outflows):
FTIERITIER New bank borrowings raised 20,000 - = =
BERITIER Repayment of bank borrowings (196,440) = = =
BERFLE Interest paid (4,338) = = -
R ERARIER A B Advances from the ultimate
holding company - - - 67,452
BAREE Dividend paid = (7,183) = =
Hin 25 Other changes:
EEIRE Dividend declared = 7,183 = =
MBS Interest expenses 4,338 = 19 271
b R R Exchange adjustments 2,335 = 255 78
R-E-NF+=ZHA=+—H At 31 December 2018 20,000 - 5,546 67,801

TREREE

AEERSzeREARE : mHRR (8
EERERREMNEER) - FERR MRS
R AEE s EREAREEEESRTS
PRIFERIZ A5 - BRBERE A REH AL
B BRATRZEEATE EFTHET
REREemMEATIZEEEBRNEGIE - U
DT R HIEE IR K B R & Rh R B0 B A

AEBYARREENMEESREE * 71
ARELEHE - ARBAAZREANES A
R T 3CE - thHh - MiEE41 () BB IRER
AElTMEREERBERE -

@ RECTERERDE —E-NEER

41.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group is exposed to financial risks: market risk (including
currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The
Group’s overall risk management focuses on unpredictability of
financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on
the Group’s financial performance. The Directors meet periodically
and co-operate closely with key management to analyse and
formulate strategies to manage and monitor financial risks.

The Group is not engaged in the trading of financial assets for
speculative purposes nor does it write options. The most significant
financial risks to which the Group is exposed are described below.
See also note 41(v) for a summary of financial assets and liabilities
by category.
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41, cRIERRER (&) 41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

ARAREETERRS - EERARE
TIABEE ~ RTTMEUTEHE - AR E
EEIHNE R o ANER HIR I g Ho At
SNER Z - BE KB ESIESNEL PR
R AREBREIERINERR - W
ZRNEBRREIFEAINERR

AZE—NE+ZA=+—H AR
W B R RBUTHEE TR L
F5% MATE Al R EHHTE
A AN £ B F M H R F AR BB | & 1
m/mA AR 2,691,000 (ZF
—N\&F : FANEERFZEFILM,
A NE#E2,479,0007T) © TER
ERUETTFHENE 5 R ULER & Bk E
BT E 5 des, 518 o

AEERBEFEE-—EEBEERINE
Rt - WRAEREERA

AEBEE 2 M ZESHER T B RA
5 23 B o AREREWAERERDT
EERERNIERRR - AT - ERES
ERMNEREAR  YEEBRNERERY
FEAN KRR o

HRBED

TRETHFNREANEEFEEEN,
(B1R) KRN S 7] RE K IR A9 FI =X
HEBHETF0S5%(ZFE—N\F: £T
F0.5%) MBRE - sTERTIARSE
BRSNS EREENA
BEREE  MAAREMAZEREGETT

The Group has exposure to foreign currency risk as certain of
its business transactions, assets and liabilities are denominated
in HK$, US$ and EUR. The Group currently does not have a
foreign currency hedging policy in respect of other foreign
currency transactions, assets and liabilities. The Group will
monitor its foreign currency exposure closely and will consider
hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the need
arise.

As at 31 December 2019, if the RMB had weakened/
strengthened 5% against HK$, US$ and EUR with all
other variables held constant, the Group’s profit for the
year and retained profits would have been approximately
RMB2,691,000 (2018: loss for the year and retained profits
would have been approximately RMB2,479,000) higher/lower,
arising mainly as a result of the foreign exchange gain/loss on
trade and bills receivable denominated in US$.

The measures to manage foreign currency risk have been
followed by the Group since prior years and are considered to
be effective.

The Group's exposure to interest rate risk for changes in
interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s floating interest
rate borrowings. The Group has not used any derivative
contracts to hedge its exposure to interest rate risk. However,
management monitors interest rate exposure and will
consider hedging significant interest rate exposure should the
need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

The following table illustrates the sensitivity of the Group’s
profit/(loss) for the year and retained profits to a possible
change in interest rates of +/- 0.5% (2018: +/- 0.5%), with
effect from the beginning of the years. The calculations are
based on the Group’s financial assets and liabilities with
floating interest rates held at the reporting dates. All other
variables are held constant.

TEEBRN (BER) RREER
Profit/(Loss) for the year and
retained profits

AR¥T T

RMB’000
+0.5% -0.5%
—E—fF+=-B=+—8 31 December 2019 62 (62)
—=—-N\F+=-A=+—A 31 December 2018 125 (125)
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41. EREAREE (&) 41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
BRESN (&) Sensitivity analysis (Continued)
RIRE B B B ATS  BREAF] The assumed changes in interest rates are considered to be
REFTRERAIRAIAE IR - WAlE reasonably possible based on observation of current market
REBEHFERARR+ & A B conditions and represents the management’s assessment of
EIE A BB B FTIERYFT(S © a reasonably possible change in interest rate over the next

twelve months period.

AEERRAFERE—EEBREENE The measures to manage interest rate risk have been followed
BB &S E - WERAEREEEARK © by the Group since prior years and are considered to be
effective.

FERBKRBIREHEKATENE S IE Credit risk arises from trade receivables, deposits, other

WER - 7T & - HMEUWEIE - RITRIR receivables, bank and cash balances and pledged bank

SEH R BIIRRITER AR ER deposits, at amortised cost and bills receivable at FVOCI, as

AHEMEERGNEREE  UEREP well as credit exposures to customers, including outstanding

WIEERR - BEREERYGKIE receivables.

(a) EpERE (a) Risk management
REEESIEEK - UEERRE The Group has policies in place to ensure that sales are
BREEERH BEFPHEERER - made to customers with an appropriate credit history.
AEBTESERNEESHE The Group has no significant concentration of credit
% BERRSBMEZEATP R risk with exposure spread over a number of customers
HFH A BEFAEM and counterparties. However, the geographical location
FERFTE BRZZE—NF of customers is mainly on the PRC which accounted for
+-—A=+—H®HEZEKEX 73% (2018: 75%) of the trade and bills receivable as
FEWREERNT3I% (ZFT—N\F: at 31 December 2019. In order to minimise the credit
75%) - AR REEERRE - risk, management will endeavor to build an extensive
EEEBRNELRBHEIRNE customer base that spread over the world, which can
REPHE B EREEM minimise the credit risk by geographical location.

BHRNEERR -

(b) 1R:E (b) Securities
R-_E—NF+-_A=+—H" As at 31 December 2019, trade receivables amounting
BHEARES412,0007t (=ZF to RMB8,412,000 (2018: RMB11,695,000) (note 41(iii)
—\F : AR ¥11,695,0007T) (c)) were past due over 365 days but not impaired are
B E 5 AR (K3 41Gi)0)) B secured by certain lands and properties owned by the
MER365 RIERIERE - ZEXK debtors which can be called if the counterparty is in
BIBREBABREENE T TR default under the terms of the agreement.

WMEERE - WEFHERBZE
fER3R - RIATETTIBRT ©

RZE—NF+=-_A=+—8" As at 31 December 2019, other receivables amounting
BE AR 14,218,000 7T H) E A to RMB14,218,000 (note 38(b)) was secured by a piece
FEU R TE (K 5E38(b) AEM A of land and certain inventories owned by a debtor
AN THME TEFEEERE which can be called if the counterparty is in default
¥ F 7 E R R GR - AA]# under the terms of the agreement.

1TiBET o

@ REBCTERRERAR “E-NFER
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41. EREAREE (&) 41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b) REF (&) (b) Securities (Continued)

RZE—N\F+ZA=+—H - As at 31 December 2018, an amount due from the
—E A8 AR¥8,637,0007TH Ex-Equity Holder of RMB8,637,000 (note 21(b)) was
FEWRT# = A ARIE (T secured by certain residential properties held by the
21(b)) BHATERFE AMFNE Ex-equity Holder which can be called if the Ex-equity
TFEEVEERE - WRIESF Holder is in default under the terms of the SPA.
BAEREZEWZGER - AIRTE

1TB5T °

B E3CRTiiE SN - ANER BN AR A Other than stated as above, the Group does not hold
BHMBHRIERRZ collateral as security.

(0 EZEWRBETM () Impairment assessment on trade receivables
HE_ZT-hF+_HA=1+—H For the year ended 31 December 2019, impairment
FEFE TESEEREERE loss is recognised for trade receivables not only when
BARLRBENBL THERES there was objective evidence of impairment, but also at
FEUM AR BB E S48 - IR IR (E A an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which is calculated
BEERAENFRATBREER using a provision matrix. As the Group’s historical
EIERETHER - ANAEE credit loss experience does not indicate significantly
AT EEEELRIT RERT different loss patterns for different customer segments,
AEFHENEBEEEATERES the loss allowance based on past due status is not
2 ERNBREARRE L 8 B 1R further distinguished between the Group’s different
HBUREAEBTRAEFHZE customer bases. Expected loss rates are based on actual
E—FED - FHBEEERTER loss experience over the past 5 years. These rates are
BESTFHNEREEERTE - adjusted to reflect differences between economic
B EREERAE  URBRKE conditions during the periods over which the historic
WA SEHARMLENRR - EaT data has been collected, current conditions and the
TR ST RN 7 £ ) ¥ FE WK T TR ER 67 Group’s view of economic conditions over the expected
FREAEEAR R BB ER o lives of the receivables.
TRHEIEARNEENEERR The following table provides information about the
FE S REKREBEERENER Group’s exposure to credit risk and loss allowance of

trade receivables as at reporting date:
N-—B—-hFE+=-A=+—8H As at 31 December 2019
REEH BRME 8
FHEE=E Gross EERE ZERE Net
Expected carrying Loss  Specific carrying

lossrate  amount allowance allowance amount

% ARBTT ARBTT ARETT ARBTR
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

a1 CRBH) Current (not past due) 0.00% 160,695 (8) - 160,687
BB 1-90H 1-90 days past due 0.23% 12,161 (29) - 12,132
Ei8H191-180 8  91-180 days past due 0.54% 1,017 (5) - 1,012
Ei8H3181-365H  181-365 days past due 3.88% 828 (32) - 796
EiBHAHE#E 365 H * Over 365 days past due* 11.05% 12,861 (689) (3,305) 8,867

187,562 (763) (3,305) 183,494
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41. cRIAMRERE (2) 41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
() EBIZEWRRENME (Z) () Impairment assessment on trade receivables
(Continued)
R-ZE—-N\F+=ZA=+—H As at 31 December 2018

REER BRI E

TaHEE1E R Gross BB RHE Net

Expected carrying Loss carrying

loss rate amount allowance amount

% ARETT ARBTT ARETT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

A (RBH) Current (not past due) 0.00% 179,581 ) 179,572
2i@HI1-90 A 1-90 days past due 0.23% 5,159 (12) 5,147
23i#H391-180 H 91-180 days past due 0.56% 1,949 (11) 1,938
EiBH1181-365 H 181-365 days past due 3.97% 11 4 107
EiBHiEE365 A * Over 365 days past due* 9.53% 12,179 (275) 11,904
198,979 (311) 198,668
* RZE-NF+ZRA=+— @ As at 31 December 2019, trade receivables amounting
H EBHEBHAE3658 8K to RMB8,412,000 (2018: RMB11,695,000) (note 41(iii)
ERENE S ERERARK (b)) were past due over 365 days but not impaired are
8,412,000 (=& — J\ £ : secured by certain land and properties owned by the
A R #11,695,0007t) ( K 7% debtors.
A1(iii)b)) - THEREBAHEEH
AT L RYFEERE
FR - BHEBZERENEER Movement in the allowance account in respect of trade
VEEIINT ¢ receivables during the year is as follows:
S —EN\E
2019 2018
AR¥TR ARBT T
RMB’000 RMB'000
m—RA—B&ek Balance at 1 January 311 9,714
REEEHE H &R Exchange loss on impairment losses - 151
FAERBERE Impairment losses recognised
during the year 452 311
FRERBIBRERIE  Spedific impairment loss recognised
during the year 3,307 3,511
4,070 13,687
FNEEH Write off during the year ) (13,376)
R+—-—A=+—H#%&# Balance at 31 December 4,068 311
BRI EASEERME S ES Amounted to RMB2,000 (2018: RMB13,376,000) were
AREE KB ERE - WRARE written off during the year since there is no reasonable
FEHEE AR 2,000 (ZZ2— N\ expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows
F: AR¥13,376,0007T) ° from the trade debtors.

@ RECTERRARAF —E-NEER
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41, cRIERRER (&) 41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(d) HEAALEBEFAHMGEEKELN
B T BETRETME
RZE-NAEZFE—-—N\F+H
=+—8  R12@AREIHE
WEBRE DB ARARBETAR
fEEmREAES TR - EiaR
HBEZ 12 A A NTEHEEEIET
E-TEERAFERRERIE
REZEZHRBRERIEK - B FEIH
FERE  IEENEBREE
BEFERR - FAWEERENM
BIEETE (ZZ—\F : &) -

(e) HRERBERATENHMESRESE
EETRENE
RITMR S EHR R EEBIRITT
RINVBEBST RS ISREERE
9SRAIRERRIE - AR LB IB
HERAEBRITEEFAMNES R
HiE - WE B R EB BT
B 5] & REMERGIERS
AEERRBRRIE  HBEREE
%128 AWTFBEHEEEERE -
ERERBEERAREE  RE
REARBRERIE - BT ATENK
T8 K EL At & R AR Y FE AR AT /2B
NRIFIAL AR’ 24,720,000 7T
WHRATRBEERE  WEFRE
SRERME (F13E38(0b)) (ZZE—N
FE) o

EERERERRE  AEESERN
HFEEERSTMIRE AT EE
HE - ERRKEEEMRNES - U
MEFERERERDOTE - TAZT
EEE TR R ERNR S RE REEH
MemMEERI N SRABEEMER

é-\o

BRAEENESRITERTHAEE
FERITHENRBABBRERFLT
B EERA FIRAKEEFA AR
BMERE NP BERE - NEEHE
BERMNEERS - RAENBAFR
F - AEBDESETRITER - KB
— BRI BIR MO B IR B RASHER
RAEIB - (EREREIERIR

(d) Impairment assessment on debt instruments at

FVOCI

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, bills receivable
is classified as debt instruments at FVOCI, which are
matured within 12 months. The measurement of loss
allowance was based on 12 months ECLs. Management
considered as low credit risk since it has a low risk of
default and limited impact of time value of money
due to short maturity period. No impairment loss is
recognised during the year (2018: Nil).

(e) Impairment assessment on other financial assets

at amortised cost

Bank and cash balances and pledged bank deposits
are also subjected to the impairment requirements of
HKFRS 9. The identified impairment loss was immaterial
since they are placed at financial institutions with good
credit rating. For deposits and other receivables, which
are considered to have low credit risk, the measurement
of loss allowance was therefore based on 12 months
ECLs. Management considered as low credit risk since
they have a low risk of default. Amounts due from a
former subsidiary which is included in prepayments
and other receivable approximately of RMB24,720,000
is considered as credit-impaired and provision for
impairment loss is made accordingly (note 38(b)) (2018:
Nil).

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by management to finance the Group’s operations
and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows, by
continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows
and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and
liabilities.

As the Group has short-term bank borrowings which could
be renewed on an annual basis at the discretion of the
Group within limit approved by banks, the Directors are of
the opinion that, taking into account the presently available
facilities and internal financial resources of the Group,
the Group has sufficient working capital for its present
requirements. The Group obtained certain bank borrowings,
advances from a non-controlling shareholder and advances
from the ultimate holding company as source of liquidity.

Annual Report 2019 Tiande Chemical Holdings Limited @



gy S EL
Notes to the Financial Statements
HE-ZT—NF+=-A=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

41. EREAREE (&) 41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(iv) RENMERBR (42) (iv) Liquidity risk (Continued)
THRBES ORMBNRD TSR The table below summarises the maturity profile of the
BEIHBR financial liabilities based on contractual undiscounted
payments:
=EARR =)z
RER —FR RERAH
Within Between Total BEE
3 months or 3months  undiscounted Carrying
on demand to 1year amount amount
ARBT R ARBT R ARETT ARBTT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000
ZB-NF 2019
BHENE  ERER Trade, bills and other payables and
HiERFIER accruals
R ARERR 142,352 168,194 310,546 310,546
BRI Bank borrowings * - 170,000 170,000 170,000
RE—ZIHERRRMET Advances from a non-controlling
shareholder - 5,682 5,682 5,682
REFRERATRZH Advances from the ultimate
holding company - 64,659 64,659 64,659
At Total 142,352 408,535 550,887 550,887
“E-N\E 2018
ZHEMAE - EffEI5UER  Trade, other payables and
FERT AR accruals 9,473 152,188 248,661 248,661
ERRERE Provision for legal claims - 17,141 17,141 17,141
BRI Bank borrowings * 20,000 = 20,000 20,000
RE—ZIHERRRNBE  Advances from a non-controliing
shareholder - 5,546 5,546 5,546
RERLERA R Advances from the ultimate
holding company - 67,801 67,801 67,801
&t Total 116,473 242,676 359,149 359,149

st
ne
(H
S}

-

REBCTERRERAR

HOEM AR E R R RN ET

—E-NEER

Balances include bank borrowings with a repayment on

demand clause.
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41, cRIERRER (&) 41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

TR B S5 % P A0 3 T R R
A3 B P 7 1 B SR AE R IRV IRT A K
FIEREIBIB DT - SR EEASRF
KFEHOMBNRK - Bt - ZFESHER
FVAERENBIRBERD T [EHE
KIBRPHRENSEAR - TEIIEX
SENMSIN - EFRBRIT AR
REERBEERIEER - ERHIE - &
EFRTEREREBEEXBAMERNTEE

The table below summarises the maturity analysis of bank
borrowings with a repayment on demand clause based on
agreed scheduled repayments set out in the loan agreements.
The amounts include interest payments computed using
contractual rates. As a result, these amounts were greater
than the amounts disclosed in the “on demand” time band
in the maturity analysis contained in page 144. Taking into
account the Group’s financial position, the Directors do not
consider that it is probable that the bank will exercise its

EXEHEES - discretion to demand immediate repayment. The Directors
believe that such bank loans will be repaid in accordance
with the scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan

agreements.

EEE: )
ReREA —FRFREX
BREE Total contractual Within
Carrying undiscounted 1 year or
amount cash flow on demand
ARETT AR¥ETT ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
“T-hF+=ZA=+—H 31 December 2019 170,000 178,236 178,236
“T-N\F+=ZA=+—H 31 December 2018 20,000 20,287 20,287

AEBEBBEFEE-—BEREEERD
MR EERE - WRAEREEE -

The measures to manage liquidity risk have been followed by
the Group since prior years and are considered to be effective.
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HE_ZT—NF+=_A=1+—HL5FE For the yea
41. SRIRBERE (&)

N RZE—NFER T —N\F+=
A=+ HAEERcHEERAEN
BREERELA T - EREEERmT
EMBERIINAZE2EERNTE - F25H
Bt 5T 3() BV AR ©

r ended 31 December 2019

41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

The carrying amounts of the financial assets and liabilities
recognised as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 may also be
categorised as follows. See note 3(i) for explanations about
how the category of financial instruments affects their
subsequent measurement.

—E-AEF —ZE-N\F
2019 2018
AR®T T AREETTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
EREE Financial assets
BEHEK T ENESREE ¢ Financial assets at amortised cost:
- B PR — Trade receivables 183,494 198,668
- 5l R HEH MW FRIE — Deposits and other receivables 25,553 53,953
- BEHRRITIF — Pledged bank deposits 6,902 2,691
- IRIT IR 45 — Bank and cash balances 164,505 49,105
BARBEFAEMEEWEER Financial asset at FVOCI:
SRVEE ¢
- B EE — Bills receivable 106,510 107,849
&t Total 486,964 412,266
sEas Financial liabilities
BB HEK AT ENSREE - Financial liabilities measured
at amortised cost:
- B RETERENREE — Trade and bills payable 44,443 45,040
— R AR ER R E A FE T 3RIR — Accruals and other payables 266,103 203,621
- FEREEE — Provision for legal claims - 17,141
— RITIER — Bank borrowings 170,000 20,000
- R B — B IEERRAR R A E K — Advances from a non-controlling
shareholder 5,682 5,546
- RE R R B H AR — Advances from the ultimate
holding company 64,659 67,801
&5t Total 550,887 359,149

@ RECTERRARAF —E-NEER
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Notes to the Financial Statements
HE-_ZT—NF+=-A=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2019

BERER 42. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
AEENEAEEEFREENBERASERR The Group’s capital management objectives are to ensure the
NFEEKE - AR EERREKEREmIE Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to provide an
HEEE - KM ARRSIRIEEDEER adequate return to shareholders by pricing goods commensurately
with the level of risk.
REBEEREERANES RABEED The Group manages the capital structure and makes adjustments
[BBR R - BIE R EREE o REFTK to it in the light of changes in economic conditions and the risk
REEARERE  ASEAAEORRIKEHN characteristic of the underlying assets. In order to maintain or
FREE - BT MREREEN - EEE adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of
EEREKEEEERE - dividend paid to shareholders, issue new shares, return capital
to shareholders, raise new debt financing or sell assets to reduce
debts.
AEETRBEBEHLEABRER 2 ERER The Group monitors capital on the basis of the debt-to-adjusted
REZENR - I ENFETXFHN TR o capital ratio. This ratio is calculated as set out in the table below.
MRS BB BB R T The debt-to-equity ratio at the reporting date was as follows:
—E-hF ZZE-N\F
2019 2018
ARBT T AREBFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
IRITIEX Bank borrowings 170,000 20,000
R E— A IR VKA Principal amount of the advances from
PNk a non-controlling shareholder 5,520 5,389
KB SARIERA B EAFRA)  Principal amount of advances from the
PN e | ultimate holding company 62,836 67,530
BER Total debts 238,356 92,919
W ERTT RIR S AERR Less: Bank and cash balances (164,505) (49,105)
BIRIRIRITFER Pledged bank deposits (6,902) (2,691)
BEFE Net assets 66,949 41,123
HEmERR Total equity 1,303,836 1,292,400
(EET Fals s Debt-to-equity ratio 5% 3%
FFEA 43. LITIGATIONS
() EBEFYE BENMZEN (a) Legal proceedings of claim in relations to
EEEEAES: PRS2 recovery of a deposit paid for property, plant
and equipment
FAFBEHNI T 21() - FALERS Details of litigations are set out in note 21(a). This has been
TERRRIR o fully resolved during the year.
(b) HE ERBERANMB N ERE (b) Legal proceedings of disputes as guarantor
BF
SFAAGEISENMIEE21(b) - HEEE (K Details of litigations are set out in note 21(b). This lawsuit has
7¥38(a)) 18 & ZeFA TN EY AL B BT no impact to the Group’s financial statements as a result of
R BEATE - the Disposal (note 38(a)).
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43. iH{A (&)

RZZFE—NF - XEEWB LR
M WEERBE R 2GS S RIBE
ENEREIOARTEHOARE
4,980,0007T ° BEf& - AR ERE
R Z B RES RIRMESR - MRS IR T
REFRE - WREEES FIRRIUE
ERE R4EES5 %K A R 800,000 7T
TEREEESD -

RZZE—NF  Ebras < MRS B
4258 AR #55,043,0007C © EFREHE
HEEMNH B REREHRERF
B RRZEEEERERFRER S
PIHAS S AR5 278,000 TT{EAES (B
© o Bt ZEESEEFREERRF
BRAEMKA - MAAERERESR
—E-hE+ - A=t+—BEZtER
BEE - RREEFTNERA -

RZZBE-NEF+-A+=H I1HEE
AIERE A A (EEAMFE21() f£L
REIEARERRELEERE
B EEBEAMIHAEREEEARKE
15,000,0007C GERIBE=E—NF+—
A—BREMEFE) B RIBER
T +tF+A-tTHEENERH®
FIENFBIER  IEHEEERFE
FFARNERFEAIMNNES RS
(M E/BEaL ST EREE R AR TIUR
TNEZZFBIER) -

RBRAFER - EFRPZMET
REVAE IR TR A IR o

RZZE_ZTF—AYIEETE RFE
BB B-AFAEBIN_ZE-_ZTF
A o REBREZERRE - ENTER
HEAWBBUR—ESZ EFTERE
RS MIEIETELARKE  TAE
EAAE/MERNE - Al Ko d
JEESAM BT R FA A NER RS ®
AREMRE  MEE—T—hFE+ A
=+ — HWERE M RERI AR AR
BESE -

) “ER-NEFR

43. LITIGATIONS (Continued)

In 2018, Weifang Parasia, a subsidiary of the Group, received
a court order in relation to the settlement of the outstanding
balances due to a supplier with approximately R\MB4,980,000.
Subsequentially, Weifang Parasia counterclaimed this supplier
for breaching the terms of various supply contracts and
requested 5% of the aggregate contracted amounts of
RMB800,000 as compensation according to the terms of
supply contracts.

In 2019, it was held by the court that Weifang Parasia
should pay a total sum of RMB5,043,000 which include
the outstanding balances and accrued interest up to the
date of settlement, whereas this supplier should pay the
compensation of RMB278,000 to Weifang Parasia under its
counterclaim. Accordingly, the compensation is recognised as
other income on the consolidated income statement and all
outstanding amounts have been settled to this supplier as at
31 December 2019. This case has been resolved during the
year.

On 12 December 2019, the Ex-Equity Holder of Jiangsu
Chunxiao (as defined in note 21(b)) filed a legal claim to
Pudong New District People’s Court against Shanghai Dehong
and Jiangsu Chunxiao for a fee of RMB15,000,000, (together
with accrued interest from 1 November 2019) in relation to
the performance bonus payable to the Ex-Equity Holder on
profit achievement of Jiangsu Chunxiao under a handwritten
clause, without countersigned by either Shanghai Dehong
or Jiangsu Chunxiao to signify acceptance, inserted in a
supplementary agreement dated on 20 October 2017.

After thorough investigation, the Directors declared that the
bonus clause on the supplementary agreement is bogus.

The first hearing has been held in early January 2020 and the
second hearing is expected to be carried out in 2020. The
Group’s legal consultant is of the opinion that in view of the
facts that Jiangsu Chunxiao had made accumulated losses
since it was acquired and the bonus allegation has no legal
basis, illogical and no business rational. Thus, the probability
of Shanghai Dehong will be ordered by the court to pay the
performance bonus to Ex-Equity Holder is remote, and no
provision has been provided in the consolidated financial
statement as at 31 December 2019.
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